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Corporate Profile

BERHR ABOUT ZHONGLIANG

PREREBAR AT (TR R]IHKIAZR  Zhongliang Holdings Group Company Limited (“Zhongliang” or the
Al EREMBARSEIAEE]|)ESE “Company” and together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is listed
BHATSHAERAR(ESZA]) T onthe Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
EHIRMD AR 2772HK) - F 2 F B “Stock Exchange”) (Stock Code: 2772.HK). Zhongliang is principally
hEARAMB(HED R EEMER engaged in real estate development in the People’s Republic of China
B MEBA LA BERE=/A" (‘PRC” or “China”), headquartered in Shanghai and rooted in the
mREEE - Yangtze River Delta with a national footprint.

AEENTWHEEBEREMATE A KZOLL  The Group had land bank across five core economic areas in China,
EEENETHE BR=A 1% ¥ namely, the Yangtze River Delta, the Midwest China, the Bohai
e B RERK =/ BE25@%E Economic Rim, West Coast Economic Zone and the Pearl River
N EETA128EH T - Delta, covering 128 cities of 25 provinces and municipalities.
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Corporate Information

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Yang Jian (Chairman)

Mr. Chen Hongliang (Co-President)
Mr. He Jian (Co-President)

Mr. Yau Sze Ka (Albert)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Wang Kaiguo
Mr. Wu Xiaobo
Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung (Chairman)

Mr. Wang Kaiguo
Mr. Wu Xiaobo

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Wu Xiaobo (Chairman)

Mr. Yang Jian
Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Yang Jian (Chairman)

Mr. Wang Kaiguo
Mr. Wu Xiaobo

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
COMMITTEE

Mr. Chen Hongliang (Chairman)
Mr. He Jian

Mr. Yau Sze Ka (Albert)
Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Yeung Tak Yip
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AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Yau Sze Ka (Albert)
Mr. Yeung Tak Yip

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King’s Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISER

Sidley Austin

REGISTERED OFFICE

190 Elgin Avenue, George Town
Grand Cayman KY1-9008
Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTERS IN THE PRC

20/F, No.3 Shanghai Convention & Exhibition Center
of International Sourcing

235 Yunling East Road

Putuo District, Shanghai, China

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN
HONG KONG

Unit 1905, 19/F, 308 Central Des Voeux
No. 308 Des Voeux Road Central, Sheung Wan
Hong Kong
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Walkers Corporate Limited
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Corporate Information

CAYMAN ISLANDS PRINCIPAL SHARE
REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Walkers Corporate Limited

190 Elgin Avenue, George Town
Grand Cayman KY1-9008
Cayman lIslands

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKS

Onshore

Agricultural Bank of China Limited

China Everbright Bank Co., Ltd.

China Minsheng Bank Corp., Ltd.

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Co., Ltd.
China Bohai Bank Co., Ltd.

China Zheshang Bank Co., Ltd.

Offshore

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

Chiyu Banking Corporation Limited

China Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited

WEBSITE

www.zldcgroup.com

STOCK CODE

2772
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“AGM” is the annual general meeting of the Company

“Articles” is the second amended and restated articles of association
of the Company adopted on 1 June 2023

“ASP” is average selling price
“Board” is the board of Directors
“China” or “PRC” is the People’s Republic of China

“Contracted sales” is the total contractual value of properties that are
contracted for pre-sale and sale in a given period, which is not
equivalent to the revenue in the relevant period and shall not be
deemed as an indication for the revenue to be recognised in any
future period. Contracted sales data is unaudited, provided for
investors’ for reference only and may be subject to various
uncertainties during the process of collating such sales information

“Corporate Governance Code” is the Corporate Governance Code as
set out in Appendix 14 (which has been renumbered to Appendix C1
with effect from 31 December 2023) to the Listing Rules, as amended
from time to time

“Directors” are director(s) of the Company

“ESG” is Environmental, Social and Governance

“GFA” is gross floor area

“Gross profit margin” is calculated based on gross profit for the year
divided by revenue for the year and multiplied by 100%

“Group” is the Company and its subsidiaries

“Hong Kong” or “HKSAR” is the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region of the People’s Republic of China

“Listing Rules” are the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange

“Listing” is the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on 16 July 2019

“Model Code” is Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 (which has been
renumbered to Appendix C3 with effect from 31 December 2023) to
the Listing Rules
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“Net gearing ratio” is calculated based on the total indebtedness less
cash and bank balances divided by the total equity at the end of the
year multiplied by 100%

“Prospectus” is the prospectus of the Company dated 27 June 2019
being issued in connection with the Listing

“Register of Members” is the register of members of the Company

“SFO” is Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws
of Hong Kong)

“Share Incentive Scheme” is the share incentive scheme of the
Company adopted by the Board with effect from 31 December 2021,
as amended and supplemented from time to time

“Share Option Scheme” is the post-IPO share option scheme
adopted on 19 June 2019, as amended and supplemented from time
to time

“Share(s)” is/are ordinary share(s) in the capital of the Company with
the nominal value of HK$0.01 each

“Shareholder(s)” is/are holder(s) of the Shares
“Stock Exchange” is The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

“Total indebtedness” is total interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings and senior notes

“Zhongliang” or “Company” is Zhongliang Holdings Group Company
Limited, an exempted company incorporated in Cayman Islands with
limited liability, the Shares of which are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (Stock code: 2772)

The site area information for an entire project is based on the relevant
land use rights certificates, land grant contracts or tender documents,
depending on which documents are available. If more than one
document is available, such information is based on the most recent
document available.

The figures for GFA are based on figures provided in or estimates
based on the relevant governmental documents, such as the property
ownership certificate, the construction work planning permit, the pre-
sale permit, the construction land planning permit or the land use
rights certificate.
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Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to present to you the business review of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2023 and its outlook for 2024.

DIVIDEND

The Board of the Company resolved that no final dividend would be
declared for the year ended 31 December 2023.

FINAL RESULTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s recognized
revenue amounted to approximately RMB66.62 billion, representing a
year-on-year increase of approximately 69.4%. Taking into account
the impairment losses on various assets, fair value losses from the
valuation of investment properties and foreign exchange loss, the
Group recorded a loss attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately RMB4.25 billion for the year ended 31 December
2023, as compared to a loss attributable to owners of the Company
of approximately RMB1.35 billion for the previous year.

REVIEW OF 2023

Market review

Looking back on 2023, the global economic environment was full of
uncertainties, and US and European central banks continued interest
rates hike to control liquidity, increasing the risk of economic
recession. Geopolitical conflicts were intensified, adding uncertainty
to the global supply chains and economy. China’s economy
continues to recover, with annual GDP growth rate at 5.2%. The
government continues to actively promote policies to boost growth
and confidence.
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In 2023, the overall market of China’s real estate industry was in
sustained down-trend with severe challenges. Although the market
rebounded briefly at the beginning of the year, market still lacked
confidence and the rebound failed to sustain. Stimulus policies were
introduced during the vyear, including relaxing home purchase
restrictions in different cities and implementing financing mechanisms
for developers to reduce their risks and protect projects delivery.
However, homebuyers’ confidence remained low. It is expected that
real estate industry in China will take a long time to recover, and the
operating environment will remain harsh.

Operating under the current rigorous industry environment, the Group
adopted decisive measures and adhered to its strategies. The Group
continued strengthening its operational control and efficiency,
lowered its operating costs, secured property delivery and financial
stability, and maintained its operating solvency, thereby
demonstrating its resilience in its business.

The Group achieved contracted sales (including Group’s subsidiaries,
joint ventures and associates) of approximately RMB34.13 billion in
2023, representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately 48%.
The Group retained its position as one of the Top 50 amongst
Chinese real estate developers in terms of contracted sales in 2023,
according to data published by the China Index Research Institute.
The contracted ASP in 2023 was approximately RMB10,300 per
sg.m., compared to approximately RMB10,500 per sg.m. in the
previous year.

Property delivery

In order to ensure smooth property delivery, the Group strengthened
its construction and contractor management, and maintained tight
control of the property delivery process and mitigated delivery risks.

During the year 2023, the Group (including its joint ventures and
associated companies) completed the delivery of more than 100,000
property units. The Group was as one of the Top 15 amongst
Chinese real estate developers in terms of number of property units
delivered in 2023, according to data published by EH Consulting.

Land-banking

Due to the continued uncertainty of the Chinese real estate sector,
and to ensure smooth property delivery and stable operation, the
Group did not make any new purchases of land sites in 2023.
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As at 31 December 2023, the Group (together with its joint ventures
and associates) had a land bank (including carparks) with a total GFA
(including sold GFA) of approximately 29.7 million sg.m., covering five
core economic regions of China.

Liability management

As the industry has been challenged by adverse liquidity and
financing situations since mid-2021, the Group has implemented
decisive measures and stabilised cash flow by accelerating sales and
cash collection, lowering costs and enhancing operating efficiency,
reduction of land banking and preservation of cash and controlling
interest-bearing debts, and achieved a stable financial status to
enable prompt property delivery, stable operations and onshore
financing.

The group’s total interest-bearing debts were further lowered to
approximately RMB21.17 billion as at 31 December 2023 (out of
which onshore interest-bearing debts amounted to approximately
RMB12.82 billion whereas offshore interest-bearing debts amounted
to approximately RMB8.35 billion). Due to the current market
condition, the liquidity of the Group is constrained. The aggregate
cash and bank balances (including restricted cash and pledged
deposits) of the Group was approximately RMB10.66 billion as at 31
December 2023. Under the current strict requirement of local
government policies, substantially most of the Group’s cash are
under strict pre-sale cash escrow in designated bank accounts at
project-level in order to ensure completion of the properties under
development.

With respect to its onshore debts, substantially most of the Group’s
onshore interest-bearing debts were loans with project pledges. The
Group has been proactively working with onshore banks and lending
institutions to extend the maturity at due dates of such onshore
loans, and believes that the maturity risk of onshore loans would be
manageable.
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With respect to its offshore debts, the Company announced in
November 2022 its holistic solution to its offshore debts situation
(“Holistic Solution”) and since then continuously held proactive and
constructive dialogue with its offshore creditors. On 14 July 2023, the
Company and members of the ad hoc group of consenting creditors
(“AHG”) entered into a restructuring support agreement (“RSA”),
pursuant to which, the Company shall have the AHG’s support for its
Holistic Solution by way of scheme of arrangement (“Scheme”) on the
terms and subject to the conditions set out in the RSA. On 9 February
2024, the Company convened a Scheme meeting as directed by the
High Court of the HKSAR (the “Court”) and obtained the approval of
the requisite majorities of the Scheme creditors. The Scheme was
sanctioned by the court and became effective on 23 February 2024.
On 20 March 2024, the Company announced that all conditions
precedent were fulfilled and the restructuring took effect on the same
date. The Holistic Solution alleviates the Company from the pressure
of its offshore indebtedness. Under the Holistic Solution, new senior
notes (the “New Senior Notes”) and new convertible bonds (the “New
Convertible Bonds”) were issued and a new private loan (the “New
Private Loan”) was signed in exchange of the outstanding offshore
debts plus relevant accrued and unpaid interest as at 31 December
2023. The New Senior Notes, the New Convertible Notes and the
New Private Loan have extended final maturity with amortization of
principal repayments during the terms of the new offshore debt, cash
interest reduction and effective grace period of payment-in-kind.

Despite the current difficulties in the Chinese real estate market, the
government’s policy direction of recovering the market is imminent.
The government emphasizes on adapting to the new normal of major
changes in supply and demand in the real estate market, making
timely adjustments and implementing strengthening policies in the
real estate sector. The Political Bureau meeting of the CPC Central
Committee held in December 2023 continued “seeking progress
while maintaining stability” when setting the general tone for the
economy in 2024. At the same time, it introduced “promoting stability
through advancement, establishing first and then breaking”,
emphasizing the strengthening of countercyclical and across-cycles
adjustment and continue to implement supportive measures for the
economy and real estate sector, including introducing mechanism for
developers to meet their financing needs reasonably, proposing to
speed up the construction of “three major projects”, supporting the
“white list” of project financing, and relaxing home purchase
restrictions in various degrees in different cities. The real estate
market is in a period of transformation with government supportive
policies are gradually implemented. 11
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Looking forward to 2024, the market demand and confidence will
remain low and it will take time to resolve the industry risks
accumulated from previous years. It is expected that more stimulus
measures and policies will be introduced. Proactive fiscal policies will
keep promoting economic recovery and market confidence which is
expected to gradually bottom out. The Group will continue to
emphasize financial security, maintain operating liquidity, stabilize
debt, control risks, ensure smooth delivery, save costs, strengthen
organizational structure and efficiency to ensure that the Group can
navigate the industry challenges.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express our sincere
appreciation to all employees for their dedication and hard work, and
to our Shareholders, business and financial partners for their
continuous support in the past challenging year.

YANG Jian
Chairman
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E R PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

EHHERE Contracted sales

H E2023F 128318 |FF E - &~ % E During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group (including its

(GERHEAEMPERBLAT)EIEAH joint ventures and associates) achieved contracted sales of

HEBOARMEIMNIE T FE T4 approximately RMB34.13 billion, representing a year-on-year

48.3% ° & # 14 & T & 493,302,000 F 5 decrease of approximately 48.3%. Contracted sales area amounted

K IRETHRLA7.4% o to approximately 3,302,000 sq.m., representing a year-on-year
decrease of approximately 47.4%.

FR - BHHEHEBAETFEH KL AR  During the year, contracted ASP was approximately RMB10,300 per

#10,300 7T ° sg.m..
®1: R2023FMWENHERM (KE Table 1: Breakdown of contracted sales in 2023 (the Group’s
WHEBAR SELERBE subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates)
YNEST D)
7 it B & 5 By region
HEEH
HEE GHHE -BHHE
EHHES Aokt ZBEEHE FHEE
% of total
Contracted contracted Contracted Contracted
sales sales GFA ASP
(ANR¥E/
(AR FT) (FFFK) T K)
(RMB’000) (%) (sg.m.) (RMB/sg.m.)
E=A Yangtze River Delta 13,057,261 38.3 987,762 13,219
A7 B Midwest China 10,141,753 29.7 1,260,554 8,045
R Pan-Bohai Rim 5,429,244 15.9 505,084 10,749
FIR T = Western Taiwan Straits 3,310,340 9.7 394,005 8,402
K=7 Pearl River Delta 2,190,615 6.4 154,234 14,203
st Total 34,129,213 100.0 3,301,639 10,337
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7 hERE D By city tier
HEEH
HEHE BHHE BHHE
ERHERE Botk EBEEE FHEE
% of total
Contracted contracted Contracted Contracted
sales sales GFA ASP
(ANR¥
(AR®FT) (F75K) 75 K)
(RMB’000) (%) (sg.m.) (RMB/sg.m.)
57 A s AU Second-tier cities!" 13,651,701 40.0 1,083,740 13,206
=@ me Third-tier cities® 15,155,271 44.4 1,471,745 10,297
Q4R e Fourth-tier cities® 5,322,241 15.6 796,154 6,685
Bt Total 34,129,213 100.0 3,301,639 10,337
T - Notes:
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Second-tiers cities include Changsha, Chengdu, Chongqing, Dalian, Dongguan,
Fuzhou, Guiyang, Hangzhou, Hefei, Jinan, Kunming, Nanchang, Nanjing,
Nanning, Ningbo, Qingdao, Shenyang, Suzhou, Taiyuan, Tianjin, Wenzhou,
Wuhan, Wuxi, Xiamen, Xi’an and Zhengzhou.

Third-tiers cities include Anqging, Binzhou, Bozhou, Cangzhou, Changde,
Changzhou, Chenzhou, Chifeng, Chuxiong, Dazhou, Dezhou, Foshan, Fuzhou,
Ganzhou, Handan, Hohhot, Huaian, Huangshan, Huzhou, Jiangmen, Jiaxing,
Jinhua, Jining, Lianyungang, Liaocheng, Linyi, Lishui, Loudi, Luan, Luoyang,
Maoming, Meishan, Mianyang, Nanchong, Nanping, Nantong, Nanyang, Ningde,
Putian, Qinzhou, Quanzhou, Quzhou, Sanming, Shangqgiu, Shantou, Shaoguan,
Shaoxing, Suining, Sugian, Taian, Taizhou, Taizhou, Tangshan, Tongling,
Weifang, Weihai, Wuhu, Xiangyang, Xining, Xinyang, Xuancheng, Xuchang,
Xuzhou, Yancheng, Yangzhou, Yantai, Yichang, Yinchuan, Yiyang, Yueyang,
Yulin, Yuncheng, Yuxi, Zaozhuang, Zhangzhou, Zhaoging, Zhongshan,
Zhoushan, Zhuzhou, Zibo and Zunyi.

Fourth-tiers cities include Ankang, Baoshan, Beihai, Bengbu, Bijie, Chaozhou,
Chizhou, Dali, Enshi, Ezhou, Fu’an, Fuyang, Guigang, Heyuan, Huaibei,
Huangshi, Ji'an, Jiaozuo, Jingdezhen, Jingzhou, Jiujiang, Jiyuan, Linfen, Luohe,
Maanshan, Mengzi, Pingdingshan, Pingliang, Pingxiang, Pu’er, Puyang,
Qingyuan, Shangrao, Shaoyang, Suizhou, Tianshui, Tongchuan, Xiaogan,
Xinxiang, Yan'an, Yongzhou, Zhaotong and Zigong.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale represents completed GFA
remaining unrecognised at the end of each reporting period and are
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost of the
completed properties held for sale refers to the related costs incurred
attributable to the unsold properties. All completed properties held for
sale are located in the PRC.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s completed properties held for
sale was approximately RMB26,440.1 million, versus approximately
RMB24,696.3 million as at 31 December 2022.

Projects under development

Properties under development are intended to be held for sale after
completion. Properties under development are stated at the lower of
cost, which comprises land costs, construction costs, capitalised
interests and other costs directly attributable to such properties
incurred during the development period, and net realisable value.
Upon completion, the properties are transferred to completed
properties held for sale.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s properties under development
was approximately RMB69,283.3 million, versus approximately
RMB112,418.8 million as at 31 December 2022.

Land bank

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there was no new land
parcel acquired by the Group.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s (including its subsidiaries, joint
ventures and associates) total land bank (including carparks) was
approximately 29.7 million sg.m., among which approximately 5.9
million sg.m. were completed properties available for sale/leasable
and approximately 23.8 million sq.m. were under development or for
future development.

15
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R . AEE(BEHMEBERAR - &4 % Table 2: Breakdown of the Group’s total land bank (including its

BEBE N T) R2023F12A31BH subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates) as at 31
T EEEENEA December 2023
BEGREETE S By provinces and municipalities

AHRHEE/ REPREE
AHEAMNERT ARBEH TiRE LR
HEHE BEEER" BEEER HED MHERSH
Total GFA under
Completed GFA  development and

Number of available for held for future Total land % of total
projects  sale/leasable development bank® land bank

(F77K) CEONNNCES
(sa.m.) (sq.m.) (sa.m.) (%)
ZH# Anhui 34 1,196,391 2,471,723 3,668,114 12.3
& Jiangsu 45 652,610 3,014,039 3,666,649 12.3
il Zhejiang 29 413,355 1,646,472 2,059,827 7.0
E=A Yangtze River Delta 108 2,262,356 7,132,234 9,394,590 31.6
i Henan 21 468,506 1,740,318 2,208,824 7.4
il Hunan 19 368,607 1,662,568 2,081,175 6.8
£/ Yunnan 12 635,091 1,018,676 1,653,767 5.6
BF Chongaing 15 519,560 1,081,033 1,600,593 5.4
ikl Hubei 12 256,075 1,237,479 1,493,554 5.0
Hib Others 43 540,948 2,969,060 3,510,008 11.8
i 7 & Midwest China 122 2,788,787 9,709,134 12,497,921 42.0
TS Shandong 34 113,859 2,665,115 2778974 9.4
3k Hebei 7 102,285 898,718 1,001,003 3.4
Hit Others 9 5,294 944,165 949,459 3.2
B Pan-Bohai Rim 50 221,438 4,507,998 4,729,436 16.0
BE Fujian 23 329,958 715,084 1,045,042 35
B Others 5 - 697,650 697,650 2.4
IR F Western Taiwan Straits 28 329,958 1,412,734 1,742,692 5.9
BR Guangdong 13 306,398 1,034,953 1,341,351 45
K=4& Pearl River Delta 13 306,398 1,034,953 1,341,351 45
@t Total 321 5,908,937 23,797,063 29,705,990 100.0
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1735 i 4R Bl &l 5 By City tiers

qHEE/ R REE
THENERT RRE BB TifEE  HLmER
HEHE RERR" BEEHR BEY MHEFAH
Total GFA under
Completed GFA  development and

Number of available for held for future Total land % of total
projects  sale/leasable development bank® land bank
(FHK) CHTONMNCI D

(sa.m.) (sa.m.) (sa.m.) (%)

ZEWm Second-tier cities 113 2,028,596 8,067,302 10,095,898 34.0

—BEm Third-tier cities 1585 2,700,260 11,556,632 14,256,892 48.0

& m Forth-tier cities 53 1,180,081 4,173,119 5,353,200 18.0

@t Total 321 5,908,937 23,797,063 29,705,990 100.0
# i 2 & 5 By Region

qHEE/ R REE
THENERT RRE B TiRE HLnREe
HEHE RERR" HEEHE BEY MHEFAH
Total GFA under
Completed GFA  development and

Number of available for held for future Total land % of total

projects  sale/leasable development bank® land bank

(FFFXK) (FFK) (FFFXK) (%)

(sa.m.) (sa.m.) (sa.m.)

R=A Yangtze River Delta 108 2,262,356 7,132,234 9,394,590 316

g Midwest China 122 2,788,787 9,709,134 12,497,921 420

RAE Pan-Bohai Rim 50 221,438 4,507,998 4,729,436 16.0

st Fiih== Western Taiwan Straits 28 329,958 1,412,734 1,742,692 5.9

%=fA Pearl River Delta 13 306,398 1,034,953 1,341,351 45

@zt Total 321 5,908,937 23,797,063 29,705,990 100.0
B 5 - Notes:

) POEFSGAEHITHEEEEmMBE . THMEE (1) Includes saleable GFA remaining unsold, leasable GFA and completed GFA that

SEEMEBEENARNNERIESR have been pre-sold but yet delivered.
TS e

@ THFEEBREMBESRHE T T A HHE 2) Total land bank (including carparks) equals to the sum of (i) total completed GFA
E B E AT H T A8 3 SR T TS B () B B b available for sale/leasable GFA and (i) total GFA under development and held for
DHEEAKRAENEREMBOLN  HEIL future development, without adjusting the equity interest held by the Group in
TRAEEGFEALLENBE LN IAFEN respect of the projects held by the Group’s joint ventures or associates.

HE AR ENBRREELRE -
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group derived its
revenue from three business lines, namely (i) sales of properties; (ii)
other services; and (i) rental income from property lease. The
revenue of the Group was primarily derived from the sales of
properties in the PRC. The following table sets forth the details of the
Group’s revenue recognised by business line for the years indicated:

BZE12A31BLFE
For the year ended
31 December

2023 F 20224 g ]
Change in
2023 2022 percentage
AR¥TRE ARETRT
RMB’000 RMB’000 %
- -
' ON Revenue
MEHE Sales of properties 66,466,526 39,169,158 +69.7%
H b AR 7 Other services 134,402 148,043 -9.2%
el A Rental income 14,152 12,213 +15.9%
ot Total 66,615,080 39,329,414 +69.4%
- -
CREIEIMEHEEW A Revenue recognised from sales of properties

AEBFBRE Z2023F12A31B IEFEH
VIEHEEEEMNRA - BRFIEINL69.7%
EHAREGB4665B BT DHERBEE
R EELFIEINY44.3%F H £20234F
12 318 It F E #96,489,508 F 75 K o &
F20283F 12 A31B I FEE RN FEY
EEAEFHFRKHARKE102427L - £F
BEYEHKLHARS708TT °
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The Group recorded revenue from the sales of properties amounted
to approximately RMB66,466.5 million for the year ended 31
December 2023, a year-on-year increase of approximately 69.7%,
and recognised a year-on-year increase in the total recognised GFA
by approximately 44.3% to 6,489,508 sg.m. for the year ended 31
December 2023. Recognised ASP was approximately RMB10,242
per sg.m. in the year ended 31 December 2023 versus approximately
RMB8,708 per sg.m. in the previous year.



R CRAVEEERAHA

ZHONGLIANG HOLDINGS GROUP COMPANY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023

THBIRR S

Management Discussion and Analysis

Table 3: Breakdown of recognised revenue from sales of

properties

BZ2023F12A31HLFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023
L5 Y ON B ER E’R
W A BoOL EEmBR FIEE

% to total Recognised Recognised

Revenue revenue GFA ASP
AR®
AR T K 5K
RMB’000 % sg.m. RMB/sq.m.
k=5 Yangtze River Delta 42,240,243 63.6 3,296,026 12,816
A7 L Midwest China 13,763,533 20.7 1,931,330 7,126
RS Pan-Bohai Rim 6,448,190 9.7 823,038 7,835
R = Western Taiwan Straits 3,154,394 4.7 347,366 9,081
®w=FA Pearl River Delta 860,166 1.3 91,748 9,375
st Total 66,466,526 100.0 6,489,508 10,242
HZE2022F12A31HILFE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
fHaEY A 2R 2R
WA BOL BEEE FHEE
% to total Recognised  Recognised
Revenue revenue GFA ASP
AR
AR®ET T 770K K
RMB’000 % sg.m.  RMB/sg.m.
E=A Yangtze River Delta 17,721,505 45.2 1,795,557 9,870
A7 Ef Midwest China 13,801,999 35.2 1,782,110 7,745
RS Pan-Bohai Rim 4,230,205 10.8 472,590 8,951
IR T Western Taiwan Straits 2,374,521 6.1 281,892 8,424
®=A Pearl River Delta 1,040,928 2.7 166,007 6,270
#st Total 39,169,158 100.0 4,498,156 8,708
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Cost of sales

The Group’s cost of sales increased by approximately 77.0% from
approximately RMB35,827.7 million for the year ended 31 December
2022 to approximately RMB63,430.5 milion for the year ended
31 December 2023. Net impairment losses recognised for properties
under development and completed properties held for sale of
approximately RMB2,361.7 million were included in cost of sales for
the year ended 31 December 2023, as compared to approximately
RMB1,243.6 million for the previous year.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

Gross profit represents revenue less cost of sales. As a result of the
foregoing, the Group’s gross profit decreased by approximately 9.1%
from approximately RMB3,501.7 milion for the year ended 31
December 2022 to approximately RMB3,184.6 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

The Group’s gross profit margin decreased from 8.9% for the year
ended 31 December 2022 to 4.8% for the year ended 31 December
2023, mainly because of lower ASP relative to the respective land
acquisition costs in respect of property projects delivered and
impairment on property projects during the year.

Other income and gains

The Group’s other income and gains primarily include (i) gain on
disposal of subsidiaries; (i) government grants; (iii) forfeiture of
deposits; (iv) changes in provision for financial guarantee contracts;
and (v) others, which mainly include sundry income. The Group’s
other income and gains decreased by approximately 73.7% from
approximately RMB362.9 million for the year ended 31 December
2022 to approximately RMB95.5 million for the year ended 31
December 2023, primarily due to the absence of gain on disposal of
subsidiaries in year 2023.

Selling and distribution expenses

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses decreased year-on-
year by approximately 45.4% to approximately RMB896.6 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023, primarily due to the slow-down
in marketing activities and less promotional expenses budget due to
the impact of a weakened real estate market.
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Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses decreased year-on-year by
approximately 21.6% to approximately RMB1,252.8 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023. The decrease was generally due to
the savings in staff costs and other administrative expenses during
the year. The Group continued its tight cost control measures.

Other expenses and other net losses

The Group incurred other expenses of approximately RMB890.8
million for the year ended 31 December 2023, as compared to
approximately RMB927.3 million for the year ended 31 December
2022. The decrease in other expenses was mainly due to the
decrease in recognition of the foreign exchange losses.

The Group recorded an aggregate of other net losses of
approximately RMB522.6 million including fair value losses on
investment properties and net fair value/impairment losses on
financial assets for the year ended 31 December 2023, as compared
to an aggregate of other net losses of approximately RMB648.4
million for the previous year.

Finance income

The Group’s finance income, which mainly represents bank interest
income, decreased year-on-year by approximately 72.0% to
approximately RMB69.1 million for the year ended 31 December
2023.

Finance costs

The Group’s finance costs decreased year-on-year by approximately
21.8% to approximately RMB310.5 million for the year ended 31
December 2023.

The Group’s total finance costs expensed and capitalised for the year
ended 31 December 2023 was approximately RMB2,035.3 million,
representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately 32.6%, which
was due to the decrease in bank and other borrowings.

Share of profits of joint ventures and associates

The Group recorded share of profits of joint ventures of approximately
RMB599.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2023, versus
share of profits of joint ventures of approximately RMB518.9 million
for the year ended 31 December 2022.

The Group recorded share of profits of associates of approximately
RMB322.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2023, versus
share of profits of associates of approximately RMB348.1 million for
the year ended 31 December 2022.
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On an aggregated basis, the Group’s share of profits of joint ventures
and associates amounted to approximately RMB922.1 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023, representing a year-on-year increase
of approximately 6.4%. The increase was primarily due to the
increase in delivery of property projects held by the Group’s joint
ventures and associates during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Profit/(loss) before tax

As a result of the aforementioned changes in the Group’s financials,
the Group recorded a profit before tax of approximately RMB398.1
million for the year ended 31 December 2023, as compared to a loss
before tax of approximately RMB234.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2022.

Income tax expense

The Group’s income tax expense comprises provisions made for
corporate income tax and land appreciation tax in the PRC less
deferred tax during the year. The Group’s income tax expense
increased by approximately 139.2% from approximately RMB1,386.5
million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately
RMB3,316.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Loss for the year and net loss attributable to the owners of the
Company

As a result of the aforementioned changes in the Group’s financials,
the Group’s net loss for the year (before deducting non-controlling
interests) increased by approximately 80.0% from RMB1,621.2
million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to RMB2,918.8 million
for the year ended 31 December 2023. The Group’s loss for the year
attributable to owners of the Company increased by approximately
215.3% from RMB1,346.4 million for the year ended 31 December
2022 to RMB4,245.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2023.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL
RESOURCES

The industry in which the Group engages is a capital-intensive
industry. The Group primarily meets its operating capital, capital
expenditure and other capital needs with cash generated from
operations including proceeds from sale and pre-sale of properties,
proceeds from bank and other borrowings, capital contribution from
non-controlling shareholders and other financings.
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Net current assets

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s net current assets amounted
to approximately RMB6,360.7 million (31 December 2022:
approximately RMB14,746.3 million). Specifically, the Group’s total
current assets decreased by approximately 25.6% from
RMB211,736.4 million as at 31 December 2022 to RMB157,491.8
million as at 31 December 2023. The Group’s total current liabilities
decreased by approximately 23.3% from approximately
RMB196,990.1 million as at 31 December 2022 to approximately
RMB151,131.1 million as at 31 December 2023. The decrease in the
Group’s total current assets was primarily attributable to (i) the
decrease in properties under development; and (ii) the decrease in
cash and bank balances as at 31 December 2023.

Cash position

The Group’s cash and bank balances (including restricted cash and
pledged deposits) amounted to approximately RMB10,662.5 million
in aggregate as at 31 December 2023 (2022: approximately
RMB16,586.0 million), representing a decrease of approximately
35.7% as compared with the end of 2022. Under the current strict
requirement of local government policies, substantially most of the
Group’s cash were under strict pre-sale cash escrow in designated
bank accounts at project-level in order to ensure completion of the
properties under development.

Financial Ratio

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s assets-to-liabilities ratio after
excluding receipts in advance (calculated by dividing total liabilities
minus contract liabilities by total assets minus contract liabilities) was
approximately 77.2%, the net gearing ratio was approximately 39.8%
and the non-restricted cash-to-current borrowings (calculated by
dividing non-restricted cash and cash equivalents by current
borrowings) was approximately 0.4.

Indebtedness

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had total outstanding
indebtedness of approximately RMB21,165.8 million (31 December
2022: approximately RMB26,735.2 million), comprising bank and
other borrowings of approximately RMB14,601.6 million (31
December 2022: approximately RMB20,233.4 million) and senior
notes of approximately RMB6,564.2 million (31 December 2022:
approximately RMB6,501.8 million).
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R4 ANEENAEKEBH Table 4: Breakdown of the Group’s total indebtedness
M12A31H
As at 31 December
2023 F 2022 F
2023 2022
AR®ET T AR T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
I ——
B &f Current
IRITE K Bank loans
—BHE&A — secured 678,397 78,000
HaEx Other loans
—HIEH — secured 849,991 772,553
— 4K — unsecured 3,281,994 2,582,695
RERITE RIS Current portion of long-term bank loans
—FHEA — secured 4,026,917 3,814,148
EHEMERNEIEIL D Current portion of long-term other loans
— 5 K — secured 2,187,034 1,876,407
— 4 — unsecured 461,916 2,217,340
BEERE Senior notes 6,564,246 6,501,799
B ER AT Total current indebtedness 18,050,495 17,842,942
JE BPER Non-current
IRITE K Bank loans
—HIKH — secured 1,652,199 6,070,740
HaEx Other loans
— A K — secured 954,100 2,149,200
— 4 — unsecured 509,054 672,270
FENREKEE Total non-current indebtedness 3,115,353 8,892,210
BB E Total indebtedness 21,165,848 26,735,152
K Secured 10,348,638 14,761,048
fR 3K 1 Unsecured 10,817,210 11,974,104
B Total indebtedness 21,165,848 26,735,152

e
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#EEBFEFEE S By fixed or variable interest rates
M12A31H
As at 31 December
2023 F 2022 F
2023 2022
AR® Tt AR T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
I ——
TE A & Fixed interest rate 19,271,737 23,055,236
2B R & Floating interest rate 1,894,111 3,679,916
BERERE Total Indebtedness 21,165,848 26,735,152
BEEEEE 5 By currency denomination
M12A31H
As at 31 December
2023 F 2022 F
2023 2022
AR®ET T ARBEFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
A ——
AR E Denominated in RMB 12,820,303 18,481,756
ASETTEHE Denominated in US$ 8,345,545 8,253,396
BB Total Indebtedness 21,165,848 26,735,152

e
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BEHEXKESE D By maturity profiles
M12A831H
As at 31 December
20234 2022 4
2023 2022
AR%ET T AR T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
.
EEERITER: Bank loans repayable:
—BR—FRNHILEREE — Within one year or on demand 4,705,314 3,892,148
—EANE —FEe — In the second year 802,309 5,158,740
—BRE=ZZEFERER — In the third to fifth year, inclusive
(BIEERME)EER 849,890 912,000
6,357,513 9,962,888
EEEHMMER: Other borrowings repayable:
— AN —FRRIZERKEER — Within one year or on demand 6,780,935 7,448,995
—BARE_FER — In the second year 1,154,604 1,912,016
—BRE=ZZEFERER — In the third to fifth year, inclusive
(BIEEREME)EER 308,550 909,454
8,244,089 10,270,465
EEEEERE: Senior notes repayable:
—BAR—FANEE — Within one year 6,564,246 6,501,799
6,564,246 6,501,799
BB Total Indebtedness 21,165,848 26,735,152

BERBRDRBE T ARBHEIMER
BH REBBERIE BITHELE
BERFABBREFMNBITNLEERIAN
BMERE £2023F 12 831 H - REFRIME
B EHEBREAMRENE - HELER
B-#ABRREFMFLEERAFD
EEM&ZBIMA - A HEZFHHOHREIN
BHEMRADHMEESAS BKIBESH
EREYIANENBERETRHR -
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The Holistic Solution alleviates the Company from the pressure of its
offshore indebtedness. Under the Holistic Solution, New Senior Notes
and New Convertible Bonds were issued and a New Private Loan
was signed in exchange of the outstanding offshore debts plus
relevant accrued and unpaid interest as at 31 December 2023. The
New Senior Notes, the New Convertible Notes and the New Private
Loan have extended final maturity with amortization of principal
repayments during the terms of the new offshore debt, cash interest
reduction and effective grace period of payment-in-kind.
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Pledge of assets

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s borrowings were secured by
the Group’s assets of approximately RMB52,342.2 million
(81 December 2022: approximately RMB56,787.9 million) which
includes properties under development.

Financial risks

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including
interest rate risk, credit risk, foreign currency risk and liquidity risk.
Generally, the Group introduces conservative strategies on its risk
management and did not use any derivatives or other instruments for
hedging purposes during the year.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to risk for changes in market interest rates
relates primarily to the Group’s interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings. The Group has not used derivative financial instruments
to hedge any interest rate risk. The Group manages its interest cost
using variable rate bank borrowings and other borrowings.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures arising from
transactions by the group entities in currencies other than their
respective functional currencies. In addition, the Group has foreign
currency exposures from its cash and cash equivalents and senior
notes.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had (i) cash and bank balances
denominated in United States dollar and Hong Kong dollar of
approximately RMBO0.4 million and RMB10.6 million, respectively, (ii)
bank and other borrowings denominated in United States dollar of
approximately RMB1,781.3 million, and (iii) senior notes denominated
in United States dollar of approximately RMB6,564.2 million, all of
which are subject to fluctuations in exchange rates. The Group has
not entered into any foreign currency hedging arrangement. However,
the Group will closely monitor its exposure to exchange rates in order
to best preserve the Group’s cash value.

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties.
It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit
terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition,
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and the
Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant. For transactions
that are not denominated in the functional currency of the relevant
operating unit, the Group does not offer credit terms without the
specific approval of the head of credit control of the Group.
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Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of
funding and flexibility through the use of interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings, senior notes and asset-backed securities. Cash
flows are closely monitored on an ongoing basis.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Mortgage guarantees

The Group provided guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities granted
by certain banks to the purchasers of the Group’s properties. Pursuant
to the terms of the guarantee arrangements, in case of default on
mortgage payments by the purchasers, the Group is responsible to
repay the outstanding mortgage principals together with any accrued
interest and penalties owed by the defaulted purchasers to those banks.
Under such arrangement, the related properties were pledged to the
banks as collateral for the mortgage loans, upon default on mortgage
repayments by these purchasers, the banks are entitled to take over the
legal titles and will realise the pledged properties through open auction.

The Group’s guarantee period starts from the dates of grant of the
relevant mortgage loans and ends upon the issuance and registration
of property ownership certificates to the purchasers, which will
generally be available within half a year to two years after the
purchasers take possession of the relevant properties.

The total outstanding mortgage guarantee amount provided by the
Group to banks amounted to approximately RMB17,392.0 million as
at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: approximately
RMB32,608.4 million).

The Group did not incur any material losses during the year in respect of
the guarantees provided for mortgage facilities granted to purchasers of
the Group’s properties. The Directors considered that in case of default
on payments, the net realisable value of the related properties would be
sufficient to repay the outstanding mortgage loans together with any
accrued interest and penalty, and therefore no provision has been
made in connection with the guarantees.

Financial guarantees

As at 31 December 2023, the Group guaranteed certain of the bank
and other borrowings made to its joint ventures and associates up to
RMB6,352.2 million (31 December 2022: approximately RMB7,152.1
million).
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Legal contingents

The Group may be involved in lawsuits and other proceedings in its
ordinary course of business from time to time. Save as disclosed in
this report, the Group believes that no liabilities resulting from these
proceedings will have a material and adverse effect on its business,
financial condition or operating results.

COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s property development
expenditures, acquisition of land use rights and capital contributions
payable to joint ventures and associates that had contracted but yet
provided for were approximately RMB19,362.7 million (31 December
2022: approximately RMB27,156.2 million).

OFF-BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENTS AND
ARRANGEMENTS

Except for the contingent liabilities disclosed above, as at 31
December 2023, the Group did not have any outstanding loan capital
issued or agreed to be issued, bank overdrafts, loans, debt securities,
borrowings or other similar indebtedness, liabilities under
acceptances (other than normal trade bills), acceptance credits,
debentures, mortgages, charges, finance leases or hire purchase
commitments, guarantees or other material contingent liabilities.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES, AND FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this report, there were no other significant
investments held, no material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures during the year, nor was there any plan
authorised by the Group for other material investments or additions of
capital assets during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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EE R HMBUXR EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

20235128318 AL EEEAH Asat 31 December 2023, the Group employed a total of 3,145 full-
3,145% & B B B (2022FE 12 A31H :  time employees (31 December 2022: 4,419). For the year ended 31
4,4194) - #E2023F 12 A31HILFE ©  December 2023, the staff cost recognised as expenses of the Group
NEBOHMAABRANE TAAXL A amounted to approximately RMB894.8 million (31 December 2022:
R #894.8H & L (2022412 A31H : 4 approximately RMB1,399.8 million). The Group offers its employees
ARMBA130908F E L) AEEMEE market-level remuneration packages that include basic salaries,
RETBKIENEFMEE B EKRE  dscretionary bonuses, performance-based payments, share options
& MBEALA -BEHXTE - - BREKRKR!  and share awards.

R -
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o= DIRECTORS

HITES Executive Directors

BRlkE 525 AAREEAI A A Mr. YANG Jian, aged 52, is the founder of the Group and was
2018 E3AEEZFAMITESHEER - appointed as an executive Director and the chairman of the Board in
BMAARARIIREZEESE I FEREFMZE March 2018. He is also the chairman of the nomination committee
BEeX8 - BAERNTEEMETEHE and a member of the remuneration committee of the Company. Mr.
EBFENEE - HBEETEES AL  Yang has more than 30 years of experience in the PRC real estate
ENEEEENERLE  2EHFAZE  industry. Mr. Yang is principally responsible for the overall
EeEK HlFTEHMBERLESEWIELE  management and business operations of the Group, including
FEEBREK - coordinating board affairs, formulating strategies and operational
plans, and making major business decisions.

ERERIFERTKBEBEATSER  Mr Yang received the Executive Education Program Certificate from

LHEBERNRIRE  BEEN2016%58  Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business, the PRC, in May 2016

EEREEEHEHERE - after completing a course in investment and financing in capital
market.
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Mr. CHEN Hongliang, aged 42, was appointed as an executive
Director in December 2019. He is currently a co-president of the
property business and a director of various subsidiaries of the Group.
Mr. Chen is also the chairman of the ESG committee of the
Company. He is primarily responsible for the governance and
management of the Group, including strategies, human resources,
mechanism accounting, legal, risk and financial management, real
estate information management and brand building of the Group.

Mr. Chen has more than 18 years of experience in human resources.
Since September 2009, Mr. Chen has worked for the subsidiaries of
the Group holding different positions. He was the assistant president
of the Group and was in charge of human resources center, legal
affairs center and mechanism accounting center from August 2016 to
August 2018, then he was promoted to vice president of the
Company in August 2018 and subsequently promoted to the current
position as a co-president of the property business in September
2019. Mr. Chen was the deputy general manager of human resources
of the Group from March 2016 to August 2016, the director of human
resources of the Group from March 2015 to March 2016 and as the
deputy director of the Group from March 2013 to March 2015. He
was the manager of corporate management department and head of
office at Shanghai Zhongliang Real Estate Group Company Limited
from September 2009 to March 2013.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chen was the manager of human
resources administration at Suzhou Shengshi Real Estate Investment
Group Ltd.*; which primarily engages in property development and
sales, from January 2007 to October 2008. Mr. Chen graduated from
Anhui University of Science and Technology in Anhui Province, the
PRC, in July 2004, majoring in human resources management. In
February 2010, he obtained the Human Resources Management
Certificate (Intermediate level)* granted by Jiangsu Province Human
Resources and Social Security Bureau®.
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Mr. HE Jian, aged 49, was appointed as an executive Director in July
2021. He is currently a co-president of the property business and a
director of various subsidiaries of the Group. He is also a member of
the ESG committee of the Company. Mr. He is primarily responsible
for the investment, product development, sales and customer
services, and overseeing of the business operations of the Group.

Mr. He joined the Group in December 2015 and has over 22 years of
experience in real estate development and sales operations, and held
senior management positions as deputy general manager of sales
and marketing and president of various regional companies and
groups. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. He held senior management
roles in Binjiang, Greentown and Sino-Ocean real estate groups.
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Mr. YAU Sze Ka, also known as Albert Yau, aged 52, joined the
Group in April 2019 and was appointed as an executive Director in
December 2019. He is also a member of the ESG committee of the
Company. He is currently the vice president of the Group and a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Yau is primarily
responsible for the overall financial management, fundraisings and
capital market matters of the Group.

Mr. Yau has 30 years of experience in real estates, capital markets
and corporate management. From July 2011 to March 2019, Mr. Yau
was the chief financial officer of CIFI Holdings (Group) Co. Ltd., a
company principally engaged in property development and property
investment in the PRC and the shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 884). From December
2005 to June 2011, Mr. Yau was the director of corporate affairs of
Lai Sun Garment (International) Limited, a company principally
engaged in property investment and development in Hong Kong,
PRC and overseas as well as investment in and operation of hotels
and restaurants and the shares of which are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 191), where he was responsible
for corporate finance, business development and investor relations.
From January 2003 to December 2005, Mr. Yau was a director of
DBS Asia Capital Limited, a company principally engaged in
corporate finance and investment banking. From September 1999 to
January 2003, Mr. Yau worked for ICEA Capital Limited, a company
principally engaged in corporate finance and investment banking, and
his last position held was an executive director of the investment
banking division. Mr. Yau obtained a bachelor's degree of science
from University of California at Berkeley, the United States in May
1994. He is also a holder of Chartered Financial Analyst.
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Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. WANG Kaiguo, aged 65, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director in June 2019 and is currently a member of the
audit committee and the nomination committee of the Company.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Wang has served at Shanghai
Zhongping Capital Co. Ltd., an asset management company, as the
chairman of the board of directors since August 2016. Mr. Wang has
more than 28 years of experience working in financial institutions.
From February 1995 to July 2016, he served at a Chinese securities
corporation Haitong Securities Co., Ltd. and held various positions,
including the deputy general manager, general manager, Secretary of
the Leading Party Members’ Group, Secretary of Party Committee
and chairman of the board where he began to host the work of
Haitong Securities Co., Ltd. in a comprehensive way and led it to
become a leading securities in China. Mr. Wang received his doctor’s
degree in economics from Xiamen University in Fujian Province, the
PRC in May 1990. Mr. Wang was certified as a senior economist by
Bank of Communications in December 1997. Since February 2022,
Mr. Wang has been an independent non-executive director of
Greenland Holdings Corporation Limited, a company which invests in
real estate, energy, finance and hotels, etc. and is listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600606). From May 2017 to
June 2023, Mr. Wang was an independent non-executive director of
Shanghai Dazhong Public Utilities (Group) Co., Ltd., a supplier of
piped gas and other public utilities the A shares of which are listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600635) and the H
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1635). He also served as an independent non-executive
director of a corporate commercial bank, Shanghai Rural Commercial
Bank Co., Ltd. from March 2017 to June 2023 and the company is
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange since August 2021 (stock
code: 601825). From December 2009 to December 2014, Mr. Wang
was an independent non-executive director at Shanghai Chlor-Alkali
Chemical Co., Ltd., a company which manufactures and markets
chlorine and alkaline chemicals and is listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 600618). From November 2018 to September
2022, Mr. Wang was an independent non-executive director of J-Yuen
Trust Co., Ltd, (@ company which engages in deposit and lending
business, investment business and trust business and is listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600816)). From November
2018, Mr. Wang was an independent non-executive director of
Caitong Fund Management Co., Ltd., a company which engages in
fund management business, fund establishment and other business
as approved by the China Securities Regulatory Commission.
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Mr. WU Xiaobo, aged 64, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director in June 2019 and is currently the chairman of the
remuneration committee and a member of the audit committee and
nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Wu has extensive work
experience acting as a strategy adviser in the manufacturing industry
in terms of providing strategy, innovation, transnational development
and management consulting services. Mr. Wu has served as an
independent director of Hikvision Digital Technology Co., Ltd. (a
video-centric loT solution provider listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange, stock code: 002415) since March 2021. He also served
as an independent director of Ucloud Technology Co.,Ltd. (a neutral
third-party cloud computing service provider listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange, stock code: 688158), since June 2020 and served
as an independent director of IKD Co., Ltd. (an auto parts
manufacturer listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code:
600933) since August 2018. From March 2010 to November 2015,
Mr. Wu was a strategy adviser of Zhejiang Machinery and Electrical
Group, which manufactures and distributes machinery products, and
he was responsible for corporate strategy consultation. Mr. Wu
graduated from Zhejiang University in Zhejiang Province, the PRC,
with a doctor’s degree in management science and engineering in
July 1992, a master’'s degree in engineering in June 1989 and a
bachelor’s degree in electrical engineering in January 1982.
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Mr. AU YEUNG Po Fung, aged 56, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director in June 2019 and is currently the
chairman of the audit committee and a member of the remuneration
committee and ESG committee of the Company. Mr. Au Yeung has
extensive work experience in the real estate industry. He held various
senior management positions in various real estate companies,
including Beijing Huahong Group Co., Ltd., Sansheng Holdings (Group)
Co. Ltd., Fujian Sansheng Property Development Company Limited,
South China Assets Holdings Limited, Shenzhen Tianlai Tourism
Property Group, Fosun Industrial Holdings Limited (a subsidiary of
Fosun International Limited), Sun Hung Kai Properties Limited,
Powerlong Real Estate Holdings Limited, Greenland Hong Kong
Holdings Limited, Landsea Green Group Co., Ltd., Fu Wah
International Enterprises Group Ltd.. Mr. Au Yeung graduated from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic (currently known as The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University) in Hong Kong in November 1990 with a
bachelor’s degree in business studies. He was admitted as a fellow
of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in November
2000, a fellow of the Hong Kong Society of Accountants (currently
known as the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(HKICPA)) in May 2003, and a fellow of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales in July 2015. Mr. Au Yeung was
also certified as a chartered financial analyst (CFA) of the CFA
Institute in September 2006.
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Lo - BRS A RS B fE N HIEE A BT £ In addition, Mr. Au Yeung holds or had served as an independent
TARETEIIERITESE non-executive director in the following companies listed on the Stock
Exchange:
P 7% 58 B DNEER TEXK
Period of service Name of company Principal business
2020F10R &% b EEEERAA MERED
(B 3 X 5% : 6900)
October 2020 to present Sunkwan Properties Group Limited real estate developer
(stock code: 6900)
2020F6 AES EXRBEEFRAA At EEERGRERD
(B& 7 5% - 6958)
June 2020 to present Zhenro Services Group Limited complex property management service provider
(stock code: 6958)
2018F6 AZES EFRHGEEBRALT CREMETREER
(B 7 5% - 8036)
June 2018 to present eBroker Group Limited financial technology solution provider
(stock code: 8036)
2018F6HES bt ESEEBR LA MERED
(B 3 X 5% : 1996)
June 2018 to present Redsun Properties Group Limited real estate developer
(stock code: 1996)
201948 A 220234 4 A ER () BRA RN MEREE
August 2019 to April 2023 Sinic Holdings (Group) Company Limited™®  real estate developer
201845 A £202146 A EEmBEZRNERRQA FEBSERR FIRRT BHEIHEHEERR
(B 5% = 1749) UNGTEEGECE
May 2018 to June 2021 Shanshan Brand Management Co., Ltd.  menswear company focusing on design, marketing
(stock code: 1749) and sale of formal and casual business menswear in
the PRC
201746 A £202052 A BHEERR LA MEREREE QT
(B 3 X 5% ¢ 108)
June 2017 to February 2020  GR Life Style Company Limited property development and management company

(stock code: 108)

20167 A &2019F9 A RS REEERAT BEER LR
(B& A £ 5% - 931)

July 2016 to September 2019 China HK Power Smart Energy Group Limited ~ asset management and new energy development
(stock code: 931)

20165 4 £2016F9 A BB ERER AR MAREARERRAEEBES
(B {7 5% - 381)

May 2016 to September 2016 Kiu Hung International Holdings Limited ~ toys manufacturing and resources and leisure-related
(stock code: 381) business

Wer: T iR (EE) BRATN20234E48 2 #  Note: Sinic Holdings (Group) Company Limited is delisted on Main Board of the Stock
SHAEB 2P E IR0 E T L - Exchange in April 2023.

FHARNRIEZARNER Y 3HAESIE The abovementioned Directors of the Company are members of
B8 o senior management of the Group.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. YEUNG Tak Yip, aged 42, was appointed as the company
secretary in July 2018. Mr. Yeung possesses over 10 years of
experience in company secretarial practice and more than 19 years
of experience in finance and administration. Prior to joining the Group,
he was the company secretary, financial controller, director of
investor relations and authorised representative of Modern Land (China)
Co., Limited, which engages in property development and provision
of real estate related services and is listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 1107), from April 2016 to April 2018. From October 2012 to
April 2016, Mr. Yeung was the company secretary and group
financial controller of China Water Property Group Limited (currently
known as China City Infrastructure Group Limited), a property
development group listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2349).
Mr. Yeung previously worked at Deloitte & Touche as an audit
manager from April 2008 to February 2011 and as an auditor from
September 2003 to April 2008. He received his bachelor’s degree in
professional accountancy from The Chinese University of Hong Kong
in Hong Kong in May 2003. He also obtained a master’s degree in
Laws from the King’s College London in April 2022. He has also been
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
since March 2013 and Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (HKICPA) since July 2010.

*

For illustrative purpose only
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group is committed to achieving high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to
enhance corporate value and accountability.

The Company has adopted and applied the Corporate Governance
Code as its own code on corporate governance and, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, the Company has complied with all
applicable code provisions under the Corporate Governance Code
for the year ended 31 December 2023.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board composition

As at 31 December 2023, the Board consists of four executive Directors,
namely Mr. Yang Jian (Chairman), Mr. Chen Hongliang (Co-President),
Mr. He Jian (Co-President) and Mr. Yau Sze Ka (Albert) and three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wang Kaiguo, Mr. Wu
Xiaobo, and Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung. An updated list of the Directors and
their roles and functions is published on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and of the Company, respectively. The overall management
and supervision of the Company’s operation and the function of
formulating overall business strategies were vested in the Board.

There are no financial, business, family or other material relationships
among members of the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company has at all
times met the requirements of Rules 3.10(1) and (2) of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-
executive directors with at least one independent non-executive
director possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management expertise. The three
independent non-executive Directors represent more than one-third
of the Board, complying with the requirement under Rule 3.10A of
the Listing Rules whereby independent non-executive directors of a
listed issuer must represent at least one-third of the board. The Board
believes there is sufficient independence element in the Board to
safeguard the interest of Shareholders.
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Corporate Governance Report

Directors’ responsibilities

The Board takes the responsibility to oversee all major matters of the
Company, including the formulation and approval of all policy matters,
overall strategies, internal control and risk management systems, and
monitor the performance of the senior executives. The Directors have
to make decisions objectively in the interests of the Company. As at
31 December 2023, the Board comprised seven Directors, including
four executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors. Their names and biographical details are set out in the
“Biographies of Directors, Senior Management and Company
Secretary” section of this report.

Liability insurance for Directors and senior management of the
Company is maintained by the Company with appropriate coverage
for certain legal liabilities which may arise in the course of performing
their duties.

Delegation by the Board

The management, consisting of executive Directors along with other
senior executives, is delegated with responsibilities for implementing
the strategy and direction as adopted by the Board from time to time,
and conducting the day-to-day management and operations of the
Group. Executive Directors and senior executives meet regularly to
review the performance of the businesses of the Group as a whole,
co-ordinate overall resources and make financial and operational
decisions. The Board also gives clear directions as to their powers of
management including circumstances where management should
report back, and will review the delegation arrangements on a
periodic basis to ensure that they remain appropriate to the needs of
the Group.

Directors’ responsibilities for financial statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group in accordance with
statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards. The
Directors also acknowledge their responsibilities to ensure that the
consolidated financial statements of the Group are published in a
timely manner.

41



FREREERR AT 2023F FH

BRELIHRE
Corporate Governance Report

TRERER

ARARZEMZKEFAEFMERA
SENGEAMBRREFLIBERER
HEBER B LR B RE

TRRBERZER

ERBERENERTHRERSZ

s A M ERRMF21M &
£ B R E 22023412 A318 I F E &
1585 18 % 8 A R %2,918,786,000 7T °
R2023%F12A31H B E£ B M i B
BROTREMERAREBEEEBEREA
A R #21,165,848,0007T° H A A R #§
18,050,495,000 7T # 72 7R 2R 12 & A 7 Y &7
EEEREINRNRETCEXRDHEENE
S E I AN R #6,564,246,0007T * HAHNH
fith & 3% A R #1,781,298,000 7T K& E fth 5
BiR 1T & H M & A R #2,249,157,000
o) MEREEBESEEMWAEAR
& 7,238,809,000 7T #2023 F 12 A 31
B Mot BRIT R E M8 5RE X%
BOEPHABFETREMERARE
533,475,000 T # 5 AJ L B K E & - B IE
20243 A20H A E - BINMEHEEHAER
2024 F3 A0 AN BEHEBEEEERE
HEHNBINEHKEE2HXBLERFHERE
MIEIINFTELEEE BT BRRKRES
HIENFTHNER BHERETEBR
R LK R EREGE B HRE

EEREGE LN REARENE
KR 1 o

42

Disclaimer of Opinion

The Company’s auditor, Ernst & Young issued a disclaimer of opinion
on the consolidated financial statements of the Group, details of
which are set out in the independent auditor’s report.

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion

Material uncertainties relating to going concern

As set out in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group recorded a net loss of RMB2,918,786,000 for the year ended
31 December 2023. As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s total
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and senior notes
amounted to RMB21,165,848,000, out of which RMB18,050,495,000
will be due for repayment within the next twelve months (including
senior notes of RMB6,564,246,000, other offshore debts of
RMB1,781,298,000 and other interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings of RMB2,249,157,000 which had not been repaid
according to their scheduled repayment dates), while its cash and
cash equivalents amounted to RMB7,238,809,000. As at 31
December 2023, the default of certain interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings triggered certain long term interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings amounting to RMB533,475,000 becoming
repayable on demand. As stipulated in the announcement dated 20
March 2024, the offshore debts restructuring was effective on 20
March 2024, the default senior notes and other default offshore debts
were all exchanged into new offshore senior notes, new offshore
convertible bonds or new offshore loans with longer maturity which
partially relieved the Group’s liquidity pressure. The aforesaid
conditions, together with other matters set out in note 2.1 to the
consolidated financial statements, indicate the existence of material
uncertainties which cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern.
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The directors of the Company have been undertaking measures to
improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position, which are set out
in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements. The validity of
the going concern assumption on which the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared depends on the outcome of these
measures, which are subject to multiple uncertainties including
whether the Company can (i) successfully negotiate with the Group’s
existing debt holders for the renewal or extension for repayment of
the Group’s bank and other borrowings; (i) successfully secure
project development loans for qualified project development in a
timely manner; (i) successfully obtain additional new sources of
financing as and when needed; (iv) successfully carry out the Group’s
business strategy plan including the acceleration of the sales of
properties; (v) successfully implement measures to speed up the
collection of outstanding sales proceeds and effectively control costs
and expenses; (vi) successfully manage the payments to construction
contractors and other development vendors; and (vi) successfully
dispose of the Group’s equity interests in project development
companies when suitable.

As a result of these multiple uncertainties, their potential interaction,
and the possible cumulative effect thereof, we were unable to form
an opinion as to whether the going concern basis of preparation is
appropriate. Should the Group fail to achieve the above-mentioned
measures, it might not be able to continue to operate as a going
concern, and adjustments would have to be made to write down the
carrying values of the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts,
to provide for any further liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify
non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and
current liabilities, respectively. The effects of these adjustments have
not been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

The Management’s Position, View and Assessment on the
Disclaimer of Opinion

In view of the uncertainties relating to going concern, the Directors
have undertaken a number of plans and measures to improve the
Group’s liquidity and financial position, including that the Group:

(@) has implemented the Scheme to restructure its offshore debts
which was sanctioned by the Court. All the conditions
precedent were satisfied on 20 March 2024 enabling the
restructuring to take effect on 20 March 2024;

(b) has been actively negotiating with the Group’s existing debt
holders to seek renewal, extension and replacement of bank
loans and other borrowings;
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(c) will continue to actively communicate with banks to timely
secure relevant project development loans for qualified project
development;

(d) will continue to seek for other alternative financing and
borrowings to finance the settlement of its existing financial
obligations and future operating and capital expenditures;

(e) has prepared a business strategy plan mainly focusing on the
acceleration of the sales of properties;

() has implemented measures to speed up the collection of
outstanding sales proceeds and effectively control costs and
expenses;

(@ will continue to negotiate with construction contractors and
other development vendors to manage payment schedules; and

(h)  will continue to seek suitable opportunities to dispose of its
equity interest in certain project development companies in
order to generate additional cash inflows.

In respect of the acceleration of sales of properties, the Company has
(i) optimized the management structure in the business department
S0 as to enable the senior management of the Group to have access
to the first-hand knowledge on the market demand for making timely
decision on the selling strategies; (i) strategically concentrated its
sales resources on key areas where the market environment is more
positive to the Group; and (iii) implemented the sales incentive policy
for the sales team including the sales commission and bonus to
motivate the sales team. The Company has published monthly
operating data in order to keep Shareholders updated of the sales of
properties.

In addition, the Company has closely monitored the collection of the
outstanding sales proceeds with the coordination between different
departments. The finance department has closely worked with the
business department so as to ensure mortgage loans from the banks
will be timely released to the customers to settle the outstanding
sales proceeds. In terms of expenses and cost control, the Group
has streamlined its management structure, downsized the business
department and strategically reduced its cost and expenses on land
acquisition or project designing.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that, taking into
account the above plans and measures, the Group will have sufficient
working capital to finance its operations and meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due within the following twelve
months from 31 December 2023. Accordingly, the directors of the
Company are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023 on a going concern basis.
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Notwithstanding the above, significant uncertainties exist as to
whether the management of the Group will be able to implement the
aforementioned plans and measures. Should the Group be unable to
operate as a going concern, adjustments may have to be made to
write down the carrying values of assets to their recoverable
amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which might arise, and to
reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current
assets and current liabilities, respectively. The effect of these
adjustments has not been reflected in the consolidated financial
statements.

The Company will implement the measures and plans as set out
above in order to resolving its liquidity problem. It endeavours to
resolve the disclaimer of opinion issue in the next financial year.
However, as mentioned above, there are still uncertainties as to
whether the Group will be able to implement the plans and measures
successfully. If any of the plans or measures fail to implement, the
going concern issue will subsist and the timing of removing the
disclaimer of opinion may be delayed.

Audit Committee’s View on the Disclaimer of Opinion

The audit committee of the Company had critically reviewed the
disclaimer of opinion, the management’s position concerning the
disclaimer of opinion (the “Management’s Position”) and measures
taken by the Group for addressing the disclaimer of opinion. The
audit committee of the Company agreed with the Management’s
Position based on the reasons above. Moreover, the audit committee
of the Company requested the management to take all necessary
actions to address the uncertainties regarding going concern
underlying the disclaimer of opinion with a view to resolving the going
concern issue as soon as practicable. The audit committee of the
Company had also discussed with Ernst & Young regarding the
financial position of the Group, measures taken and to be taken by
the Group, and considered the auditor’s rationale and understood its
consideration in arriving its opinion.

Independent non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors play a significant role in the
Board by virtue of their independent judgment and their views carry
significant weight in the Board’s decision. The functions of
independent non-executive Directors include bringing an impartial
view and judgement on issues of the Company’s strategies,
performance and control; and scrutinising the Company’s
performance and monitoring performance reporting.

45



FREREERR AT 2023F FH

EEBUFNTEFHERAEZHEMN
EXRITEERUNNEELER B8R
EEeRHSEXEAMBARANER
ELTEIR AR o

ERBYFNTESNIHOR=F-

BRELM
BYNTEFTZHLECHERZ £
MRAFE  BUBYFATEEES
BERAABRIBFERE ERARE
ZBIME RRARRBEREILIFNTT
E=ZHTA LTRBEIAEMAE I
B R AIES LREBBLAL -

B 3
ARARBAMNEEHNBEREST G &
BBEIUBALBH EFEREERHE
DZBBUIFMITEFMARK - MBI
HTEFHEFERBEABEL =D
Z— AHEZEE EREARANEYL
M BEE AT B HIE - 2B IE
HITEEFRMARAIRHBNE B IE
MEERIAE AAFAREEZEGREA
ELEBFNEERBULFATESTNG
S R A R B E A

PREZ(BEBIUNITER)HESR
MEFEBERARRERZFERNTSH
SHRE VABTEUEBASEEE
BRE  UEMERE - BEREEET
BE 2REFAERMARANR AW
ESRER HESEBERT  ZKEL
EXER BRBAARRAE -BEFEX
FBELEBFRBIFRITEFRIT KX
REEMEBEEZ2ENGE  AlmEW
$E&F¢ﬁ% °

B

46

All independent non-executive Directors possess extensive academic,
professional and industry expertise and management experience and
have made positive contributions to the development of the Company
through providing their professional advice to the Board.

All independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a term of
three years.

Confirmation of independence

The independence of the independent non-executive Directors has
been assessed in accordance with the applicable Listing Rules and
each of the independent non-executive Directors has made an annual
written confirmation of independence to the Company. The Company
is of the view that all independent non-executive Directors meet the
guidelines for assessing independence set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and are independent.

Independence mechanisms

The Company has in place mechanisms to ensure independent views
and input are available to the Board. The Board shall at all times
comprise at least three independent non-executive Directors that
represent at least one-third of the Board, such that there is always a
strong element of independence on the Board which can effectively
exercise independent judgement. Each independent non-executive
Director is required to provide an annual confirmation of his/her
independence to the Company and the nomination committee of the
Company is responsible to assess the independence and time
commitment of each independent non-executive Director at least
annually.

All the Directors, including the independent non-executive Directors,
are given equal opportunity and channels to communicate and
express their views to the Board and have separate and independent
access to the management of the Group in order to make informed
decisions. To facilitate proper discharge of their duties, all the
Directors are entitled to seek advice from the company secretary of
the Company or, upon reasonable request, seek independent
professional advice at the Company’s expense. The chairman of the
Board will hold meetings with the independent non-executive
Directors without the involvement of other Directors at least annually
to discuss any issues and concerns.
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Any Director or his/her associate who has a conflict of interest in a
matter to be considered by the Board will be dealt with by a physical
Board meeting rather than by written resolutions. Such Director will
be required to declare his/her interests before the meeting and
abstain from voting and not counted towards the quorum on the
relevant resolutions. Independent non-executive Directors who, and
whose associates, have no interest in the matter should attend the
Board meeting.

The Board has reviewed and considered that the mechanisms are
effective in ensuring that independent views and input are provided to
the Board during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Board diversity policy

To enhance the effectiveness of the Board and to maintain the high
standard of corporate governance, the Company has adopted the
board diversity policy on 19 June 2019, which sets out the objective
and approach to achieve and maintain diversity of the Board.
Pursuant to the board diversity policy, the Company seeks to achieve
board diversity by taking into consideration of various factors,
including but not limited to professional experience, skills, knowledge,
gender, age, cultural and education background, ethnicity and length
of service with the Group. The Company places high emphasis on
ensuring a balanced composition of skills and experience at the
Board level in order to provide a range of perspectives, insights and
challenge that enable the Board to discharge its duties and
responsibilities effectively, support good decision making in view of
the core businesses and strategy of the Group, and support
succession planning and development of the Board.

The nomination committee is responsible for ensuring the diversity of
the Board members and compliance with relevant codes governing
board diversity under the Listing Rules. The nomination committee
and the Board will review the board diversity policy, its implementation
and its diversity profile annually to ensure its continued effectiveness.

The Directors have a balanced mix of knowledge, skills and
experience, including the areas of real estate, accounting, financial
management, education and manufacturing industries. They obtained
professional qualifications and academic degrees in various majors,
including economics/finance, business studies, human resources
management, science and management science and engineering.
The Company has three independent non-executive Directors with
different industry backgrounds, representing more than one-third of
the members of the Board.
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Gender diversity

The Company has also taken steps to promote gender diversity at all
levels of the Company, including but not limited to the Board and the
management levels. In order to ensure gender diversity at the Board
level, the Company has been looking for suitable female candidates
who have necessary skills and experience to join the Board since the
Listing, and was aiming to appoint at least one female director.
However, the company had difficulty finding a suitable candidate due
to various factors, including the overall downturn in real estate
industry in the PRC. As at the date of this report, the nomination
committee of the Company is still in the process of identifying at
suitable female candidates to join the Board. The Board will use its
best endeavor and aim to have at least one female board
representation as soon as practicable, and not later than 31
December 2024. The Board will continue to seek opportunities to
increase the proportion of female members over time as and when
suitable candidates are identified. The Company will also make its
best endeavour to ensure that there is gender diversity when
recruiting staff at mid to senior level of the Group.

As disclosed in this annual report, senior management of the Group
comprises the Directors, all being male members. Gender ratio in the
workforce is set out in the ESG report of the Company to be
published at the same time as this annual report is published on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company respectively.

The Group makes its best endeavour to encourage gender diversity
since recruitment and selection process and across its workplace.

Appointment, re-election and removal of Directors

Each of the executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors has entered into a service contract or a letter of
appointment with the Company for a specific term. Such term is
subject to his retirement by rotation and re-election at an annual
general meeting of the Company in accordance with the Articles.
Pursuant to Article 112 of the Articles, the Board shall have power
from time to time and at any time to appoint any person as a Director
either to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional Director, provided
that the number of Directors so appointed shall not exceed the
maximum number determined from time to time by the Shareholders
in general meeting. Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a
casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing Board is subject to
retirement and shall then be eligible for re-election in accordance with
the Articles.
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Pursuant to Article 108(a) of the Articles, at each annual general
meeting of the Company, one-third of the Directors for the time
being, shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director
(including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election. The members of the
Company may, at any general meetings convened and held in
accordance with the Articles, remove a Director by ordinary resolution
at any time before the expiration of his period of office
notwithstanding anything contrary in the Articles or in any agreement
between the Company and such Director and may by ordinary
resolution elect another person in his stead.

Directors’ training and professional development

As part of continuous professional development of the Directors, the
Company provides in-house training and engages professional firms
to provide training to Directors to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills and continuously update Directors on the latest
developments regarding the Group’s business, the Listing Rules and
other applicable legal and regulatory requirements to ensure
compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate
governance practices.

For the newly appointed Director, the Company would arrange a
comprehensive, formal and tailored induction session on his/her
appointment to ensure he/she would have a proper understanding of
the Company’s businesses and operations as well as his/her
responsibilities under relevant statues, laws, rules and regulations as
a director of a listed company.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, each of the Directors
attended training relating to the Group’s businesses, Listing Rules,
legal and regulatory requirements and corporate governance
practices, and read relevant materials to keep themselves abreast of
regulatory developments and changes.

Board meetings

The Board meets regularly to discuss and formulate the overall
strategy as well as the operation and financial performance of the
Group. Directors may participate either in person or through
electronic means of communications. The Board holds at least four
meetings a year at approximately quarterly intervals. Additional
meetings would be arranged, if and when required. The date of each
meeting is decided in advance to enable the Directors to attend the
meeting in person.
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Directors have made
active contribution to the affairs of the Group and 5 board meetings
were held to consider, among other things, the business
development, various transactions contemplated by the Group, and
to review and approve the interim results and annual results of the
Group. According to Article 107(d) of the Articles, a Director shall not
vote (nor be counted in the quorum) on any resolution of the Board
approving any contract or arrangement or any other proposal in
which he or any of his close associates is materially interested.

Attendance record of Directors

The attendance record of Directors at the meetings of the Board, the
Board committees and the Shareholders held during the year ended
31 December 2023 is set out below:

ERNEE

Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings held for

the year ended 31 December 2023

BiR -
HtER

BE=s EEZ® ENZEE FTMHWZES REZEYE EARZEEE RRKE

Audit Remuneration Nomination ESG  General
Directors Board committee committee committee committee meetings
HITES
Executive Directors
58l A (£ ) 5/5 i A 1/1 i7al i A 2/2
Mr. Yang Jian (Chairman) N/A N/A
BRAL 5o 55 4 (B /= 48 &) 5/5 A i A i A 11 2/2
Mr. Chen Hongliang (Co-President) N/A N/A N/A
o] R 55 & (Bt e 48 #) 5/5 i A TiE A iE A 1/1 2/2
Mr. He Jian (Co-President) N/A N/A N/A
MRREEE 5/5 N iE A i A i A 1/1 2/2
Mr. Yau Sze Ka (Albert) N/A N/A N/A
BYFHTES
Independent non-executive

Directors

TR LA 5/5 2/2 T3 A 1/1 i@ A 2/2
Mr. Wang Kaiguo N/A N/A
R KA 5/5 2/2 1/1 1/1 T3 A 2/2
Mr. Wu Xiaobo N/A
BfSE L4 5/5 2/2 1/1 i@ A 1/1 2/2
Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung N/A
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the guidelines for the
Directors’ dealings in the securities of the Company since the Listing.
In response to specific enquiry made by the Company, all Directors
confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

As required by the Company, relevant officers and employees of the
Company are also bound by the Model Code, which prohibits them
to deal in securities of the Company at any time when he/she
possesses inside information in relation to those securities. No
incident of non-compliance of the Model Code by the relevant officers
and employees was noted by the Company.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy, pursuant to which the
Company may declare and distribute dividends to the Shareholders,
provided that the Group records a profit after tax and that the
declaration and distribution of dividends does not affect the normal
operations of the Group. In deciding whether to propose a dividend
and in determining the dividend amount, the Board would take into
account the Group’s earnings, cash flow, financial condition, capital
requirements, statutory fund reserve requirements and any other
conditions that the Board may consider relevant. Whilst the Board will
review from time to time for determination on proposed dividend with
the above factors taken into account, there can be no assurance that
dividends will be declared or paid in any particular amount for any
given period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties including:

— to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

— to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

—  to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
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— to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

— to review the Company’s compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code.

The Board had performed the above duties during the year ended 31
December 2023.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the positions of the
chairman and the chief executive officer were held separately. The
role of chairman was held by Mr. Yang Jian, and the role of chief
executive officer were held by Mr. Chen Hongliang and Mr. He Jian,
the co-president of the Group during the year ended 31 December
2023. The segregation of duties of the chairman and the chief
executive officer ensures a clear distinction in the Chairman’s
responsibility to manage and provide leadership for the Board and
the chief executives responsibility to manage the Company’s
business.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees with specific written
terms of reference to oversee particular aspects of the Group’s
affairs. All the Board committees are empowered by the Board under
their own terms of reference which have been posted on Stock
Exchange’s website and/or the Company’s website.

Audit committee

The Company has established an audit committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with Rules 3.21 of the Listing Rules and
the Corporate Governance Code. The primary duties of the
Company’s audit committee include, among others, (a) making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment
and removal of the external auditor and approving the remuneration
and terms of engagement of the external auditor; (b) reviewing the
Group’s financial statements, annual report and accounts and half-
year report and significant financial reporting judgments contained
therein; and (c) reviewing the Group’s financial controls, internal
control and risk management systems.
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The audit committee consists three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung (being the chairman of the
audit committee), Mr. Wang Kaiguo and Mr. Wu Xiaobo. In
compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Au Yeung Po
Fung possesses the appropriate professional and accounting
qualifications.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the audit committee held
two meetings with the senior management and independent auditor
of the Company to consider the independence and audit scope of
independent auditor, and to review and discuss the risk management
and internal control systems, the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal audit and risk control function, consolidated interim and
annual financial statements of the Group and the opinion and report
of independent auditor before reporting and submitting to the Board
for their approval.

Remuneration committee

The Company has established a remuneration committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 and Corporate
Governance Code. The remuneration committee reviews and
recommends to the Board the remuneration and other benefits paid
by the Group to its Directors and senior management. The
remuneration of all of the Directors and senior management is subject
to regular monitoring by the remuneration committee to ensure that
levels of their remuneration and compensation are appropriate.

The remuneration committee consists of three members, two of
whom are independent non-executive Directors. The three members
are Mr. Wu Xiaobo (being the chairman of the remuneration
committee), Mr. Yang and Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the remuneration
committee held one meeting to assess the performance and review
the remuneration structure of the Directors and senior management
and made recommendation to the Board for approval.
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The remuneration of Directors and senior management is reviewed at
least annually and determined with reference to the skills and
knowledge of the Directors and senior management, their job
responsibilities and level of involvement in the Group’s affairs, the
performance and profitability as well as remuneration benchmark in
the industry and the prevailing market conditions. Remuneration
comprise basic salaries and allowances, bonus, equity-settled share
based payments and retirement benefit contributions.

Details of the remuneration payable to members of senior
management, all being Directors of the Company, by band, are set
out in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

Nomination Committee

The Company has established a nomination committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.27A and Corporate
Governance Code. The primary responsibilities of the nomination
committee are to consider and recommend to the Board suitable and
qualified candidates of Directors and to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board and the board diversity policy adopted by
the Company on a regular basis.

The nomination committee consists of three members, two of whom
are independent non-executive Directors. The three members are Mr.
Yang (being the chairman of the nomination committee), Mr. Wang
Kaiguo and Mr. Wu Xiaobo.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the nomination committee
held one meeting to review the structure and composition of the
Board and its committees, made recommendation to the Board on
the appointment and re-election of Directors having considered the
existing composition and size of the Board, the diversity of the Board
members in terms of gender, age, culture and accomplishment,
experience and reputation in relation to the business of the Company
and other related industries and assessed the independence of
independent non-executive Directors.

Nomination policy

The primary responsibilities of the nomination committee are to
consider and recommend to the Board suitable and qualified
candidates of Directors and to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board and the board diversity policy adopted by
the Company on a regular basis.
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The nomination committee utilises various methods for identifying
candidates for directorship, including recommendations from Board
members, management, and professional search firms. In addition,
the nomination committee will consider candidates for directorship
properly submitted by the Shareholders. The evaluation of candidates
for directorship by the nomination committee may include, without
limitation, review of resume and job history, personal interviews,
verification of professional and personal references and performance
of background checks. The Board will consider the recommendations
of the nomination committee and is responsible for designating the
candidates for directorship to be considered by the Shareholders for
their election at the general meeting of the Company, or appointing
the suitable candidate to act as Director to fill the Board vacancies or
as an additional to the Board members, subject to compliance of the
constitutional documents of the Company. All appointments of
Director should be confirmed by letter of appointment and/or service
contract setting out the key terms and conditions of the appointment
of Directors.

The nomination committee should consider the following qualifications
as a minimum to be required for a candidate in recommending to the
Board to be a potential new Director, or the continued service of
existing Director:

— the highest personal and professional ethics and integrity;

—  proven achievement and competence in the nominee’s field and
the ability to exercise sound business judgment;

—  skills that are complementary to those of the existing Board;

— the ability to assist and support management and make
significant contributions to the Company’s success;

— diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, experience
and length of service;

— an understanding of the fiduciary responsibilities that is required
for a member of the Board and the commitment of time and
energy necessary to diligently carry out those responsibilities;

— independence: the candidates for independent non-executive
directorship should meet the “independence” criteria as
required under the Listing Rules and the composition of the
Board is in conformity with the provisions of the Listing Rules.
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The nomination committee may also consider such other factors as it
may deem are in the best interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole.

ESG COMMITTEE

The Company has established an ESG committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with the Listing Rules. The primary
responsibilities of the ESG committee are to assist the Board to
review and monitor the ESG policies and practices of the Group to
ensure compliance with the relevant legal and regulatory
requirements, monitor and respond to emerging ESG issues and
make recommendations to the Board where appropriate to improve
the Group’s ESG performance.

The ESG committee consists of four members. The four members
are Mr. Chen Hongliang (being the chairman of the ESG committee),
Mr. He Jian, Mr. Yau Sze Ka (Albert) and Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the ESG committee held
one meeting to formulate the Company’s ESG strategies and
directions, review the ESG report and made recommendation for the
Group’s ESG matters.

FINANCIAL REPORTING SYSTEM, RISK
MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM

Financial reporting system

The Board, supported by the finance department, is responsible for
the preparation of the financial statements of the Company and the
Group. In preparation of the financial statements, International
Financial Reporting Standards have been adopted and the
appropriate accounting policies have been consistently used and
applied. The Board aims to present a clear and balanced assessment
of the Group’s performance in the annual and interim reports to the
Shareholders, and make appropriate disclosure and announcements
in a timely manner. Pursuant to code provision D.1.1 of the Corporate
Governance Code, management would provide such explanation and
information to the Board as will enable the Board to make an
informed assessment of the financial and other information put before
the Board for approval.
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The work scope and reporting responsibilities of Ernst & Young, the
Company’s external auditor, are set out in the “Independent Auditor’s
Report” on pages 86 to 89 of this report.

Risk management and internal control system

The Board and senior management is responsible for establishment,
review and implementation of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group. The risk management and internal
control system is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement
or loss. The internal control system covers all major aspects of the
Group’s operations, including, among others, property development,
property sales, investment property management, procurement,
financial reporting, asset management, budgeting and accounting
processes. The Group also has an internal audit and risk control
function which primarily carries out analysis and independent
appraisal of the adequacy and effectiveness of its risk management
and internal control systems, and reports their findings to the Board
on, at least, an annual basis. The Board conducted reviews and
discussed with the management on the effectiveness of the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems as required by
principle D.2 of the Corporate Governance Code, covering adequacy
of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes
for the staff and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting functions and any resolutions for material internal
control defects.

With respect to the Group’s risk management and internal control
measures, the Group has a set of comprehensive policies and
guidelines which set out details regarding the internal control
standards, segregation of responsibilities, approval procedures and
personnel accountability in each aspect. The Group also carries out
regular internal assessments and training to ensure its employees are
equipped with sufficient knowledge on such policies and guidelines.
In addition, the Group also implemented risk management policies
against corruption and fraudulent activities. The Group’s major anti-
corruption and anti-fraud measures and procedures include:

— the internal audit and risk control function shall be primarily
responsible for establishing, reviewing and evaluating the
Group’s anti-corruption and anti-fraud policies and monitoring
their implementation;
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— as specified in the Group’s staff handbooks, employees are
explicitly prohibited from taking/offering bribes or kickbacks
from/to suppliers or other third parties, manipulating bidding
procedures, misusing the Group’s assets, or providing improper
hospitality and entertainment to suppliers or other third parties;

— all of the Directors and senior management are requested to
identify and make periodical reports to the headquarters about
conflicts of interest, including potential related party
transactions, the engagement of competing businesses, or the
receipt of unjust benefits or enrichment by using the Group’s
assets or resources or taking advantage of his or her position;

—  the Group provides anti-corruption and anti-fraud compliance
trainings periodically to the Directors, senior management and
employees to enhance their knowledge and awareness of the
relevant laws and regulations; and

— the Group undertakes rectification measures with respect to
any identified corruption or fraudulent activities, evaluating such
activities and proposing and establishing preventative measures
to avoid future non-compliances.

The Group also engaged an external consultant specialising in
identifying and evaluation of significant risks of its business and
operation, including ESG-related risks. The external consultant does
not have any connection with the Group and the Board believes that
their involvement could enhance the objectivity and transparency of
evaluation process. In conjunction with the Group’s internal audit and
risk control function and senior management, the external consultant
conducts an annual assessment on risk management and internal
control systems of the Group together with suggestion and solutions
and submit to the Board for their consideration.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has
implemented procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information. In particular, the Group:

— has conducted its affairs with close regard to the disclosure
requirement under the Listing Rules as well as the “Guidelines
on Disclosure of Inside Information” published by the Securities
and Futures Commission in June 2012;
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— has established its own disclosure obligation procedures, which
set out the procedures and controls for the assessment of
potential inside information and the handling and dissemination
of inside information. The procedures have been communicated
to the senior management and staff of the Company, and their
implementation was monitored by the Company; and

— has made broad, non-exclusive disclosure of information to the
public through channels such as financial reports, public
announcements and its website.

The risk management and internal control systems are reviewed and
assessed on an on-going basis by the audit committee and the
executive Directors, and will be further reviewed and assessed at
least once each year by the Board. During the year ended 31
December 2023, these systems covering all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls, were
reviewed and considered effective and adequate.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the remunerations paid
or payable to Ernst & Young in respect of its audit services
and non-audit services are approximately RMB10,400,000 and
RMB386,000, respectively. The amount for 2023 non-audit services
consisted mainly of consulting service and taxation services. The
audit committee was satisfied that the non-audit services in 2023 did
not affect the independence of the auditor.

COMPANY SECRETARY

In compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Yeung Tak Yip
confirmed that for the year ended 31 December 2023, he has taken
not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training. The biography
of Mr. Yeung is set out in the “Biographies of Directors, senior
management and Company Secretary” section on page 39 of this
report.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening an extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles, one or more Shareholders
holding not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings shall have the right, by
written requisition to the Board or the company secretary, to require
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition. Such
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting forward proposals at Shareholders’ meetings

There are no provisions in the Articles or the Companies Act of the
Cayman lIslands for Shareholders to put forward new resolutions at
general meetings. Shareholders who wish to put forward a new
resolution may request the Company to convene a general meeting in
accordance with the procedures set out in the above paragraph
heading “Convening an extraordinary general meeting”.

Shareholders communication policy

The Company ensures prompt dissemination of corporate
communications to enable Shareholders and other stakeholders to
keep abreast of the Group’s business and developments so that they
can make informed decisions. It publishes regulatory announcements
and other corporate communications on its website.

The Company maintains balanced, clear and transparent
communications with Shareholders to facilitate their understanding of
the Group’s performance and business operations, the Company has
ongoing dialogue with the Shareholders and other investors through
various communication channels and takes any areas of concern into
consideration in formulating its business strategies.

Shareholders may at any time make enquiries to the Board in writing
or by call to the Corporate Finance and Investor Relations Department
or directly by raising questions at general meetings. Please refer to
the sections headed “Other Information” and “Investor Relations” in
the Investor Relations Report for contact details of the Company.
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Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general meetings of
the Company. Sufficient notice of general meetings will be given to
the Shareholders in accordance with the Articles and applicable rules
and regulations. The chairman of the Board, chairman of each Board
committee, management of the Company and, if appropriate, the
external auditors, will attend the general meetings and answer
questions raised by Shareholders.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, two general meetings
were held, at which all the Directors attended either by person or by
means of electronic facilities to communicate with the Shareholders.
All corporate communications and regulatory announcements were
published by the Company on its website and the website of the
Stock Exchange in a timely manner. The Board reviewed and
considered that the shareholders communication policy was effective
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 1 June 2023,
a special resolution was passed by the Shareholders to adopt the
second amended and restated memorandum and articles of
association of the Company (the “Memorandum and Articles of
Association”). The Company’s Memorandum and Articles of
Association is available on the Company’s website and the Stock
Exchange’s website.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS, COMMUNICATIONS
WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has adopted a stringent internal control system to
ensure accurate, complete and timely disclosure of relevant
information pursuant to requirements of relevant laws and regulations
to ensure all shareholders and investors equal access to information.

The Group updates its investor relations website (http://ir.zidcgroup.com)
in an active and timely manner as so to keep investors informed of
the Group’s latest development. Meanwhile, the Group uses its
WeChat official account as an efficient channel to maintain investor
relations and information disclosure. In addition, the Group maintains
regular contacts with shareholders and investors through various
channels.

OTHER INFORMATION

Shareholder Service

Shareholders may notify the registrar in writing on matters relating to
your shareholding, such as share transfer, change of name or
address and loss of share certificate.

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,

183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
Telephone: (852) 2862 8628

Facsimile: (852) 2529 6087

Shareholder Enquiries

Enquiry hotline during normal office hours:
Telephone: (852) 3793 3135
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REEBRRE INVESTOR RELATIONS

WEERFELADWMENMAESDH - FH 4 For enquiries from investors and securities analysts, please contact:
rERERKEEBEDS Corporate Finance and Investor Relations Department,

BB Unit 1905, 19/F, 308 Central Des Voeux

I IRE B H 30857 No. 308 Des Voeux Road Central, Sheung Wan

19121905 % Hong Kong

= &5 ¢ (852) 3793 3139 Telephone: (852) 3793 3139

{82 : (852) 37933134 Facsimile: (852) 3793 3134

B H : ir@zldcgroup.com Email: ir@zldcgroup.com
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The Board is pleased to present the annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in property development, property leasing
and management consulting services. An analysis of the Group’s
revenue and operating results for the year ended 31 December 2023
by its principal activities is set out in note 1 to the consolidated
financial statements of the Group on page 99 in this report.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 are
set out in the “Chairman’s Statement” section of this report and the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income of the Group on
page 91 of this report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

General

A review of the business of the Group and a discussion on the
Group’s future business development during the year are set out in
the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 8 to 12 and pages 13 to 30,
respectively, of this report. An analysis of the Group’s performance
during the year using financial key performance indicators is set out in
the “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 13 to 30 of this
report.
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Principal risks and uncertainties the Group faces include (i) inabilities
as to the acquiring of land reserves for development; (i) uncertainty
as to business operations in different geographic locations; (iii)
uncertainty as to obtaining sufficient funding for developments and
refinancing; (iv) risks related to the fluctuation of profitability of
property projects; (v) risks related to obtaining administrative
certificates; (vi) risks related to the performance of the PRC property
markets; (vii) risks related to the government policies and regulations
regarding the PRC property industry; and (vii) risks related to the
increasing raw materials price and labor costs.

The Group’s financial risk management objectives and policies of the
Group are set out in note 42 to the consolidated financial statements.

Environmental policies and performance

It is the Group’s corporate and social responsibility in promoting a
sustainable and environmental friendly environment, and the Group
strives to minimise its environmental impact and comply with the
applicable environmental laws and regulations. The measures it takes
to ensure its compliance with the applicable environmental laws and
regulations include: (i) strictly selecting construction contractors and
supervising the process of construction; (i) applying for review by the
relevant government authorities in a timely manner after the project is
completed; and (i) actively adopting environmentally friendly
equipment and designs. The Group also takes voluntary actions with
respect to environmental protection and make energy conservation
and emission reduction as primary considerations when designing its
property projects.

None of the Group’s properties had received any material fines or
penalties associated with the breach of any environmental laws or
regulations during the year ended 31 December 2023.

The 2023 Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the Group

will be published separately on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.
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Relationship with Employees

The Group believes high-quality employees who value its corporate
culture are essential elements to promote its sustainable growth. The
Group intends to attract and retain skilled and talented employees
through various initiatives, including creative trainee programs,
competitive compensation packages and effective incentive system.
For details regarding employees and staff costs and the emolument
policy of the Group, please refer to the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis — Employee and Remuneration Policy”.

Relationship with Suppliers

The Group is dedicated to develop good relationship with suppliers
as long-term business partners to ensure stability of the Group’s
businesses. It reinforces business partnerships with suppliers by ongoing
communication in a proactive and effective manner. For further details
regarding the Group’s major suppliers, please refer to the section
headed “Directors’ Report — Major Customers and Suppliers”.

Relationship with Customers

Customers satisfaction with services and products has a profound
effect on the profitability. The Group’s dedicated sales team is in
constant communication with its customers and potential customers
to uncover and create customer needs and help customers make
informed decisions. Identification of customers’ pain points alongside
grasping the market trend are critical for the Group to timely adjust
our operating strategies to fit the market requirement. For details
regarding the Group’s major customers, please refer to the sections
headed “Directors’ Report — Major Customers and Suppliers”.

Compliance with laws and regulations

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands with the Shares
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. The Group’s
subsidiaries are incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, Hong Kong
and the PRC. The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the
Group’s subsidiaries in China while the Group also has a corporate
and administrative office in Hong Kong.

Its establishments and operations accordingly shall comply with
relevant laws and regulations in the Cayman Islands, the British Virgin
Islands, the PRC and Hong Kong. During the year ended 31
December 2023 and up to the date of this report, the Group has
complied with all the relevant laws and regulations in the Cayman
Islands, the British Virgin Islands, the PRC and Hong Kong that have
a significant impact on the Group.
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FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2023.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Changes to the property, plant and equipment of the Group and the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in
note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

BORROWINGS AND SENIOR NOTES

Details of the Group’s borrowings and senior notes during the year
ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 29 and 31 respectively
to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out on
pages 94, 95 and 242 of this report. In respect of Company, the
amount of reserves available for distribution (subject to article of the
Company) under the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands as at 31
December 2023 was RMB2,001.3 million.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

The Company and its subsidiaries have not purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the listed securities of the Company during the year
end ended 31 December 2023.

DONATIONS

Donations made by the Group during the year ended 31 December
2023 amounted to RMB2.0 million.

LITIGATION

On 21 November 2022, a winding-up petition (the “Petition”) was filed
by China Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited as trustee of
the May 2022 Notes (defined as below) against the Company at the
Court in relation to the outstanding 8.5% senior notes due May 2022
(“May 2022 Notes”, ISIN: XS2341214059; Common Code:
234121405) in the principal amount of approximately US$18.65
million (plus accrued and unpaid interest), in which the Company was
the issuer. The Petition was served on the Company on 22 November
2022. The Company had applied for validation order (the “Validation
Order”) for transfer of the issued shares of the Company under the
Petition and the Validation Order was granted by the Court on 23
February 2023 that, inter alia, all transfers of the issued shares of the
Company, insofar as they have been paid up or credited as fully paid
up, from the date of the presentation of the Petition, shall not be void
by virtue of section 182 of the Companies (Winding Up and
Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance notwithstanding the presentation
of the Petition. At the hearing of the Petition on 4 March 2024, the
Court ordered the hearing of the Petition to be adjourned to 13 May
2024. On 20 March 2024, all the restructuring conditions have been
satisfied and that the Restructuring Effective Date is occurred. On 25
March 2024, the Petition against the Company was dismissed by the
Court.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
22 November 2022, 8 March 2023, 20 March 2024 and 25 March
2024.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Schemes for offshore debts holistic solution came into effect on 20
March 2024 with all conditions satisfied under the holistic solution, as
a result, all outstanding scheme debts including the Company’s
default senior notes with an aggregate amount of principal and
interest of RMB7,398,541,000 and other default offshore debts with
an aggregate amount of principal and interest of RMB2,260,557,000
were cancelled. New Senior Notes and New Convertible Bonds were
issued and the New Private Loan was signed upon restructuring
effective date. For more details, please refer to the announcement of
the Company dated 20 March 2024.

The winding up petition against the Company, which was filed on 21
November 2022 by a trustee of the May 2022 Notes, was dismissed
by the Court at the hearing on 25 March 2024. For more details,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 25 March
2024.

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group had no other significant
events occurred which have material impact on the operation and the
performance of the Group after the year ended 31 December 2023
and up to the date of this annual report.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 and
the state of the Group’s financial position as at that date are set out
in the consolidated financial statements on pages 90 to 93 in this
report.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2023 and as at
the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yang Jian (Chairman)

Mr. Chen Hongliang (Co-President)
Mr. He Jian (Co-President)

Mr. Yau Sze Ka (Albert)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Wang Kaiguo
Mr. Wu Xiaobo
Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung
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In accordance with the Articles, at each annual general meeting one-
third of the Directors for the time being, or, if their number is not three
or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than
one-third, shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. A
retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election. The Company at the
general meeting at which a Director retires may fill the vacated office.
Accordingly, Mr. Yang Jian, Mr. Chen Hongliang and Mr. Yau Sze Ka
(Albert) shall retire from office by rotation at the 2024 AGM and, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election. The Company has
received, from each of the independent non-executive Directors, an
annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the independent non-
executive Directors are independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement
with the Company and each of the non-executive Directors (including
independent non-executive Directors) has signed an appointment
letter with the Company. The appointment of all the Directors is for a
period of three years and shall continue thereafter until being
terminated by either party giving not less than 2 months’ prior written
notice.

None of the Directors who are proposed for election or re-election at
the 2024 AGM has a service contract with the Company which is not
determinable within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, none of the Directors nor
their respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had any
interest in a business that competed or might compete with the
business of the Group.
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NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

Each of Mr. Yang Jian, being the executive Director and the
controlling shareholder of the Company, Ms. Xu, Liangzhong and
Liangtai, all being the controlling shareholders of the Company, has
confirmed to the Company that, during the year ended 31 December
2023, he/she/it has complied with the deed of non-competition dated
24 June 2019 (the “Undertakings”) as disclosed in the Prospectus.

The independent non-executive Directors had reviewed the status of
compliance and the confirmation provided by the controlling
shareholders as part of the annual review process. On the basis that: (i)
the Company has received the confirmations from its controlling
shareholders regarding the Undertakings; (i) there was no competing
business reported by the controlling shareholders; and (i) there was
no particular situation rendering the full compliance of the
Undertakings being questionable, the independent non-executive
Directors are of the view that the Undertakings have been complied
with and been enforced by the Company in accordance with the
terms.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this report and the section headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions”, there was no other contract of significance
entered into between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the
controlling shareholders of the Company or any of its subsidiaries
during the year ended 31 December 2023, and no contract of
significance for the provision of services to the Company or any of its
subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was entered into during the year ended 31 December
2023.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 19 June 2019, the Company adopted the Share Option Scheme
which is subject to the requirements under Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules.

Details of the Share Option Scheme

(1) Purpose
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide selected
participants with the opportunity to acquire proprietary interests
in the Company and to encourage selected participants to work
towards enhancing the value of the Company and its Shares for
the benefit of the Company and Shareholders as a whole. The
Directors believe the Share Option Scheme will enable the
Group to reward its employees, the Directors and other
selected participants for their contributions to the Group. The
Share Option Scheme provides the Company with a flexible
means of retaining, incentivising, rewarding, remunerating,
compensating and/or providing benefits to selected participants.

(2) Participants

Any individual, being an employee, director, officer, consultant,
advisor, distributor, contractor, customer, supplier, agent,
business partner, joint venture business partner or service
provider of any member of the Company or any affiliate who the
Board or its delegate(s) considers, in their sole discretion, to
have contributed or will contribute to the Company is entitled to
be offered and granted options. However, no individual who is
resident in a place where the grant, acceptance or exercise of
options pursuant to the Share Option Scheme is not permitted
under the laws and regulations of such place or where, in the
view of the Board or its delegate(s), compliance with applicable
laws and regulations in such place makes it necessary or
expedient to exclude such individual, is eligible to be offered or
granted options.

(3) The maximum number of Shares available for issue

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the aggregate of the
Shares in issue on the day on which trading of the Shares
commences on the Stock Exchange, and such 10% limit
represents 353,000,000 Shares, representing approximately
9.86% of the total Shares in issue as at the date of this report.
As at the date of this report, 337,800,000 share options are still
available for future grant, representing 9.43% of the total Shares
in issue as at the date of this report.



4)

(5)

(6)

ZHONGLIANG HOLDINGS GROUP COMPANY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023

ESHRENRAES
B B SR S R 1218 A

M EREBEREFERAEEE
MEMEREFSMNSL2HEERD
E#EFHREOERE(BREETER
MARITENERE BTEMETR
BFETHROES T EBBA
NEERFEEITRAMN1% -

BRENEMART
BREBBREZHOXNEREZLHH B
AT REE£BEARNERN BSERA
BT AIR B FRIE1.008 7T °

R B B PA I RIERE
HR EE=cpEETRRE
TEMAFAENHR -

1R 5 8 R S 81 58 i1 0 £ 1 8 AR
T B R E e A
9 0 7 1918 48 16 A 1 AR 38 140 9 2
st -

IR 8RB E
BREEETNERROABEE
HREFETWER EFAEER
T BERESE

i WELAH(ALKLER) AR
R B ¥R P75 A A D K

p—

mE :
(i) REEREBHAITNRMES:

B B 32 BT B R BT 51 B8R B iR
DR E K&

iy AREBH-—KBROHOEE-

4)

()

(6)

EFERE

Directors’ Report

The maximum entitlement of each participant

Unless approved by the Shareholders, the total number of
Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted and to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option scheme of the Group (including both
exercised and outstanding options) to each participant in any
12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share
capital of the Company for the time being.

Acceptance and exercise of options

The acceptance of an offer of the grant of share options must
be made within ten business days from the date of offer with a
non-refundable payment of HK$1.00 from each grantee.

The Share Option Scheme does not specify any minimum
vesting period but the Board has the authority to determine for
which a share option must be held before it can be exercised.

The exercise period of any share option granted under the
Share Option Scheme shall be determined by the Board but
such period must not exceed ten years from the date of grant
of the relevant share option.

Subscription price for Shares
The subscription price per Share under the Share Option
Scheme will be a price determined by the Directors, but shall
not be less than the highest of:

(i)  the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant,
which must be a business day;

(i)  the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant;
and

(i)~ the nominal value of a Share on the date of grant.
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(7) The duration of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for the
period of ten years commencing on the Listing (after which, no
further options shall be offered or granted under the Share
Option Scheme), but in all other respects the provisions of the
Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force and effect to the
extent necessary to give effect to the exercise of any options
granted prior thereto or otherwise as may be required in
accordance with the provisions of the rules of the Share Option

Scheme.

As at the date of this report, the remaining life of the Share Option
Scheme is approximately 5 years and 3 months.

For further details of the Share Option Scheme, please refer to the
section headed “Statutory and general information — D. Share
incentive scheme” in Appendix V to the Prospectus.

Particulars of the movement of options granted under the Share Option
Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2023 are as follows:

BR  H2023F 2023 5F
THEE 1818 128318
SHENE BHBAH (B HARTEY RH 7% Ed ¥ ERTRE
Exercise Outstanding Outstanding
price per as at as at
Share 1 January 31 December
Category of participants  Date of grant (HK$) 2023" Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed 2023
Ex
Directors
BRAL % 5t & 20206 7R7H
Mr. Chen Hongliang 7 July 2020 5.83 10,000,000 — — — — 10,000,000
Al & 5% 4 20206 7A7H
Mr. He Jian 7 July 2020 5.83 1,300,000 — — — - 1,300,000
Hth2 &
Other Participants
AEEER 20207 A7H
Employees of the Group 7 July 2020 5.83 13,200,000 — — — 9,300,000 3,900,000
st 24,500,000 - - — 9,300,000 15,200,000
Total
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The options shall be exercisable from 7 July 2020 to 6 July 2030, and vested, in
five tranches, subject to the individual performance, results and financial
performance of the Group in the following manner:

(0] 10% shall be vested on 7 July 2021;

(ii) 20% shall be vested on 7 July 2022;

(iii) 20% shall be vested on 7 July 2023;

(iv) 20% shall be vested on 7 July 2024; and

(v) 30% shall be vested on 7 July 2025.

The closing price of the Shares immediately before the date on which these
options were granted was HK$5.92.

SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME

0]

@)

Purpose

In order to recognise the contributions and provide incentives to
senior management and employees of the Group for the
continual operation and development of the Group and to
attract suitable personnel for the growth and further
development of the Group, the Company adopted the Share
Incentive Scheme on 31 December 2021. The Share Incentive
Scheme shall be subject to the administration of the Board and
the trustee (the “Trustee”) in accordance with the rules of the
Share Incentive Scheme and the trust deed dated 31 December
2021 entered into between the Company as settlor and the
Trustee (the “Trust Deed”).

Participants

Any of the (i) senior management of the Group; and (i)
employees of the Group, other than those who is resident in a
place where the grant of the incentive shares and/or the vesting
and transfer of the incentive shares pursuant to the terms of the
Share Incentive Scheme is not permitted under the laws and
regulations of such place, or in the view of the Board or the
Trustee (as the case may be), compliance with applicable laws
or regulations in such place makes it necessary or expedient to
exclude such eligible person. For the avoidance of doubt,
excluding Directors, chief executives or substantial shareholders
of the Company and any of their respective close associates.
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The maximum number of Shares available for grant

The Board shall not grant any further incentive share which will
result in the aggregated number of incentive shares exceeding 5%
of the total number of issued Shares from time to time. No
award had been granted under the Share Incentive Scheme
since adoption of the Scheme. As at the date of this report, the 5%
scheme limit represents 179,089,575 Shares are available for
future grant.

As at the date of this report, the Trustee holds the entire interest
in Liangyi, which in turn directly holds 89,121,090 Shares,
representing approximately 2.49% of the total number of issued
Shares, as the incentive shares for the purpose of the Share
Incentive Scheme.

Any further incentive shares shall be either () existing Shares
purchased by the Trustee from the open market (either on-
market or off-market); or (i) new Shares to be allotted and
issued to the Trustee (which will hold the same on behalf of the
selected participant(s)) by the Company pursuant to the general
mandate granted by the Shareholders at the annual general
meeting of the Company from time to time, subject to the
Company’s compliance with the Listing Rules. The Trustee will
hold such Shares on behalf of the relevant selected employees
on trust, until such Shares are vested with the relevant selected
employees in accordance with the rules of the Share Incentive
Scheme.

The maximum entitlement of each participant

The maximum number of Shares which may be granted to a
selected participant under the Share Incentive Scheme in any
12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the number of the
Shares in issue.

Acceptance and vesting period

Selected participants shall sign and return the acceptance form
to the Board within such time limit as specified in the notice of
grant to accept the award.

The Share Incentive Scheme does not specify a minimum
vesting period or any amount payable on application or
acceptance of the award. Subject to the fulfilment of all vesting
conditions as determined by the Board, incentive shares shall
vest in the selected participant pursuant to the rules of the
Share Incentive Scheme.
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(6) The duration of the Share Incentive Scheme

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the
Board, the Share Incentive Scheme shall be valid and effective
for a term of ten years commencing on 31 December 2021.

As at the date of this report, the remaining life of the Share
Incentive Scheme is approximately 7 years and 9 months.

For further details of the Share Incentive Scheme, please refer
to announcement of the Company dated 31 December 2021.

The aggregate number of options and awards available for grant
under the Share Option Scheme and the Share Incentive Scheme as
at 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 is set out below:

2023 F R 2023 F
12A31H 1A1H
As at As at
31 December 1 January
2023 2023
BRETEETAIREN Number of options available for grant under
BREHA the Share Option Scheme 337,800,000 328,500,000
B S Eh st 2 N A A Number of awards available for grant under
3= the Share Incentive Scheme 179,089,575 179,089,575
ARENERERZEBE®EE  Total number of options and awards
available for grant 516,889,575 507,589,575

KN al D Bl A2019F6 A19H K 20214
12A31 BN ERER 8 R0 2B AT
2 BEZEE TEXR TFTERE
SRR TREFEBHR - XA BE
EAERWBREFEEFREEHBAN
NABEENSREBRAEREBEBRES
REMNEE EPEBSFERIE EMEE
FITEMNE T HEZESRZEETEDN
BER e

H E2023F12A31BIEFE > &M@ T
MEBEBZE AR SREEEERES
SRR HHEEETHEMAEEKRS
BT T B AR o 52 -

The Share Option Scheme and Share Incentive Scheme were
adopted by the Company on 19 June 2019 and 31 December 2021,
respectively, under which there is no minimum vesting period
stipulated in the respective schemes in relation to the grant of options
or awards. The Company will make appropriate disclosures in its
announcements and financial reports in relation to the grant of the
options or awards to Directors and senior management of the
Company, which shall include the remuneration committee’s view on
these matters as required under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, no options or awards
were granted to any Directors, senior management of the Company
or other eligible participants under the Share Option Scheme and the
Share Incentive Scheme.

77



EFERE

Directors’ Report

EERBESITRAEBEREARQFH
HEBZENRSG HERHO K
EREENEZRKXR

R2023F12A31H BEENARAIZS
THRABRARRSEEH EIE(EER
BHEREEENEXVER) WD - BER
NhREEETHREEREESF RBPEK
Bl E 352G B BN AR B EFH E LM
BREZESAME AR R REZATH
EREEARWT

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF
THE COMPANY OR ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were
required to be entered in the register kept by the Company pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, or which were otherwise required, to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code, are set out below:

RAEQAAROGRHEBRONERS Interests in Shares and underlying Shares of the Company
N HERGHE A
EE BETHRAERSE HitHE %13 & B WED WED R H S e
Number of Approximate
Name of Director/ Number of underlying percentage of
chief executive Nature of interest Shares™"  Shares™*"  shareholding™**"
HEEE(HBEED 2 REIEFEAI AT 2,822,167,839 (L) - 78.79%
Mr. Yang Jian (“Mr. Yang”)  Founder of a discretionary trust™ee2
R R 59,414,060 (L) - 1.66%
Interest of spouse™e?
BRAL s k4 EnEa A0EY — 10,000,000 (L) 0.28%
Mr. Chen Hongliang Beneficial owner™o©4
A &0 52 4 BEmEa A0E — 1,300,000 (L) 0.04%
Mr. He Jian Beneficial owner™ee

GEE

(1)  M2023F12A31H & 2 7 B # 17
3,581,791,500 & H - FHOEXR ~Z B AL
REBROSIAAERGFOTA -

2  2,822,167,839 KO B RF AR ER A R(R
f)¥5% - 2 fiChangxing International Co., Ltd.
HEE2EHA © MChangxing International Co., Ltd.
Bl f§ Changxing Pte. Ltd. & ¥4  Changxing Pte.
LA T e AR I M ERERNZTA - IRE
BHREEIRDIEXVED - 155 EWAR AR R F
BAENROPHEAESZ -
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Notes:

(1) As at 31 December 2023, the Company issued 3,581,791,500 Shares. The letter
(L) denotes the person’s long position in the relevant Shares or underlying
Shares.

@ 2,822,167,839 Shares are held by Liangzhong International Co., Ltd. (“Liangzhong”),
a company directly wholly-owned by Changxing International Co., Ltd., which is
in turn wholly-owned by Changxing Pte. Ltd. Changxing Pte. Ltd. is the trustee
of a discretionary trust set up by Mr. Yang. By virtue of Part XV of the SFO, Mr.
Yang is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Liangzhong.
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59,414,060 Shares are held under a discretionary trust set up by Ms. Xu Xiaoqun
(“Ms. Xu”). By virtue of Part XV of the SFO, Ms. Xu is deemed to be interested in
the Shares held under the trust and Mr. Yang, as the spouse of Ms. Xu, is
deemed to be interested in the same number of Shares in which Ms. Xu is
interested.

These underlying Shares in which Mr. Chen Hongliang is deemed to be
interested represent the 10,000,000 Shares which may be issued to him upon
the exercise of the share options granted to him on 7 July 2020 pursuant to the
Share Option Scheme.

These underlying Shares in which Mr. He Jian is deemed to be interested
represent the 1,300,000 Shares which may be issued to him upon the exercise
of the share options granted to him on 7 July 2020 pursuant to the Share Option
Scheme.

Interests in debentures of the Company

Nature of interest

AT
BEINEEH
Principal amount of
debentures of the
Company held

Founder of a discretionary trust!”

BEE 2REEFEEISZAD
Mr. Yang
B &E

(1) R2021%9A8 - &R A) & 17 120234 F| # &y
R RFR200E & X THI20%E £ B &
(20234 R R ) ERBR A EHm(ER
2023F4 A17THIR™) c 2 E AN FREREH
2 A - 2 B Changxing International Co.,
Ltd. & # & & # A + il Changxing International
Co., Ltd. 8] f1Changxing Pte. Ltd. & & # A&
Changxing Pte. Ltd. Jh 5 2 E I L ) 2 {2 7
AN BEFFRBERIEXNVE 15

GEEBRARNRRBENAR GRS DS
BE .
fﬁf = SCFT B %ﬁl\' 720234 12 A 31

T HEEFRARAESITHRAER
$/ T%E*EHW&.E’JHX@‘*HE@H&L@
REREFHEEEE nEEAﬁTJ? 7 & HA
BRPIE 3521 B BT ELMA IR E
R AP RIIZA ME AR ) KA P 89 1 1]
EmIOKkE o

Note:

(1)

21,000,000% 7T
uSDbD21,000,000

The 12.0% senior notes due 2023 with the aggregate principal amount of
US$200 million were issued by the Company in September 2021 (“April 2023
Notes”), which were listed on the Stock Exchange (delisted on 17 April 2023).
These debentures of the Company are held by Liangzhong, a company directly
wholly-owned by Changxing International Co., Ltd., which is in turn wholly owned
by Changxing Pte. Ltd. Changxing Pte. Ltd. is the trustee of a discretionary trust
set up by Mr. Yang. By virtue of Part XV of the SFO, Mr. Yang is deemed to be
interested in the debentures of the Company held by Liangzhong.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company had any interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of

the Company or its associated corporations, recorded in the register

required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.
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FERRREMALIREATR SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER

DREBROHNER RXR PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF
THE COMPANY

MN2023FE 12 A31H » AR R B PTA - #2 So far as is known to the Company, as at 31 December 2023, the
AKANRBIEFEAS MBS E3361KEHE folowing persons, other than a Director or chief executive of the
FELMAstsE M TAT(BESsk Company, had interest in the Shares or underlying Shares as
KAFZSITHEAEIIN) RIRMD AR  recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under

M HEBEE section 336 of the SFO:
BA
BRRERB HHE EaME BROBE W HRE DM
Approximate
Number of percentage of
Name of Shareholder Nature of interest Shares™**"  shareholding™°*e"
2 EnEAA 2,822,167,839 (L) 78.79%
Liangzhong Beneficial owner
R+ 2 RS Al AWED 59,414,060 (L) 1.66%
Ms. Xu Founder of a discretionary trust™ete2
Bic (8 4 5 2,822,167,839 (L) 78.79%
Interest of spouse™ted
Changxing International Co., Ltd. 52 3% 7K B 4 25 (1= 2,822,167,839 (L) 78.79%
Interest of controlled corporation™® 4
Changxing Pte. Ltd. R FEA MY 2,822,167,839 (L) 78.79%
Trustee™o©4
B 5E Notes:

(1)  MR2023%F12/831H: & 2 & 2 % 77 (1)  Asat 31 December 2023, the Company issued 3,581,791,500 Shares. The letter
3,581,791,500 & - FTRHLXR ~Z & AT (L) denotes the person’s long position in the relevant Shares.
REBROTHTE -

2) 59,414,060/ & D AGF L TR M EHEETE (20 59,414,060 Shares are held under a discretionary trust set up by Ms. Xu. By

o BEFHFRBERI R THEABRZ virtue of the SFO, Ms. Xu is deemed to be interested in the Shares held under
BERAFENROPHEEER - the trust.

@) HBut EABEENRE WEARBEE B Ms. Xu, as the spouse of Mr. Yang, is deemed to be interested in the same
HERRWERSENROTEEER - number of Shares in which Mr. Yang is interested.

(4) 2 & [ Changxing Interational Co., Ltd. B £ 2 (4) Liangzhong is directly wholly-owned by Changxing International Co., Ltd., which
& ¥ A - 1 Changxing International Co., Ltd. is in turn wholly-owned by Changxing Pte. Ltd. Changxing Pte. Ltd. is the trustee
F3 Changxing Pte. Ltd. & & # £ ° Changxing of a discretionary trust set up by Mr. Yang. By virtue of the SFO, Changxing Pte.
Pte. Ltd. I 15 S AU K 2 EFEZXFEA © Ltd. and Changxing International Co., Ltd. are deemed to be interested in the
1B 1% % F & B & & - Changxing Pte. Ltd. & Shares held by Liangzhong.
Changxing International Co., Ltd. # 18 & 7 2
FHERNRO P HEER -
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Company
had not been notified of any persons (other than a Director or chief
executive of the Company) who had an interest or short position in
the Shares or underlying Shares that were recorded in the register
required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the Share Option Scheme and the Share Incentive
Scheme, at no time during the year was the Company, its holding
company, or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debt securities including debentures of, the Company
or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this report and the section headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions”, no transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance in relation to which the Company, its holding
company or subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or his
connected entities had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year ended 31 December 2023.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, revenue attributable to
the Group’s largest customer amounted to approximately 0.04% of
the Group’s total revenue and the Group five largest customers in
aggregate accounted for less than 0.14% of the Group’s revenue for
the year.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, purchases attributable to
the Group’s largest supplier amounted to approximately 1.02% of the
Group’s total purchases and the Group five largest suppliers in
aggregate accounted for less than 3.54% of the Group’s total
purchase for the year.
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None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholders,
which to the knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the
Company’s issued Shares, had an interest in the share capital of any
of the five largest suppliers and customers.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company conducted
the following transactions which constitute non-exempt continuing
connected transactions (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the
Company, details of these transactions are set out below:

Design, Decoration and Outfitting Services

On 21 December 2021, the Company and Shanghai Zhongliang
Quanzhu Residential Technology Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Zhongliang
Quanzhu”) entered into a design, decoration and outfitting services
framework agreement (the “Design, Decoration and Outfitting
Services Framework Agreement”), pursuant to which Shanghai
Zhongliang Quanzhu and its subsidiaries (“Shanghai Zhongliang
Quanzhu Group”) agreed to provide the design, decoration and
outfitting services for a term commencing from 1 January 2022 and
ending on 31 December 2023 (both days inclusive).

The annual cap for the transactions contemplated under the Design,
Decoration and Outfitting Services Framework Agreement for the year
ended 31 December 2023 would be RMB400,000,000. For the year
ended 31 December 2023, the value of the services provided by
Shanghai Zhongliang Quanzhu Group to the Group was
approximately RMB Nil.

Since Mr. Yang controls more than 30% of the voting power at the
general meeting of Shanghai Zhongliang Quanzhu, and thus it is a
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules.
Accordingly, the transactions conducted under the Design,
Decoration and Outfitting Services Framework Agreement constitute
continuing connected transactions of the Company under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, all independent non-
executive Directors have reviewed and confirmed that the above
continuing connected transactions have been entered into (j) in the
ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (i) on normal
commercial terms or better; and (i) according to the relevant
agreements governing the transactions on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.
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For the purpose of Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, Ernst & Young,
the auditor of the Company, was engaged to report on the continuing
connected transactions and has provided a letter to the Board,
confirming that nothing has come to its attention that causes it to
believe that the continuing connected transactions mentioned above (i)
have not been approved by the Board; (i) were not entered into, in all
material respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing such transactions; and (i) have exceed the respective
annual cap.

Disclosure under Rule 14A.72 of the Listing Rules

Except for the aforementioned continuing connected transactions
stated under this section which would fall within the definition of
connected transactions or continuing connected transaction under
the Listing Rules, all other related party transactions taken place
during the year ended 31 December 2023 which were disclosed in
note 39 to the consolidated financial statements did not constitute
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company has
complied with applicable disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules in respect of the aforesaid transactions.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS AND TAX RELIEF

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the
laws of the Cayman lIslands, being the jurisdiction in which the
Company is incorporated under which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.

PUBLIC FLOAT

The Stock Exchange has granted the Company a public float waiver
under Rule 8.08(1)(a) of the Listing Rules to accept a lower public
float percentage of the total issued share capital of 17.06%. Details of
the waiver is set out in the section headed “Waivers from Strict
Compliance with the Listing Rules — Waiver in relation to Public
Float” of the Prospectus.

As at the date of this report, based on information that was publicly
available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors,
the Directors confirmed that the Company maintained the amount of
public float as required under the public float waiver.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board is of opinion that the Company had adopted, applied and
complied with the applicable code provisions as set out in Part 2 of
the Corporate Governance Code during the year under review.
Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company
are set out in the “Corporate Governance Report” section of this
report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out in the section headed “Five
year financial summary” on pages 243 to 244 of this report.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December 2023
are set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Articles provide that every Director is entitled to be indemnified
and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company from and
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which he may incur or sustain by reason of any act done, concurred
in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty or supposed duty
in their respective offices or trusts, except such (if any) as they shall
incur or sustain through their own fraud or dishonesty.

The Group has taken out and maintained directors’ liability insurance
for the year ended 31 December 2023, which provides appropriate
cover for the Directors. The permitted indemnity provision was in
force during the year ended 31 December 2023 and remained in
force as at the date of this report for the benefit of the Directors.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the above paragraphs headed “Share Option
Scheme” and “Share Incentive Scheme” in this section, no equity-
linked agreements were entered into during the year and subsisted at
the end of the year.
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Directors’ Report

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of any business of the Company were
entered into during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

AGM AND CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF
MEMBERS

The 2024 AGM will be convened and held on Thursday, 20 June
2024. A notice convening the AGM will be published on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website and
disseminated to the Shareholders in accordance with the
requirements of the Listing Rules in due course. For the purpose of
determining the Shareholders’ eligibility to attend, speak and vote at
the 2024 AGM, the register of members of the Company will be
closed from Monday, 17 June 2024 to Thursday, 20 June 2024, both
days inclusive, during which period no transfer of Shares will be
effected. In order to determine the identity of members who are
entitled to attend and vote at the 2024 AGM, all share transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged for registration with the Company’s branch share registrar in
Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 14
June 2024.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023 have been audited by Ernst & Young who
will retire at the 2024 AGM. Ernst & Young, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of
Ernst & Young as the auditor of the Company will be proposed at the
2024 AGM.

By order of the Board

Yang Jian
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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Ernst & Young RKEF BT Tel &% : +852 2846 9888

27/F, One Taikoo Place EBHEHEREBI7R Fax {EE: +852 2868 4432
§* 979 King's Road Koy —EE2748 ey.com

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

To the shareholders of Zhongliang Holdings Group
Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of
Zhongliang Holdings Group Company Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 90 to 242, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including material accounting policy information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the potential interaction of the
multiple uncertainties relating to going concern and their possible
cumulative effect on the consolidated financial statements as
described in the Basis for disclaimer of opinion section of our report,
it is not possible for us to form an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. In all other respects, in our opinion, the
consolidated financial statements have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern

As set out in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group recorded a net loss of RMB2,918,786,000 for the year ended
31 December 2023. As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s total
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and senior notes
amounted to RMB21,165,848,000, out of which RMB18,050,495,000
will be due for repayment within the next twelve months (including
senior notes of RMB6,564,246,000, other offshore debts of
RMB1,781,298,000 and other interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings of RMB2,249,157,000 which had not been repaid
according to their scheduled repayment dates), while its cash and
cash equivalents amounted to RMB7,238,809,000. As at 31
December 2023, the default of certain interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings triggered certain long term interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings amounting to RMB533,475,000 becoming
repayable on demand. As stipulated in the announcement dated 20
March 2024, the offshore debts restructuring was effective on 20
March 2024, the default senior notes and other default offshore debts
were all exchanged into new offshore senior notes, new offshore
convertible bonds or new offshore loans with longer maturity which
partially relieved the Group’s liquidity pressure. The aforesaid
conditions, together with other matters set out in note 2.1 to the
consolidated financial statements, indicate the existence of material
uncertainties which cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern.
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The directors of the Company have been undertaking measures to
improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position, which are set out
in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements. The validity of
the going concern assumption on which the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared depends on the outcome of these
measures, which are subject to multiple uncertainties including
whether the Company can (i) successfully negotiate with the Group’s
existing debt holders for the renewal or extension for repayment of
the Group’s bank and other borrowings; (iij successfully secure
project development loans for qualified project development in a
timely manner; (i) successfully obtain additional new sources of
financing as and when needed; (iv) successfully carry out the Group’s
business strategy plan including the acceleration of the sales of
properties; (v) successfully implement measures to speed up the
collection of outstanding sales proceeds and effectively control costs
and expenses; (vi) successfully manage the payments to construction
contractors and other development vendors; and (vii) successfully
dispose of the Group’s equity interests in project development
companies when suitable.

As a result of these multiple uncertainties, their potential interaction,
and the possible cumulative effect thereof, we were unable to form
an opinion as to whether the going concern basis of preparation is
appropriate. Should the Group fail to achieve the above-mentioned
measures, it might not be able to continue to operate as a going
concern, and adjustments would have to be made to write down the
carrying values of the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts,
to provide for any further liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify
non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and
current liabilities, respectively. The effects of these adjustments have
not been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”)
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and to issue an auditor’s report. We report
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. However, because of the matters
described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report,
it is not possible for us to form an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is SIU FUNG TERENCE HO.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

28 March 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

H = 2023412 431 B I F & Year ended 31 December 2023

2023 F 2022 F
2023 2022
s AR¥TR AR®ET T
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
-
A REVENUE 5 66,615,080 39,329,414
& AR Cost of sales (63,430,455) (35,827,719)
EX GROSS PROFIT 3,184,625 3,501,695
H A RS Other income and gains 5 95,503 362,883
HE MY HERX Selling and distribution expenses (896,566) (1,642,922)
TR X Administrative expenses (1,252,796) (1,597,314)
SREAERMEERE - F%  Impairment losses on financial assets, net 6 (422,772) (475,073)
Hi Other expenses (890,817) (927,340)
REMEANTFEERE Fair value losses on investment properties 14 (102,575) (7,921)
BATFEFAEBZEBEE  Fair value gains/(losses) on financial
BEMATFERZ assets at fair value through profit or loss
(B#E) 2,736 (165,403)
g Finance income 69,100 246,820
Bl & B AR Finance costs 7 (310,492) (397,178)
FEARFE K B8 Share of profits and losses of:
BEDE Joint ventures 599,529 518,863
/NI Associates 322,625 348,130
BRI, (B518) PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 6 398,100 (234,760)
FriSf A X Income tax expense 10 (3,316,886) (1,386,479)
FABE LOSS FOR THE YEAR (2,918,786) (1,621,239)
AT AT EAS - Attributable to:
UNEIE 2N Owners of the parent (4,245,658) (1,346,384)
JEE R R Non-controlling interests 1,326,872 (274,855)
(2,918,786) (1,621,239)
BATREBEZEEAA LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
BiEEREE ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF
THE PARENT
EXRESE Basic and diluted
—FERNEE — For loss for the year AR#1.22)t AR#(0.39)7T
12 RMB(1.22) RMB(0.39)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

#H = 2023912 831 B [F FE Year ended 31 December 2023

2023 F 2022 4
2023 2022
AR®ET AR T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
FREE LOSS FOR THE YEAR (2,918,786)  (1,621,239)
REZBEAIEEFHE Other comprehensive loss that may be
ZEGZEMEEEIE reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent
periods:
PEH =7 Exchange differences:
MEGINEBREEZELEZE Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations (9,275) (60,031)
REZEBAIEEF DB Net other comprehensive loss that may be
EEBZEMTHEHEE TR reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent
periods (9,275) (60,031)
FREMEZEES OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR
HBRBLE THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (9,275) (60,031)
FALXHEBEATE TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR
THE YEAR (2,928,061) (1,681,270)
AT AL Attributable to:
SHNEIEZ FCWN Owners of the parent (4,254,933) (1,406,415)
eI IS #E o Non-controlling interests 1,326,872 (274,855)

(2,928,061) (1,681,270

e
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20234 12 A 31 H 31 December 2023

B 3
Notes

2023%F
2023
AR¥TR
RMB’000

2022 F
2022
ARBETT
RMB’000

A e

kRBEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS
ME - WENLEE Property, plant and equipment 13 34,309 60,487
EREEE Right-of-use assets 16 4,055 40,713
WEYE Investment properties 14 1,508,800 1,543,700
HihmEEE Other intangible assets 15 1,198 5,251
REEhENKE Investments in joint ventures 17 5,333,585 4,667,553
B é;* NAERKRE Investments in associates 18 14,824,400 16,828,180
B IE & B Deferred tax assets 19 1,569,841 2,936,545
ERBEERE Total non-current assets 23,276,188 26,082,429
REBEE CURRENT ASSETS
BEAFEFTABZH Financial assets at fair value through profit

TREE or loss 20 37,002 34,266
EEYE Properties under development 21 69,283,257 112,418,842
HIEHE E’\] E TIYE Completed properties held for sale 22 26,440,141 24,696,306
g 5 WK Trade receivables 23 7,857 7,751
JFE LAt A g ’A RIE Due from related companies 39 10,700,345 13,344,135
ENMZIEEHE ﬁﬂ FE W 3k Prepayments and other receivables 24 38,170,206 41,625,083
BRI EERE Tax recoverable 2,190,509 3,024,078
e MIRIT A B Cash and bank balances 25 10,662,500 16,585,989
MEEERE Total current assets 157,491,817 211,736,450
REBAE CURRENT LIABILITIES
EH5EMNFERENZEE  Trade and bills payables 26 25,614,187 21,019,046
HMENZIBERLESER Other payables and accruals 27 23,390,513 24,515,740
HEAE Lease liabilities 16 2,752 21,410
EREE Contract liabilities 28 65,018,077 113,837,210
J"E Sl NGRS Due to related companies 39 14,633,537 16,653,749
FrEIRITRHE ﬁﬂ (EE Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 29 11,486,249 11,341,143
JE B 7t 18 Tax payable 10 4,011,904 2,863,201
ISR G QS Provision for financial guarantee contracts 30 409,596 236,839
BRER Senior notes 31 6,564,246 6,501,799
mBaER Total current liabilities 151,131,061 196,990,137
REBEEFRE NET CURRENT ASSETS 6,360,756 14,746,313
EEHERRBASR TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT

LIABILITIES 29,636,944 40,828,742
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
2023412 A 31 H 31 December 2023

2023 2022 4
2023 2022
s AR%®FTx ARBT T
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
kRBEE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
FREIRIT R HEAMER Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 29 3,115,353 8,892,210
HEAE Lease liabilities 16 1,376 24,066
ELEFRIEAE Deferred tax liabilities 19 121,225 538,328
FERBEELR Total non-current liabilities 3,237,954 9,454,604
EEFE NET ASSETS 26,398,990 31,374,138
= EQUITY
BAREEAEGER Equity attributable to owners of
the parent
A% X Share capital 32 31,450 31,450
i Reserves 34 6,858,008 11,080,374
6,889,458 11,111,824
FIERER Non-controlling interests 19,509,532 20,262,314
R TOTAL EQUITY 26,398,990 31,374,138
.
Mr. Chen Hongliang Mr. Yau Sze Ka
EF EF
Director Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

#H = 2023412 431 B I F £ Year ended 31 December 2023

BAREAAEL
Attributable to owners of the parent
B# Af % EEER BRE HERD FER ER
B WM e 1 1 #E  REAE 1 ast B ag
Statutory Share Exchange Non-
Share Share Merger Capital surplus option Retained  fluctuation controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve profits reserve Total interests equity

ARETR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARETRT ARETR ARETR ARETR AR%TR AR¥TR
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
W82  MiEs4(a) KiiE4b)  KHiE34d)  HiE34() W33 K 34(e)

Note 32  Note34(a) Note34(b) Note34(d) Note 34(c) Note 33 Note 34(e)

7202351 A1H Asat 1 January 2023

FRER Loss for the year
EREMPEBRE:  Other comprehensive loss
for the year:
BERNEBESE Exchange differences on
ZEXEE translation of foreign
operations

ENZEEBREAE  Total comprehensive loss for

the year
WBARFEAEBERE  Capital contribution from
Mg non-controling
shareholders of
subsidiaries
FERERD Capital reduction of
WEARHE subsidiaries from

non-controling interests

BAHERKEEE| Partial disposal of equity

ENREAR interests in subsidaries
Mt without losing control
W RS Acquisition of non-controling
interests
KEKBAR Acquisition of subsidiaries
INER B HBARE  Equity-settled share option
ZH arangements
ETERBEERS  Appropriations to statutory
surplus reserve
MEERERE RN  Dividends declared to
fz & non-controling interests
HERBAA Disposal of subsidiaries

M2003%12 8310 Asat 31 December 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
#H 2= 2023F 12 A31 H 1k % [ Year ended 31 December 2023

NEHEAER
Attributable to owners of the parent
&3 X BR  EEEB#H B e iRk Bz
B EE B fEt fet % RENH fEtE @z i 2%
Statutory Share Exchange Non-
Share Share Merger Capital surplus option Retained  fluctuation controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve profits reserve Total interests equity

ARETR ARETT ARRTR ARETR ARMTI ARETR ARETR ARETR ARBTR ARETI ARETZ
RVMBOOO  RMBOOO ~ RMB'OOD  RMBOO0  RMB'000  RMB'OO0  RMBOOD  RMB000  RMB'OOD  RMBO00  RMB'000

W32 MiEEsde)  MEs4p) WS4 WS4 Miztas M3E34()
Note32  Note34(a)  Note34(b)  Note34(d)  Note 34(c) Note 33 Note 34(e)
R2022E1A1H As at 1 January 2022 31,450 2,672,435 3138 7844 1,902,176 22,029 7,296,898 209011 11,964,981 23,517,881 35,482,862
EREER Loss for the year - - - - - - (1,346,384) - (1,346,384) (274,855)  (1,621,239)
EREMPEFE:  Other comprehensive loss
for the year:
RESNEBE Exchange differences on
EYERER translation of foreign
operations - - - - - - - (60,031) (60,031) - (60,031)
ERNZEEELE  Total comprehensive loss for
the year - - - - - — (1348384  (0031) (1406415 (74855 (16881270)
W@ AR JEEAR AR Capital contribution from
A non-controling
shareholders of
subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - 504,438 504,438
FERERS Capital reduction of
WEARHE subsidiaries from
non-controling interests - - - - - - - - —  (1,745,098) (1,745,098)
BHHERKANS  Partial disposal of equity
ENHBAR interests in subsidiaries
g without losing control - - - (84,550) - - - - (84,550) 129,988 45,438
W IR ER Acquisition of non-controling
interests - - - 90,215 - - - - 90,215 (1,119,145)  (1,028,930)
8 EH Cancellation of dividend - - - - - - 551,595 - 551,595 - 551,595
MEREENERE Equity-settled share option
R arrangements - - - - - (4,002) - - (4,002) - (4,002)
EERSEEES  Appropriations to statutory
surplus reserve - - - - 273,931 - (273,931) - - - -
AR E R4 Dividends paid to
[35) non-controling interests - - - - - - - - - (528,468)  (528,468)
HERBAR Disposal of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - (2421)  (222,427)
2022512 A31H  Asat31 December 2022 31450 2,672,435 3,138" 13,609 2,176,107 18,027 6,228,178" (81,020 11,111,824 20,262,314 31,374,138
* ZERBREREREGAUBEMRARZGEEARHE These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of
B A R #6,858,008,0007C (20224 : A R ¥ RMB6,858,008,000 (2022: RMB11,080,374,000) in the consolidated statement
11,080,374,0007T) ° of financial position.
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H = 2023412 431 B I F & Year ended 31 December 2023

2023 2022 F
2023 2022
sz AR%¥®FrR ARETR
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
.
BRETHESRE CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
AT FE, (B18) Profit/(loss) before tax 6 398,100 (234,760)
MUATEERARE Adjustments for:
ME BELAREEBEERTE Depreciation of items of property, plant and
equipment 6, 13 30,956 31,395
B ER EEEE Amortisation of other intangible assets 6, 15 9,879 9,859
BEEMERRNRESE Impairment losses recognised for properties
under development 6, 21 2,008,965 1,137,910
BREELNENE T IME Impairment losses recognised for completed
BERAREEE properties held for sale 6, 22 750,890 540,536
HREREERANREER Impairment losses recognised for financial
assets 422,722 475,073
[ B 18 55 Exchange loss, net 6 176,375 591,416
MBERENBEE Changes in provision for financial guarantee
contracts 6 169,230 (1,867)
YEyE BENLEIEB Gain on disposal of items of property, plant and
sz equipment
iy 3% 6 (474) (954)
S B A A BB (W Loss/(gain) on disposal of subsidiaries 6, 36 123,680 (280,564)
HEALENERBEN T Loss on disposal of joint ventures and
BE associates 6 173,630 66,769
BHEECEMNBEREE Share of profits and losses of joint ventures (599,529) (518,863)
FEAGEE DR A E R EE Share of profits and losses of associates (322,625) (348,130)
BREWENFEEZE Changes in fair value of investment properties 14 102,575 7,921
BATEFABZHNERH Fair value (gains)/losses on financial assets at
BEEMATEMER), BB fair value through profit or loss (2,736) 165,403
FRESERE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 16 39,962 43,921
AR A Finance costs 7 310,492 397,178
A& Wk Finance income (69,100) (246,820)
DiEatEmERER Equity-settled share option expense 33 (4,666) (4,002)
3,718,376 1,831,421
EEMERBELED Decrease in properties under development and
BERIWERD completed properties held for sale 38,299,043 14,197,172
TET B R E A FE UL B 4 Decrease/(increase) in prepayments and
(1) other receivables 2,077,850 (2,746,000)
= PR 4138 {f (g, (Increase)/decrease in restricted cash 25 (1,569,465) 3,729,715
BEMEY 57 TR Decrease in pledged deposits 25 128,037 713,100
Z 5 W FRIBE M Increase in trade receivables (106) 2,512)
BHRENFIBNMENZHEEN  Increase in trade and bills payables 26 4,887,102 45,594
Hh e RIEREFE R (Decease)/increase in other payables
(R A),/ 1 and accruals (1,181,605) 937,529
EHEERD Decrease in contract liabilities (48,250,067) (6,069,938)
& 1< B B & B SR IB R A Decrease in amounts due to related companies - (168,069)
EEMERSE Cash generated from operations (1,890,835) 12,468,012
2 KA 8 Interest received 71,970 242,295
BEMEE Tax paid (375,860) (1,762,640

RESEB(FTR),/FBHEELAKE Netcash flows (used in)/generated from
i operating activities (2,194,725) 10,947,597

I
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#H = 2023912 831 B [F F E Year ended 31 December 2023

2023 & 2022 F

2023 2022

izt AR®TR ARBTT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

e

RETZHRESRE CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
BEME HEMEBESE Purchases of items of property, plant and
equipment 13 (5,253) (6,784)
EEHEMEREE Purchases of other intangible assets 15 (5,826) (8,924)
Y ﬁﬁ BAFETABZEMNER  Acquisition of financial assets at fair value through
& E profit or loss - (31,832
MU R A TR AR Disposal of financial assets at fair value through
EREE profit or loss - 43,750
HEWE  BENEE Disposal of property, plant and equipment 13 849 2,159
RELPERBENATIMNIEZEE  Investments in joint ventures and associates (431,655) (544,830)
HERKBRRMIKTE Disposal of investments in subsidiaries 36 (101,738) 183,116
HERGELENEZ NAFH  Disposal of investments in joint ventures and
®E associates 168,442 1,238,371
Yo B B /B 2 7] Acquisition of subsidiaries (113,438) -
EEPERBENTRE Capital reduction from joint ventures and
associates 253,081 888,771
WEIRBAELME L2 NAH Dividend received from joint ventures and
gy associates 999,314 522,141
BEREME Purchases of investment properties 14 (67,675) (141,421)
ElL NG ELEN Advances to related companies 39 (2,173,771) (8,206,106)
EBEREBATBRR Repayment of advances to related companies 39 4,332,552 7,303,539
BRETBMERERE Net cash flows generate from
FEE investing activities 2,854,882 1,241,950
METHRERE CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
BB AR EERBZERAGTE Capital contribution from non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries 408,993 504,438
PEE ) NI Advances from related companies 39 1,669,973 5,281,079
EEK B AR BN Repayment of advances from related companies 39 (3,690,185) (7,415,417)
[REELVER R Decrease in pledged deposits - 500,000
THEEAE Payment of lease liabilities 16 (45,325) (42,948)
ERF A Interest paid (653,510) (1,520,139)
W B IE 128 e 2 Acquisition of non-controlling interests (13,951) -
[r) FF 122 R AR 3R A+ 9 AR B, Dividends distribution to non-controlling
shareholders (69,253) (528,468)
FEREENHBLBRE Capital reduction of subsidiaries from
non-controlling interests (604,549) (765,098)
% SHERKEIEHIENNE  Partial disposal of equity interests in subsidiaries
NGIlE without losing control 26,265 45,438
= 3% BELEEE Repayment of senior notes - (1,223,220)
gt B IRT R AMER New interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 849,354 3,388,262
BEEERRBAH(LEZRE  Repayment of proceeds from asset-backed
securitisations - (320,000)
BEFERTLEMER Repayment of interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings (5,903,007) (15,783,817)
METHMARSRETE Net cash flows used in financing activities (8,025,195)  (17,879,890)

I
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
H Z=2023F 12 A31 H |E £ & Year ended 31 December 2023

2023 & 20224

2023 2022

izt AR®TR ARBTT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

-

RERBREEEYRDERE NET DECREASE IN CASH AND

CASH EQUIVALENTS (7,365,038) (5,690,343)
FNRERREFEY Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 14,603,726 20,281,011
By EFHE Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net 121 13,058
ERESRESEEY CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

AT END OF YEAR 7,238,809 14,608,726

RERBEEEBNERIN ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

B MIRTTHE Cash and bank balances 25 10,662,500 16,585,989
B XREIRE Less: Restricted cash 25 3,329,850 1,760,385
BHEMER Pledged deposits 25 93,841 221,878
BEeRERAMIEESR CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AS STATED
HEeEEY IN THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 7,238,809 14,603,726

e
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KRR —ZFXRASHESTMMX
UWERRE AR NAREMPEE
BE #b #F 190 Elgin Avenue, George
Town, Grand Cayman, KY1-9008,
Cayman Islands °

FR AEBFEREMERE
MEHEARREHREEBBRS

EERR ARAANRKERRAF

7= Changxing International Co., Ltd. °

RA 5 80 R P o

Notes to Financial Statements

20234 12 A 31 B 31 December 2023

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

The Company is an exempted company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands. The registered office address of the Company
is 190 Elgin Avenue, George Town, Grand Cayman, KY1-9008,
Cayman Islands.

During the year, the Group was principally involved in property
development, property leasing and management consulting
services.

In the opinion of the directors, the ultimate holding company of
the Company is Changxing International Co., Ltd.

WELTER Information about subsidiaries
RKABFTEWBAABEIEFHY Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out
T below:
TEMARL BRTLE/ KRR
1 EMREEBE FERBRA(F ) REBAL FEER
Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
Place of incorporation/ registered share  equity attributable
Name registration and business capital (‘000) to the Company  Principal activities
EREE:
Directly held:
ERRERRAT EERAES £7050 100.00% & &EER
Ample Sino Investment Limited British Virgin Islands US$50 Investment holding
FREBERERAA RERTHE E 750 100.00% ®REER
Zhongliang International Development Company Limited British Virgin Islands USs$50 Investment holding
BELE:
Indirectly held:
FBRRCEERBERAA REARKME(HE]),/ ARH 100.00% REER
RE A 3,330,000
Shanghai Zhongliang Enterprise Development Co., Ltd. People’s Republic of China RMB3,330,000 Investment holding
(“PRC")/Chinese Mainland
EEPRMGEEERAA R/ HE R AE®10,000 100.00% ¥
Xunyi Zhongliang Kunyi Property Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB10,000 Property development
TRREEZEFARAA HEL/ R A K #90,000 100.00% ¥ERE
Ankang Liangsheng Jiye Property Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB90,000 Property development
RETRECEEEXABTRAA RE/ R E R AR 125,000 100.00% % B
Jieshou Liangsheng Enterprise Management Consulting PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB125,000 Property development
Co., Ltd.
MEREEEERDA RE/RENM AR 50,000 100.00% ¥ %
Henan Lianglong Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000 Property development
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1. 2AREEEHMm 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(Continued)

Bt B N 3 & B (&) Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
KRB ETEMNBRAWNFBER? Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out
W (&) below: (Continued)

HEMK L/ BRITLE/ AAFEL
&% AMREE Y i BA(F ) REESL TEER

Issued ordinary/ Percentage of

Place of incorporation/ registered share  equity attributable

Name registration and business capital (‘000) to the Company  Principal activities
B#REE: (8)

Indirectly held: (Continued)

RERERRAF EE 771008 100.00% HEER

Liangyi Investment Co., Ltd. Hong Kong HK$0.08 Investment holding
ARV EXRERAF REL/ R R AE#10,000 100.00% HEER

Shanghai Liangtong Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB10,000 Investment holding
FREBEEERDA RE/RENM AR 10,000 100.00% BEER

Shanghai Cijin Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB10,000 Investment holding
HIRHEEERAA RE/REN AR 50,000 100.00% HAER

Zhejiang Liangcheng Property Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000 Investment holding
FERHEXERARA B/ R AR 10,000 100.00% HEER

Shanghai Tiandu Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB10,000 Investment holding
BRYZEHEREERAT RE /BRI AR 50,000 100.00% BEZK

Fujian Zhongliang Real Estate Development Limited PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000 Investment holding
TEREERELENERAA RE/RER AR 700,000 100.00% HEZR

Shanghai Liangzhuo Business Information Consulting Co.,Ltd. ~ PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB700,000 Investment holding
ERERERAR % 10 100.00% & & ER

Heng Rong Co., Ltd. Hong Kong HK$10 Investment holding
REREFRAA RERAES AR50 100.00% REER
Liangheng Investment Company Limited British Virgin Islands RMB50 Investment holding
BWREERAT EE 7 720.001 100.00% HEZR

Yangna Investment Co., Limited Hong Kong HK$0.001 Investment holding
ERTRREEERAA RE/RERL A E®50,000 9.07% MERE

Ningbo Liangjin Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000 Property development
MNEREEBERDA RE /BRI AR 50,000 93.32% MEEE
Hangzhou Shichen Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000 Property development
EHRERHERERRDA RE/HER AR #50,000 80.13% MERE

Wuxi Liangxing Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000 Property development
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1. 2AREEEHMm 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(Continued)

Bt B N 3 & B (&) Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
KRB ETEMNBRAWNFBER? Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out
W (&) below: (Continued)

HEMK L/ BRITLE/ AAFEL
% AMREE Y FEfBA(F ) REESL TEER

Issued ordinary/ Percentage of

Place of incorporation/ registered share  equity attributable

Name registration and business capital (‘000) to the Company  Principal activities

B#EE: (&)

Indirectly held: (Continued)

BEERRCEXERFNERLA B/ E R AR 130,000 86.62% WEFIE

Ningguo Liangci Enterprise Management Consulting Co., Ltd.  PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB130,000 Property development

BNTRREELER DA RE/RERL AR 50,000 84.81% MEFE

Yinchuan Liangchen Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000 Property development

AETREREEBRAA hE/REN AR 50,000 77.00% EREE

Nanyang Zhongliang Chengtong Property Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000 Property development

ERRREXERAA RE/RENL AR 100,000 72.78% WERE

Jinan Liang'an Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB100,000 Property development

REOKEFARAF B/ R AR 20,000 7082% MEME

Shaoxing Shicheng Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB20,000 Property development

BEENHERBERAA B/ R AR 925,700 70.00% ¥R

Qingdao Wenyang Development Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB925,700 Property development

SHARMEFRD A HE/RENL AR 55,000 65.00% #EFI%E

Ezhou Liangtai Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB55,000 Property development

BRILAKEEERZAFRDA RE/E R AR 50,000 64.37% MERE

Maanshan Liangyong Enterprise Management Consulting Co.,  PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000 Property development
Ltd.

BEMRBHEEERAR hE/HERL AR 20,000 64.00% ¥R

Sugian Liangxiwang Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB20,000 Property development

IERHEXERDA RE/RE R AR 300,000 60.00% #ERIE

Jiangyin Liangrui Property Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB300,000 Property development

BKTREELERAA A/ BB AR 50,000 57.37% MEHE

Lishui Liangding Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000 Property development

BNRABEEXBERAF RE/RENL AR 20,000 51.00% ¥

Xuzhou Liangdu Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB20,000 Property development

TESNEBEHEREERAA hE/HERL AR 20,000 51.00% W%

Yuxi Jinke Junhui Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB20,000 Property development
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1. 2AREEEHMm 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(Continued)

Bt B N 3 & B (&) Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
KRB ETEMNBRAWNFBER? Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out
W (&) below: (Continued)

HEMK L/ BRITLE/ AAFEL
&% AMREE Y i BA(F ) REESL TEER

Issued ordinary/ Percentage of

Place of incorporation/ registered share  equity attributable

Name registration and business capital (‘000) to the Company  Principal activities

B#REE: (8)

Indirectly held: (Continued)

BNEREHEREERAT R/ HERL AR 50,000 51.00% W%

Suzhou Zhuojun Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000 Property development

BINTRHELFRAD AT RE/RE R AR 50,000 4782% MERE

Yinchuan Liangcheng Real Estate Co., Ltd."®" PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000 Property development

BTPRREMBEERERA A RE/RE R AR 50,000 4756% MEREE

Nanping Zhongliang Mingmen Real Estate Co., Ltd.\*" PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000 Property development

FEAHBEEERAFE RE/ PR AR #50,000 47.34% MERE

Sugjian Liangyue Real Estate Co., Ltd."*" PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000 Property development

ERTHREEEFRAE R/ HERL AR 50,000 45.24% WEFE

Bengbu Ruilong Real Estate Co., Ltd.\*" PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000 Property development

EHRFCEERTAERATTE RE /BRI AR 50,000 44.78% MERE

Wuhu Liangrui Enterprise Management Consulting Co., Ltd."*®'  PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000 Property development

EMWEREERRD A RE/ BRI AR 50,000 41.00% MEHE

Changzhou Honghe Real Estate Co., Ltd. " PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000 Property development

TETRESEHERAF RE/ PR AR 285,000 39.74% MEHE

Shangrao Chende Real Estate Co., Ltd. """ PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB285,000 Property development

EaEREHEREERARE R/ HERL AR 35,000 39.22% R

Yantai Weicheng Real Estate Development Limited" PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB35,000 Property development

EERRRGEHEREERA A RE /BRI AR 100,000 36.70% MEMFE

Chongging Liangcheng Chengyang Real Estate Development  PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB100,000 Property development
GO., Ltd'NoteW

RRERRFHEREARATT RE /BRI AR 61,000 34.00% MEREE

Zhangjiagang Dongjun Real Estate Development Co., Ltd."*®'  PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB61,000 Property development

METREEHMEFRAA RE/RENM AR 100,000 3170% PEEE

Rugao Hongxin Real Estate Co., Ltd."" PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB100,000 Property development

REMHEERNEREFRA R RE/RE R AR #20,000 2393% MERE

Tai'an New City Hongjing Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB20,000 Property development

Note 1
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Notes to Financial Statements
2023412 A 31 H 31 December 2023

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out
below: (Continued)

Note 1: As the Group has exposure or rights to variable returns from its
involvement with those companies, and has the ability to affect those
returns through its majority voting position and the existing rights to
direct the relevant activities including but not limited to the budget,
pricing and promotion strategies of these companies, the Group has
control over these companies and these companies are thus accounted
for as subsidiaries of the Group.

The English names of the companies registered in Chinese
Mainland referred to above in this note represent management’s
best efforts in translating the Chinese names of those
companies as no English names have been registered or are
available. The legal forms of all the above disclosed principal
subsidiaries are limited liability companies.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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2.1
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2.1

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) (which
include all standards and interpretations, International
Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and Standing Interpretations
Committee interpretation) approved by the International
Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They
have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for investment properties, financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) and other financial liabilities
which have been measured at fair value. These financial
statements are presented in Renminbi (‘RMB”) and all values
are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2023. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights
results in control. When the Company has, less than a majority
of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@)

the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.
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Notes to Financial Statements
2023412 A 31 H 31 December 2023

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the
related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-controlling
interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises
the fair value of any investment retained and any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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Going Concern Basis

The Group recorded a net loss of RMB2,918,786,000 for the
year ended 31 December 20283. As at 31 December 2023, the
Group’s total interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and
senior notes amounted to RMB21,165,848,000, out of which
RMB18,050,495,000 will be due for repayment within the next
twelve months (including senior notes of RMB6,564,246,000,
other offshore debts of RMB1,781,298,000 and other interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings of RMB2,249,157,000
which had not been repaid according to their scheduled
repayment dates), while its cash and cash equivalents
amounted to RMB7,238,809,000. As at 31 December 2023,
the default of certain interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings triggered certain long term interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings amounting to RMB533,475,000
becoming repayable on demand.

The Company has been exploring a holistic solution for its
offshore debts since 2022, and schemes for the holistic solution
came into effect on 20 March 2024 with all conditions satisfied
under the holistic solution, as a result, all outstanding scheme
debts including the Company’s default senior notes with an
aggregate amount of principal of RMB6,564,246,000 and
interest of RMB834,295,000 and other default offshore debts
with an aggregate amount of principal of RMB1,781,299,000
and interest of RMB479,258,000 were cancelled and all
guarantees in connection with the scheme debts were released.
New convertible bonds and new senior notes were issued, new
facility agreement was signed and became effective in
accordance with their terms, and maturity date is 3.5 years from
1 January 2024, with mandatory redemption on specified dates
no earlier than 1 January 2025. For more details, please refer to
the announcements of the Company dated 13 November 2022,
22 November 2022, 17 February 2023, 1 June 2023, 16 July
2023, 14 August 2023, 4 September 2023, 20 November
2023, 18 December 2023, 11 January 2024, 16 January 2024,
9 February 2024, 23 February 2024, 18 March 2024 and 20
March 2024 in relation to, among other things, the holistic
solution and the scheme. Taking the above into consideration,
the Group’s total interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
amounted to RMB9,704,950,000 will be due for repayment
within the next twelve months from 31 December 2023.
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Going Concern Basis (Continued)

The above conditions indicate the existence of material
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt over the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. In view of such
circumstances, the directors of the Company have undertaken
a number of plans and measures to improve the Group’s
liquidity and financial position, including:

(@ the Group has been actively negotiating with the Group’s
existing debt holders to seek renewal or extension for
repayment of the Group’s bank and other borrowings;

(b) the Group will continue to actively communicate with
banks to secure relevant project development loans for
qualified project development in a timely manner;

(c) the Group will continue to seek other alternative financing
and borrowings to finance the settlement of its existing
financial obligations and future operating and capital
expenditures;

(d) the Group has prepared a business strategy plan focusing
on the acceleration of the sales of properties;

(e) the Group has implemented measures to speed up the
collection of outstanding sales proceeds and effectively
control costs and expenses;

()  the Group will continue to negotiate with construction
contractors and other development vendors to manage
payment schedules; and

(99 the Group will continue to seek suitable opportunities to
dispose of its equity interests in certain project
development companies in order to generate additional
cash inflows.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that, taking into
account the above plans and measures, the Group will have
sufficient working capital to finance its operations and meet its
financial obligations as and when they fall due within the following
twelve months from 31 December 2023. Accordingly, the
directors of the Company are satisfied that it is appropriate to
prepare the consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2023 on a going concern basis.
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2.1.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Going Concern Basis (Continued)

Notwithstanding the above, significant uncertainties exist as to
whether the management of the Group will be able to
implement the aforementioned plans and measures. Whether
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern will
depend upon the Group’s ability to generate adequate financing
and operating cash flows through the following:

(i) successfully negotiating with the Group’s existing debt
holders for the renewal or extension for repayment of the
Group’s bank and other borrowings;

(i)  successfully securing project development loans for
qualified project development in a timely manner;

successfully obtaining additional new sources of financing
as and when needed;

successfully carrying out the Group’s business strategy
plan including the acceleration of the sales of properties;

successfully implementing measures to speed up the
collection of outstanding sales proceeds and effectively
control costs and expenses;

(vi) successfully manage the payments to construction
contractors and other development vendors; and

(vii) successfully disposing of the Group’s equity interests in
project development companies when suitable.

Should the Group be unable to operate as a going concern,
adjustments may have to be made to write down the carrying
values of assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any
further liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify non-current
assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current
liabilities, respectively. The effect of these adjustments has not
been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
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22 B HREHRFE 2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

AEEBECRAFERBHRERT AR The Group has adopted the following new and revised IFRSs

MT Y] RSB B B 75 3 5 for the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

AR o

B BmE REEAH IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
HERIE75R

et R IR #E Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
5B 15% K B BT and IFRS Practice
B 1S ¥R 2 Statement 2
AlEBAE
F25 IR

BRaitER @A TEE Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates
F8IHIERT

BastEl HE-—QXZELZ Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
F125 8 BERABEHBZ Liabilities arising from a Single
ZH) BT Transaction

BREstER EEREKKE — Amendments to IAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar
F125 8 S ZUEER Two Model Rules
Bal

109



C REERMERAI2sEEE
A I R EE

Notes to Financial Statements
2023412 A 31 H 31 December 2023

2.2. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)
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The nature and the impact of the new and revised IFRSs that
are applicable to the Group are described below:

(@)

Amendments to IAS 1 require entities to disclose their
material accounting policy information rather than their
significant accounting policies. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together with
other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general-purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements. Amendments to IFRS Practice Statement 2
Making Materiality Judgements provide non-mandatory
guidance on how to apply the concept of materiality to
accounting policy disclosures. The Group has disclosed
the material accounting policy information in note 2 to the
financial statements. The amendments did not have any
impact on the measurement, recognition or presentation
of any items in the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in
accounting policies. Accounting estimates are defined as
monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject
to measurement uncertainty. The amendments also clarify
how entities use measurement techniques and inputs to
develop accounting estimates. Since the Group’s
approach and policy align with the amendments, the
amendments had no impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction narrow the
scope of the initial recognition exception in IAS 12 so that
it no longer applies to transactions that give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences, such as
leases and decommissioning obligations. Therefore,
entities are required to recognise a deferred tax asset
(provided that sufficient taxable profit is available) and a
deferred tax liability for temporary differences arising from
these transactions.

The Group has early applied the amendments on
temporary differences related to leases. Upon initial
application of these amendments, the Group recognised (i)
a deferred tax asset for all deductible temporary
differences associated with lease liabilities (provided that
sufficient taxable profit is available), and (i) a deferred tax
liability for all taxable temporary differences associated
with right-of-use assets, with cumulative effect recognised
as an adjustment to the balances of retained profits and
non-controlling interests at that date. The amendments
did not have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar
Two Model Rules introduce a mandatory temporary
exception from the recognition and disclosure of deferred
taxes arising from the implementation of the Pillar Two
model rules published by the Organisation for Economic
Co-operation and Development. The amendments also
introduce disclosure requirements for the affected entities
to help users of the financial statements better understand
the entities’ exposure to Pillar Two income taxes, including
the disclosure of current tax related to Pillar Two income
taxes separately in the periods when Pillar Two legislation
is effective and the disclosure of known or reasonably
estimable information of their exposure to Pillar Two
income taxes in periods in which the legislation is enacted
or substantively enacted but not yet in effect. The Group
has applied the amendments retrospectively. Since the
Group did not fall within the scope of the Pillar Two model
rules, the amendments did not have any impact to the
Group.
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The Group has not applied the following revised IFRSs, that
have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial
statements. The Group intends to apply these revised IFRSs, if
applicable, when they become effective.

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28

Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback’

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current

(the “2020 Amendments”)’

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)’

Amendments to IAS 7 and  Supplier Finance Arrangements’

IFRS 7

Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025
3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
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2.3.ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs

(Continued)

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below:

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in IFRS 10 and in IAS 28 in dealing
with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and
its associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full
recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a downstream
transaction when the sale or contribution of assets constitutes a
business. For a transaction involving assets that do not
constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to
the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate
or joint venture. The amendments are to be applied
prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date of
amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 was removed by the IASB.
However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to IFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-
lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale and
leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does not
recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right
of use it retains. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be
applied retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions
entered into after the date of initial application of IFRS 16 (i.e., 1
January 2019). Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.
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The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current, including what is meant by a
right to defer settlement and that a right to defer must exist at
the end of the reporting period. Classification of a liability is
unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right
to defer settlement. The amendments also clarify that a liability
can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that only if a
conversion option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for
as an equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact
its classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify that,
among covenants of a liability arising from a loan arrangement,
only those with which an entity must comply on or before the
reporting date affect the classification of that liability as current
or non-current. Additional disclosures are required for non-
current liabilities that are subject to the entity complying with
future covenants within 12 months after the reporting period.
The amendments shall be applied retrospectively with early
application permitted. An entity that applies the 2020
Amendments early is required to apply simultaneously the 2022
Amendments, and vice versa. The Group is currently assessing
the impact of the amendments and whether existing loan
agreements may require revision. Based on a preliminary
assessment, the amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 clarify the characteristics of
supplier finance arrangements and require additional disclosure
of such arrangements. The disclosure requirements in the
amendments are intended to assist users of financial statements
in understanding the effects of supplier finance arrangements
on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk.
Earlier application of the amendments is permitted. The
amendments provide certain transition reliefs regarding
comparative information, quantitative information as at the
beginning of the annual reporting period and interim disclosures.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs

(Continued)

Amendments to IAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess
whether a currency is exchangeable into another currency and
how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a measurement
date when exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require
disclosures of information that enable users of financial
statements to understand the impact of a currency not being
exchangeable. Earlier application is permitted. When applying
the amendments, an entity cannot restate comparative
information. Any cumulative effect of initially applying the
amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to the
opening balance of retained profits or to the cumulative amount
of translation differences accumulated in a separate component
of equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial application.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statement.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights
and over which it has significant influence. Significant influence
is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures are
stated in the consolidated statements of financial position at the
Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments are made
to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may
exist. The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and
other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures is
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income. In addition, when there has been
a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the
Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in
the consolidated statements of changes in equity. Unrealised
gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group
and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
investments in the associates, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates or joint
ventures is included as part of the Group’s investments in
associates or joint ventures.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a
joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not
remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be accounted
for under the equity method. In all other case, upon loss of
significant influence over the associate or joint control over the
joint venture, the Group measures and recognises any retained
investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of significant
influence or joint control and the fair value of the retained
investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit
or loss.

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture is
classified as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance with
IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the
Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the
acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition
date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in
host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair
value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the
sum of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair
value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at
31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition
date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or
groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether
other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those
units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured
based on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including
right-of-use assets) held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation. Such properties are measured initially at cost,
including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects
market conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in profit or loss in the year in
which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in profit or loss in the year
of the retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied
properties or inventories, the deemed cost of a property for
subsequent accounting is its fair value at the date of change in
use. If a property occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied
property becomes an investment property, the Group accounts
for such property in accordance with the policy stated under
“Property, plant and equipment and depreciation” for owned
property and/or accounts for such property in accordance with
the policy stated under “Right-of-use assets” for property held
as a right-of-use asset up to the date of change in use, and any
difference at that date between the carrying amount and the fair
value of the property is accounted for as a revaluation in
accordance with the policy stated under “Property, plant and
equipment and depreciation” above. For a transfer from
inventories to investment properties, any difference between the
fair value of the property at that date and its previous carrying
amount is recognised in profit or loss.
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24. ERETHE @) 2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

REWE (| Investment properties (Continued)

BEEREEREWE Transfers to or from investment property

HEENBEREMERRTELIN Transfers to or from investment property shall be made when

TERANASREERHET there is a change in use evidenced by:

@ HREEMEBEZERAME- (a) commencement of owner-occupation, for a transfer from
RSB AR investment property to owner-occupied property;

b) EREEWEEZFE A (o) commencement of development with a view to sale, for a
HERIREITRE 2 transfer from investment property to inventories;

c HRERMEBEREME - (©) end of owner-occupation, for a transfer from owner-
RERBAR: & occupied property to investment property; and

o) EREFEEZKREWE AR (d) inception of an operating lease to another party and the
S UKREHERYER property is held for leasing, for a transfer from inventories
Y5 o to investment property.

EEWME Properties under development

EEMEBRANTIERFELRE - Properties under development are intended to be held for sale

after completion.

TEMEZKAHETEERFEOR Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost
EEVR KABRELHKAR - 2 comprising land costs, construction costs, borrowing costs,
ERA - BEKREA BEBALR professional fees and other costs directly attributable to such
AEHEEEEREEYENEM properties incurred during the development period and net
PR o realisable value.

BRIEEEMETRENRIER & ERH Properties under development are classified as current assets
W& BRIERERMESER unless those will not be realised in normal operating cycle. On
REBEE - DWERTIBNEZHIE completion, the properties are transferred to completed
HENDTEIME - properties held for sale.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale are stated in the statements
of financial position at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined by an apportionment of the total costs of
land and buildings attributable to the unsold properties. Net
realisable value takes into account the price ultimately expected
to be realised, less estimated costs to be incurred in selling the
properties.

Allocation of property development costs

Land costs are allocated to each unit according to their
respective saleable gross floor areas (“GFA”) to the total
saleable GFA. Construction costs relating to units were
identified and allocated specifically. Common construction costs
have been allocated according to the saleable GFA similar to
land costs.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either
finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period
and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite
useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Software is stated at cost less any impairment loss and is

amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful life
of 3 to 5 years.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Office properties 110 6 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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Notes to Financial Statements
2023412 A 31 H 31 December 2023

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)
(b) Lease liabilities

(c)

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments to
be made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The
lease payments also include the exercise price of a
purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the
Group and payments of penalties for termination of a
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the
option to terminate the lease. The variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised
as an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in
the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in lease
payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of office equipment (that
is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or
less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option). It also applies the recognition exemption
for leases of low-value assets to leases of office equipment
and laptop computers that are considered to be of low
value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or
when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either
an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are
classified as operating leases. When a contract contains lease
and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for
on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in
revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating
nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same
basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as
revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying assets to the lessee are
accounted for as finance leases.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or
loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a
financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction
costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set
out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are
not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit
or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate
cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows
will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the
financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and
measured at amortised cost are held within a business model
with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified and
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are
held within a business model with the objective of both holding
to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business models
are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace are recognised on the trade date,
that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss (“FVTPL”)
are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with
net changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.

This category includes equity investments which the Group had
not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through other
comprehensive income. Dividends on the equity investments
are also recognised as other income in the statement of profit
or loss when the right of payment has been established.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset
or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a)
the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to
the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that
result from default events that are possible within the next 12
months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information. The Group
considers that there has been a significant increase in credit risk
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in
default when internal or external information indicates that the
Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts
in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held
by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash
flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track
changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables that contain a significant financing
component and lease receivables, the Group chooses as its
accounting policy to adopt the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs with policies as described above.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
borrowings, or payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings, corporate bonds and senior notes (collectively
called “loans and borrowings”), lease liabilities, trade and bills
payables, other payables, and amounts due to related parties.
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Notes to Financial Statements
2023412 A 31 H 31 December 2023

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other
payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and interest-
bearing borrowings and lease liabilities are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate
method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised
as well as through the effective interest rate amortisation
process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are
an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in profit or
loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to
make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a
debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised
initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the
financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: () the ECL
allowance determined in accordance with the policy as set out
in “Impairment of financial assets”; and (i) the amount initially
recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of
income recognised.

Senior notes

Senior notes issued by the Company that contain both liability
and early redemption option (which is not closely related to the
host contract) are classified separately into respective items on
initial recognition. At the date of issue, both the liability and early
redemption option components are recognised at fair value.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Senior notes (Continued)

In subsequent periods, the debt component of the senior notes
is carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
The early redemption option is measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the senior notes are
allocated to the liability and early redemption option
components in proportion to their relative fair values.
Transaction costs relating to the early redemption option are
charged to profit or loss immediately. Transaction costs relating
to the debt component are included in the carrying amount of
the liability portion and amortised over the period of the senior
notes using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit
or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if, and
only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.
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Notes to Financial Statements
2023412 A 31 H 31 December 2023

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position
comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly
liquid deposits with a maturity of generally within three months
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and held for
the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statements of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at
banks, and short-term deposits as defined above, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be
reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate
asset, but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The
expense relating to a provision is presented in the statement of
profit or loss net of any reimbursement.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
each of the Reporting period of the future expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in
the discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods
are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or
paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of each of the Reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in which
the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

U where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can
be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be
utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of
the reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and
only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or
different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax
liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on
a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for which it
is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to
a deferred income account and is released to profit or loss over
the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the asset
and released to profit or loss by way of a reduced depreciation
charge.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which the
Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or
services to the customer. The variable consideration is
estimated at contract inception and constrained until it is highly
probable that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of
cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the
associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one
year, revenue is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the Group with
a significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue
recognised under the contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. For a contract where the period between the payment
by the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or
services is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted
for the effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in IFRS 15.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Sale of properties

Revenue is recognised when or as the control of the asset is
transferred to the customer. Depending on the terms of the
contract and the laws that apply to the contract, control of the
asset may transfer over time or at a point in time. Control of the
asset is transferred over time if the Group’s performance:

° provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

o creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls
as the Group performs; or

° does not create an asset with an alternative use to the
Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effect of financing
component if it is significant.

For a property development and sales contract for which the
control of the property is transferred at a point in time, revenue
is recognised when the customer obtains the physical
possession or the legal title of the completed property and the
Group has the present right to payment and the collection of
the consideration is probable.
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Notes to Financial Statements
2023412 A 31 H 31 December 2023

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Property management services

Property management service income derived from the
provision of property maintenance and management services is
recognised when the relevant services are rendered and the
customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group.

Management consulting services

Management consulting service income derived from the
provision of support services in connection with development of
property projects is recognised when the relevant services are
rendered and the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting
period in which they are incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the
financial instrument of the net carrying amount of the financial
asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or
a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before
the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract
liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or
services to the customer).
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services in exchange for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for
grants is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at
which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an
external valuer using a binomial model, further details of which
are given in note 33 to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense
recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent to
which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit or loss for a
period represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken
into account when determining the grant date fair value of
awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is
assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance
conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any
other conditions attached to an award, but without an
associated service requirement, are considered to be non-
vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the
fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an
award unless there are also service and/or performance
conditions.
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Notes to Financial Statements
2023412 A 31 H 31 December 2023

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no
expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-
vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition,
an expense is recognised for any modification that increases
the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise
beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Other employee benefits

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those Hong
Kong employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF
Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the statement of
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest
fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary which operates in
Chinese Mainland are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the local municipal government (the
“Central Pension Scheme”, together with the MPF Scheme, the
“Defined Contribution Schemes”). This subsidiary is required to
contribute a certain portion of its payroll costs to the Central
Pension Scheme. The contributions are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the Central Pension Scheme. No
forfeited contribution under the Defined Contribution Schemes
is available to reduce the existing level of contributions or those
payable in future years.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e. assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in
which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and
other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Borrowing costs (Continued)

Borrowing costs include interest expense, finance charges and
exchange differences arising from foreign currency borrowings
to the extent that they are regarded as an adjustment to interest
costs. The exchange gains and losses that are adjustments to
interest costs include the interest rate differences between
borrowing costs that would be incurred if the entity had
borrowed funds in its functional currency, and the borrowing
costs actually incurred on foreign currency borrowings. Such
amounts are estimated based on forward currency rates at the
inception of the borrowings.

When the construction of the qualifying assets takes more than
one accounting period, the amount of foreign exchange
differences eligible for capitalisation is determined for each
annual period and is limited to the difference between the
hypothetical interest amount for the functional currency
borrowings and the actual interest incurred for foreign currency
borrowings. Foreign exchange differences that did not meet the
criteria for capitalisation in previous years should not be
capitalised in subsequent years.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

ltems included in the financial information of each of the Group’s
entities are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented
in RMB, which is the Company’s functional currency because
the Group’s principal operations are carried out in the PRC.
Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in the
Group are initially recorded using their respective functional
currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
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Foreign currencies (Continued)

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling
at the end of each of the reporting period. Differences arising on
settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in
profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-
monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the
recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item
(i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or
loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit
or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an
advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date
on which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability arising from the advance consideration.
If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of
the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are
currencies other than the RMB. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated
into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their statements of profit or loss are
translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates for
the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve, except to the extent that the differences are
attributable to non-controlling interests. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the cumulative amount in the reserve relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require @ material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Going Concern Consideration

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
apart from those involving estimations, management has
prepared the consolidated financial statements on the
assumption that the Group will be able to operate as a going
concern in the coming year, which is a critical judgement that
has the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements. The assessment of the going
concern assumption involves making a judgement by the
directors, at a particular point of time, about the future outcome
of events or conditions which are inherently uncertain. The
directors consider that the Group has the capability to continue
as a going concern and the major events or conditions, which
may give rise to business risks, that may individually or
collectively cast a significant doubt upon the going concern
assumption are set out in note 2.1 to the financial statements.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements:

Property lease classification — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its
investment property portfolio. The Group has determined,
based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the
arrangements, such as the lease term not constituting a major
part of the economic life of the commercial property and the
present value of the minimum lease payments not amounting to
substantially all the fair value of the commercial property, that it
retains substantially all the significant risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of these properties which are leased out
and accounts for the contracts as operating leases.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Classification between investment properties and owner-
occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making that
judgement. Investment property is a property held to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group
considers whether a property generates cash flows largely
independently of the other assets held by the Group. Some
properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for
capital appreciation and another portion that is held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes. If these portions could be sold
separately or leased out separately under a finance lease, the
Group accounts for the portions separately. If the portions could
not be sold separately, the property is an investment property
only if an insignificant portion is held for use in the production or
supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes.
Judgement is made on an individual property basis to determine
whether ancillary services are so significant that a property does
not qualify as an investment property.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below:

Provision for properties under development and completed
properties held for sale

The Group’s properties under development and completed
properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Based on the Group’s historical experience and
the nature of the subject properties, the Group makes estimates
of the selling prices, the costs of completion of properties under
development, and the costs to be incurred in selling the
properties based on prevailing market conditions.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision for properties under development and completed
properties held for sale (Continued)

If there is an increase in costs to completion or a decrease in
net sales value, the net realisable value will decrease and this
may result in a provision for properties under development and
completed properties held for sale. Such provision requires the
use of judgement and estimates. Where the expectation is
different from the original estimate, the carrying value and
provision for properties in the periods in which such estimate is
changed will be adjusted accordingly. The carrying amounts of
properties under development and completed properties held
for sale at 31 December 2023 were RMB69,283,257,000 (2022:
RMB112,418,842,000) and RMB26,440,141,000 (2022:
RMB24,696,306,000). Further details are given in note 21 and
note 22, respectively.

Significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effects of the timing
value of money if the timing of payments agreed to by the
parties to the contract provides the Group with a significant
benefit of financing.

Advance payments received from customers provides a
significant financing benefit to the Group. Although the Group is
required to place all deposits and periodic payments received
from the pre-completion sales in a stakeholder account, the
Group is able to benefit from those advance payment as it can
withdraw money from that account to pay for expended
construction costs on the project. The advance payments
received in effect reduce the Group’s need to rely on other
sources of financing.

The amount of the financing component is estimated at the
inception of the contract. After contract inception, the discount
rate is not updated for changes in interest rates or other
circumstances, such as a change in credit risk. The period of
financing is from the time that the payment is received until the
transfer of goods to the customers.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

PRC corporate income tax (“CIT”)

The Group is subject to corporate income taxes in the PRC. As
a result of the fact that certain matters relating to the income
taxes have not been confirmed by the local tax bureau,
objective estimate and judgement based on currently enacted
tax laws, regulations and other related policies are required in
determining the provision for income taxes to be made. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts originally recorded, the differences will impact on the
income tax and tax provisions in the period in which the
differences realise.

PRC land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. The provision for LAT
is based on management’s best estimates according to the
understanding of the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC
tax laws and regulations. The actual LAT liabilities are subject to
the determination by the tax authorities upon the completion of
the property development projects. The Group has not finalised
its LAT calculation and payments with the tax authorities for
certain of its property development projects. The final outcome
could be different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
and any differences will impact on the LAT expenses and the
related provision in the period in which the differences realise.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets (including the right-of-use
assets) at the end of the reporting period. Other non-financial
assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that
the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment
exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its
fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The
calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on
available data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length
transaction of similar assets or observable market prices less
incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When value in use
calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the
expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating
unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value of those cash flows.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Estimate of fair value of investment properties

In the absence of current prices in an active market for similar
properties, the Group considers information from a variety of
sources, including:

(@ current prices in an active market for properties of a
different nature, condition or location, adjusted to reflect
those differences;

(b)  recent prices of similar properties on less active markets,
with adjustments to reflect any changes in economic
conditions since the date of the transactions that occurred
at those prices; and

(c) discounted cash flow projections based on reliable
estimates of future cash flows, supported by the terms of
any existing lease and other contracts and (when possible)
by external evidence such as current market rents for
similar properties in the same location and condition, and
using discount rates that reflect current market
assessments of the uncertainty in the amount and timing
of the cash flows.

At 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of investment
properties was RMB1,508,800,000 (2022: RMB1,543,700,000).
Further details, including the key assumptions used for fair value
measurement are given in note 14 to the financial statements.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the losses can be utilised. Significant
management judgement is required to determine the amount of
deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the
likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with
future tax planning strategies. The carrying value of deferred tax
assets relating to recognised tax losses at 31 December 2023
was RMB1,616,846,000 (2022: RMB2,971,838,000). The
amount of unrecognised tax losses at 31 December 2023 was
RMB5,141,910,000 (2022: RMB3,059,723,000). Further details
are contained in note 19 to the financial statements.
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4, REHIER 4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
EEERBEENEEZEASEER Management monitors the operating results of the Group’s
(BIEMERZT)NKCEELE LY business which includes property development by project
BROPEEXRBIGEELARAE - location for the purpose of making decisions about resource
—UEMBA FREXEELE allocation and performance assessment, while no revenue, net
BMEINEBAEELGAE KA - H profit or total assets from a single location exceeded 10% of the
B BEERLENTI0% - BEFTAE N Group’s consolidated revenue, net profit or total assets,
EEHEBEULESE BEWMERE respectively. As all locations have similar economic
FHERETEMNME M ESR characteristics with similar nature of property development and
EHHEE FAEBHNEFPERY leasing and management, nature of the aforementioned
BRI A R o BE B EE ok 4R R AR 75 P B business processes, type or class of customers for the
FEHEU NS BENERRAR aforementioned businesses and methods used to distribute the
— BRI mELED I - properties or provide the services, all locations were aggregated

as one reportable operating segment.
i & & R Geographical information
HRAEERBINTZEHWAE No geographical information is presented as the Group’s
BEARPEAMHKCEMEARE revenue from the external customers is derived solely from its
WEIEREEEMN T BRI operation in Chinese Mainland and no non-current assets of the
SN - IR 2 T MR B K o Group are located outside Chinese Mainland.
EBEXEEFHNER Information about major customers
ReREHHE S8 -—FPHAE No revenue from sales to a single customer or a group of
HITH—EHEFPHHEE KA &G customers under common control accounted for 10% or more
REBWABI10%K A E © of the Group’s revenue for the reporting period.

5. WA -HEMBRARKE 5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
HWARHDHTAT : An analysis of revenue is as follows:

2023 2022
2023 2022
AR®BTR AR®BTT
RMB’000 RMB’000

RKEEFPAEHBHIEA Revenue from contracts with
customers 66,600,928 39,317,201

KRB EH A AR A Revenue from other sources
WEME K= Property lease income 14,152 12,213
485 Total 66,615,080 39,329,414
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5. WA - Bl AR U= @) 5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(Continued)
REEFEHANBA Revenue from contracts with customers
i) DHEFBLAESR () Disaggregated revenue information
2023 2022 4F
2023 2022
AR%T T ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
.
EmEERKER Types of goods or services
M E G E Sale of properties 66,466,526 39,169,158
H b AR 75 Other services 134,402 148,043
RKEBEFPAELOMBRIKA Total revenue from contracts with
customers 66,600,928 39,317,201
W A T R B Timing of revenue recognition
RERESHHEZN Sale of properties transferred
M E at a point in time 66,466,526 39,169,158
BERS M EZ IR Services transferred over time 134,402 148,043
RKEBEPAELOMBRIKA Total revenue from contracts with
customers 66,600,928 39,317,201
.
TERBRARE B ARS The following table shows the amounts of revenue
Hyza4BaETABTEHE recognised in the current reporting period that were
BITHEANETHERNE ER included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the
g A4 %8 - reporting period and recognised from performance

obligations satisfied in previous periods:

2023 F 2022
2023 2022
AR®T T ARBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
SFARSHUZ AL BER  Revenue recognised that was
EHERA - included in contract liabilities
at the beginning of the reporting
period:
R Sale of properties 55,333,292 34,159,660

e
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5. WA Etlt AR W E @
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1B HIRE
REMREENMNS  AEE
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(EHERHEAKEES
MENEPMEER)#RW
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HR - AEEEEREREE
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5.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(ii)

Performance obligations
Information of the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Sale of properties

For property sales contracts, the Group receives
payments from customers based on billing schedules as
established in the contracts. Payments are usually
received in advance of the performance under the
contracts.

Provision of services

For other service contracts, the Group recognises revenue
equal to the right to invoice amount when it corresponds
directly with the value to the customer of the Group’s
performance to date, on a monthly basis. The majority of
the service contracts do not have a fixed term. The Group
has elected the practical expedient for not to disclose the
remaining performance obligations for these types of
contracts.

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the
remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially

152

SERSTBEWOT : unsatisfied) as at 31 December are as follows:

2023 F 2022 F

2023 2022

AR¥ET T AR T T

RMB’000 RMB’000

.

TEHERAEKANEE Amounts expected to be
recognised as revenue

—E R Within one year 37,475,350 59,236,583

—F 1B After one year 66,380,349 93,139,417

et Total 103,855,699 152,376,000

e
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5. WA - Hilg AR WKE @ 5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(Continued)
REEFEHAHWA () Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
i) BHEET@E (i) Performance obligations (Continued)
12 7R 7 () Provision of services (Continued)
LM EHR —FRERRBEA The above amounts of transaction prices allocated to the
WORZEFBRBAEENRS remaining performance obligations which are expected to
EXeHEEER=FAEBTY be recognised as revenue after one year relate to the sale
YEHEEBB - 1120283F12 A of properties that are to be satisfied within three years. As
318 DR EHREHERKEAES 31 December 2023, the aggregate amount of transaction
WERBHEANERSHER prices allocated to the remaining performance obligations
& %8 A A R #254,184,0007C ° relate to the provision of services is RMB254,184,000,
FEHER=ZFUNLBEBRRBK which is expected to be recognised as revenue over three
A Pl EENEETRIER years. The amounts disclosed above do not include
B 1 &) AT BB o variable consideration which is constrain.
2023 F 2022 F
2023 2022
AR®TRT AR®T
RMB’000 RMB’000
.
H ity A & W &= Other income and gains
R REEE W= Gains on payable settlement 33,268 16,685
R IE & Forfeiture of deposits 32,350 35,810
BT 78 B) Government grants 6,806 25,137
o B A R = Gain on disposal of subsidiaries - 280,564
MBEREHNNETTZ Remeasurement of financial
guarantee contracts - 1,867
HAth Others 23,079 2,820
Hab A R s 4258 Total other income and gains 95,503 362,883

e
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AEEBAFE/ (BB B KRS

GTA)UAT&IE: (crediting):
B 2
Notes
EEMEKR Cost of properties sold 22
ERHRBEK R Cost of services provided
MRV FEERH Impairment losses recognised for
BB EE properties under development 21
REFEHEMNEZIY Imparment losses recognised for
X¥MERABESE completed properties held for sale 22
HEBEEENE T IY  Impairment losses written off for
XM AR EESE completed properties held for sale 22
M MENRRKREITE  Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 13
FREEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 16
E b A Amortisation of other intangible assets 15
T ABEBRBEEH  Lease payments not included in the
MER® measurement of lease liabilities 16
% B R % B Auditor’s remuneration

BB @ FIFAX
(BIEESEREES1TH
ANBFH B (H7E8))
ITERE®
%%i%ilﬂ\fx
2 18 7
M%ﬁ%
%
(BN Z% F8
TREERESE
FRE
PEERANBEE

3 ) B

L EH B AR
&8 (W)

HEAETERBE
NIl SE=

HEME BELEE
U #&

Employee benefit expense (including
directors’ and chief executive’s
remuneration (note 8):

Wages and salaries
Pension scheme contributions and
social welfare
Equity-settled share option expenses
33

Foreign exchange differences, net

Impairment losses on of financial assets,
net

Changes in provision for financial
guarantee contracts

Loss/(gain) on disposal of subsidiaries

Loss on disposal of joint ventures and
associates

Gain on disposal of items of property,
plant and equipment

2023 &
2023

ARBTR

RMB’000

61,036,997
31,751

2,008,965
750,890
(398,148)
30,956
39,962

9,879

19,198
10,400

794,034
105,451

(4,666)
176,375

422,772
169,230
123,680
173,630

474

The Group’s profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after charging/

2022 4F
2022
ARBT T
RMB’000

R e

33,519,437
53,483

1,137,910
540,536
(434,799)
31,395
43,921

9,859

5,964
13,000

1,263,705
140,109

(4,002)
591,416

475,073
(1,867)
(280,564)
66,769

954
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7. BMERAX 7. FINANCE COSTS
BEXADTOT : An analysis of finance costs is as follows:
2023 F 2022 FF
2023 2022
ARETR ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BRITERREMER - BLEZHE K Interest on bank loans and other
BEEREZEFMESHETE borrowings, senior notes and
proceeds from asset-backed
securities 1,436,902 1,807,885
WAGHEENFERZ Interest expense arising from revenue
contracts 597,719 1,211,746
HEBEBEHNE Interest on lease liabilities 673 2,302
W IR A FEFABRD Total interest expense on financial
cHMABENEMX A liabilities not at fair value through
profit or loss 2,035,294 3,021,933
BAREHE Interest capitalised (1,724,802) (2,624,755)
Bt Total 310,492 397,178

e

155



A I R EE

Notes to Financial Statements
2023412 A 31 H 31 December 2023

8.

156

EEREETHRAEEM

BIELTHRA - HEQRIEHNE
383(1)@@) * (b) * ) &KX FE] (B
EEZRAMNCERETE) ROIF280
BIAFEEERESTBRAEH
Ban T

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c)
and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of
the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2023 F 2022 FF
2023 2022
AR¥ T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
e Fees 1,110 1,110
HEM B - Other emoluments:
TE - -ZAREWREHN Salaries, allowances
and benefits in kind 12,447 14,382
BEHEe Performance-related bonuses* 1,899 —
DHESEENBERERZ Equity-settled share option
expenses 467 336
BESFEHEHRRLEREF Pension scheme contributions and
social welfare 339 336
/INeEE Subtotal 15,152 15,054
HEt Total 16,262 16,164

© ARRAETHTESAEESES %
Ty e A W IR B AR LB AR -

ETEEREBEARANBERERS
RER/ASERHENREERBK
B E—BHBRRM B RRME
B ZEFERNFBHAEB DR
RZBRELAFEDREL BHE
o BXAFEEMBHRRFAATED
AAALREZRESITRABFHH
ZEBEER A -

e

* Certain executive directors of the Company are entitled to bonus

payments which are associated with the profit after tax of the Group.

Certain directors were granted share options, in respect of their
services to the Group, under the share option scheme of the
Company, further details of which are set out in note 33 to the
financial statements. The fair value of such options, which has
been recognised in the statement of profit or loss over the
vesting period, was determined as at the date of grant and the
amount included in the financial statements for the current year
is included in the above directors’ and chief executive’s
remuneration disclosures.
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8. EERRETHAEHFM@ 8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (Continued)

(@) BIYFHITESE (a) Independent non-executive directors
BEEZ L FTRBEEER Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung, Mr. Wang Kaiguo and Mr. Wu
ROBEOF £ R2019F 6 A19H Xiaobo were appointed as independent non-executive
EZEAARRABILIERTT directors of the Company on 19 June 2019.
o
2023 F 2022 F
2023 2022
ARBFTRT AR%®TET
RMB’000 RMB’000
we Fees
—EBEE LA — Mr. Au Yeung Po Fung 370 370
— THBEAE — Mr. Wang Kaiguo 370 370
—REREE — Mr. Wu Xiaobo 370 370
#BEt Total 1,110 1,110
-
RENR - B FE N BT IEH T There was no other emolument payable to the
EEWNE M E BN (20024 : &) o independent non-executive directors during the year (2022:
Nil).
(b)) HITE=E (b) Executive directors
BaIEE RS EE G128 Mr. Yang Jian, Mr. Chen Hongliang, Mr. Yau Sze Ka (Albert)
=4 4 R {a] &) 5 A B A 2018 and Mr. He Jian were appointed as executive directors of
F3H29H 2019412 A23H » the Company on 29 March 2018, 23 December 2019, 23
2019412 B23H - 2019412 A December 2019, 23 December 2019 and 1 July 2021,
283 K201 F7A1HEZ T A respectively.
RRABMITES -
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8. EERBRESTHAEHFM@ 8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (Continued)

(b) HITE=H (b) Executive directors (Continued)
BZE2023F12A31HLLEE Year ended 31 December 2023
254
1% 2R AR NEREEN
kA BNEAN Eaxs R EER BRERX Fmast
Salaries,
allowances Pension scheme Equity-settled
and benefits Performance-  contributions and share option Total
Fees inkind  related bonuses social welfare expenses remuneration
ARBTR  AR¥TR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

BiTES: Executive directors:
-BR%E — Mr. Yang Jian - 3,454 846 112 - 4,412
-ROzxE — Mr. Chen Hongliang - 2,188 531 121 413 3,253
— g% E — Mr. He Jian - 2,115 522 90 54 2,781
-HBRE — Mr. Yau Sze Ka (Aloert) - 4,690 - 16 = 4,706
@it Total = 12,447 1,899 339 467 15,152
- e Y A
HZE2022F12A31BLEE Year ended 31 December 2022
&5
15 2HR SEER MEREER
e EWREH Euge RigREM BRERY HMA
Selaries,
allowances Pension scheme Equity-settled
and benefits Performance-  contributions and share option
Fees inkind  related bonuses social welfare expenses  Total remuneration
AREFT  ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
BITES: Executive directors:
-BRA%E — Mr. Yang Jian - 4,200 - 141 - 4,363
-Baz%LE — Mr. Chen Hongliang - 2,600 - 88 297 2,985
—ffl% i — Mr. He Jian - 2,200 - 91 39 2,330
-HEEL — Mr. Yau Sze Ka (Albert) - 5,360 - 16 - 5,376
@it Total - 14,382 - 336 336 15,054
RER BMEBEESSIHESITH There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief
A BWRE R E WE T E executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during
k-7 3 the year.
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9. LhEERSHFMES 9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
FAMNhEmeiMEERENA The five highest paid employees during the year included four
EHE(Q022F: WEZEE) EHM directors (2022: four directors), details of whose remuneration
HBEHN EXHES - E E2023F & are set out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration for the
2022F12AG1HILEFE  ARQRAA years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 of the five highest
LEERTMEENTFMEFBEOT paid employees of the Company are as follows:

20234 2022
2023 2022
AR®ET AR®ET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
T&MZRL Salaries and allowances 14,161 16,302
B S Performance related bonuses 2,374 —
DESEENERERZ Equity-settled share option expenses 467 336
BELHEMEELEEEHN Pension scheme contributions and
social welfare 451 473
Bt Total 17,453 17,111
.
HFMNFRIATHENIEES L IE The remuneration of the non-director and non-chief executive
ST TTHAESSHFMEE A highest paid employee within the following band is as follows:
m
BE A"
Number of employees
2023 F 2022 F
2023 2022
2,000,001 7% 7t £ 2,500,000 7T HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 1 1
.
AREBWPEARALATNEEX AL S No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors of the
SHMATSANIES 5B E R Company or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement
£ A £ F S ) AN £ F to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of

MR SR RERITE - office.
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10. FiEH

REBARAEEKE R F ML
REmERBREERELEXIRA
ENMNEREBEREGRAEN -
REFSBESNRU LA K2
ARAEBRFASESEMMAIN
B AR BAMNERMAEN - R
BEHE AEERFEEMAKL
W EBARBAMMAEN AR
AN E BN E B E A ER
A -

BB HIRD R A P N B 4
2 10 Y B 2 0 78 $225% ) B A
SEES TR

=+ 1 (B T J5 32 FR30% = 60% &) 2
R IR E R iR
B 58 73 & W) X PR 1S SRR AT R
P (B3R LA AR - 8RR e &
MR BRRAS) ANEEREER
REIRMR AR RERAERE
AT IBERGE - FH REHER
HEHE IR ERBREARE L
M HEETREEN RILE -

10. INCOME TAX

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits
arising in or derived from the tax jurisdictions in which members
of the Group are domiciled and operate. Pursuant to the rules
and regulations of the Cayman Islands, the Company and the
Group’s subsidiaries incorporated in the Cayman Islands are
not subject to any income tax. The Group’s subsidiary
incorporated in Hong Kong is not liable for income tax as it did
not have any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the
reporting period.

Subsidiaries of the Group operating in Chinese Mainland are
subject to the PRC corporate income tax with a tax rate of 25%
for the reporting period.

LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on
the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from the sale
of properties less deductible expenditures including land costs,
borrowing costs and other property development expenditures.
The Group has estimated, made and included in taxation a
provision for LAT according to the requirements set forth in the
relevant Chinese Mainland tax laws and regulations. The LAT
provision is subject to the final review and approval by the local
tax bureau.

2023 & 2022 4F
2023 2022
AR Tt AR T T
RMB’000 RMB’000

BOHAR IR - Current tax:
R ZETER PRC corporate income tax 1,370,188 489,884
AR M IR E R PRC LAT 956,517 452 747
EEFIE (M 5E19) Deferred tax (note 19) 990,181 443,848
FAMBES LA Total tax charge for the year 3,316,886 1,386,479

——————————————
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10. INCOME TAX (Continued)

A reconciliation of income tax expense/(credit) applicable to
profit/(loss) before tax at the statutory tax rate for the jurisdiction

in which the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are

domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax rate is as

STHEERINT follows:
20234 2022 4
2023 2022
AR®ET ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
BAT R (&) Profit/(loss) before tax 398,100 (234,760)
ATEERERAE At the statutory income tax rate 99,525 (58,690)
AETERBE QA Profits and losses attributable to
JE 18 N H N B 1B joint ventures and associates (230,539) (216,748)
TAIHEMHRONE A Expenses not deductible for tax 648,325 48,689
BEFEFRANHIEEE Tax losses utilised from previous
years (85,094) (88,128)
RERTIEEE Tax losses not recognised 1,333,848 603,655
AERAEMERE G =58 Deductible temporary differences
not recognised 833,433 758,141
TR E TR Provision for LAT 956,517 452,747
THIRETO R E Tax effect on LAT (239,129) (113,187)
BAEBERBERTER Tax charge at the Group’s
BWIES 1 effective rate 3,316,886 1,386,479

EETERBERAREBMLHMESD
A A A R #199,843,000 5t (2022
F: ARB172954,0007T) B AR
#107,542,000 70 (2022 F : A R #&
116,043,0007L) * Mt ARG Em &K
MIEEEECERBEQARFBER
EE] o

——————————————

The share of tax attributable to joint ventures and associates
amounting to RMB199,843,000 (2022: RMB172,954,000) and
RMB107,542,000 (2022: RMB116,043,000), respectively, is
included in “Share of profits and losses of joint ventures and
associates” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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10. Fr 8% )

RAEMBARRARANEHATIRE

10. INCOME TAX (Continued)

Tax payable in the consolidated statement of financial position

represents:

2023 F 2022 F

2023 2022

AREBFTRT AR®TT

RMB’000 RMB’000
.

FE#BE Tax payable

FER B EFTER PRC CIT payable 2,545,340 1,723,220

JE 1< FR B IR (B B PRC LAT payable 1,466,564 1,139,981

JE IR 5R Total tax payable 4,011,904 2,863,201
.

11. B2 11. DIVIDENDS

EECWEEZIRMNE E£2023F12
A31HIEFEZ REAKE (20224 :

&) -
12 BRARAE RS A ARG
BRERE

EREAEBESEDNIRESAGLE
BEEEABNREANBERRFANE %
17 A% hn#E 19 £43,492,670,410 %
(20224 : 3,492,670,4100%) 5+ & o

BERETEREEBEDIRES QR E
BESFAEABRGFABERRIERR
PMAEERGEHELBARERASE AR
i % 17 £ 51 6 & 58 B ohn 4 7 19 BEt
H-ARAIMEBEGEHBERBRKSE

RIFERE SR LR

162

The Board does not recommend a final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

12. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT

The calculation of the basic loss per share amount is based on
the loss for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
3,492,670,410 (2022: 3,492,670,410) in issue during the year.

The calculation of the diluted loss per share amounts is based
on the loss for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of
the parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive potential
ordinary shares into ordinary shares. The Company’s dilutive
potential ordinary shares are derived from the shares granted
under the share option scheme.
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BAAEEREZREEAEM 12. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
BREE @ ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT (Continued)
BREXRNEESCENTFEREBELOT : The calculation of the basic loss per share amounts is based
on:
2023 F 2022 F
2023 2022
AR®B T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
.
BRAAEBERTA ARG Loss attributable to ordinary equity

R AREEEK

holders of the parent, used in the

EXRAF basic earnings per share
calculation (4,245,658) (1,346,384)
BoEE
Number of shares
2023 F 2022 F
2023 2022
B 4 Shares

FADHTEBRMNETFHE
AR ESREREF

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue during the
year used in the basic earnings per

share calculation 3,492,670,410 3,492,670,410

e E — TRARMEFHE Effect of dilution — weighted average
number of ordinary shares
i gd Share options (148,903,704)*  (56,925,000)
BET Total 3,343,766,706* 3,435,745,410"
-
* Rt R BRER ISR E# 7§ )§§ * Because the diluted loss per share amount is increased when taking

%amﬁgﬁ Eﬁzﬁﬁﬂﬂgﬂﬁ&%, -
ﬂ'ﬁ%f:ﬁiﬁx%é%}aﬂqaﬁtﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁx
e R BREBEEEEBSEDRIESF
NEBAREBEDFBEARBGEBERA
R % 4,245,658,000 7T & & A 2 81T & 38
% 04 SF 15 £103,492,670,410 A% 51 & ©

share options into account, the share options had an anti-dilutive effect
and were ignored in the calculation of diluted loss per share. Therefore,
the diluted loss per share amount is based on the loss attributable to
ordinary equity holders of the parent of RMB4,245,658,000 for the year,
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 3,492,670,410 in

issue during the year.
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13. ¥ -HBEKRRE 13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

WORER

BF "E ETRE HEEE st
Office
equipment

Motor  and electronic Leasehold

Buildings vehicles devices  improvements Total

ARBTT AR¥TR ARBTT ARBTT AR¥TR

RMB’000  RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

202312 A 311 31 December 2023

72023F1 A18 At 1 January 2023

A Cost
2HNE Accumulated depreciation
REFE Net carrying amount

20231 A1E - 41 At 1 January 2023, net of

BREFIE accumulated depreciation
NE Additions
HEKHBRR Disposal of subsidiaries
GEXD) (note 36)
& Disposal
FENERE Depreciation provided
(K #E6) during the year (note 6)

R2023%F 12 4318+ At 31 December 2023,
Mk 2 E net of accumulated
depreciation

R2023E12 A31H : At 31 December 2023:

A Cost
ZEtHE Accumulated depreciation
EETE Net carrying amount
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13. ¥ - BERZHE@® 13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

MARER

BT AE EF#& HEXE @5t
Office
equipment

Motor  and electronic Leasehold

Buildings vehicles devices  improvements Total

ARBTT ARETRT ARBTT ARBTT ARETR

RMB'000  RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

2022%F12A 310 31 December 2022

©®2022%1 A1R At 1 January 2022

B A Cost 81,420 42,785 100,327 58,650 283,182
ZEHE Accumulated depreciation (47,807) (33,363) (65,299) (50,157) (196,626)
FmEE Net carrying amount 33,613 9,422 35,028 8,493 86,556

20221 A1 - 1 At 1 January 2022, net of

BhE2ITE accumulated depreciation 33,613 9,422 35,028 8,493 86,556
NE Additions - 112 5,399 1,273 6,784
HEKHBERR Disposal of subsidiaries

(Ff % 36) (note 36) - - (253) - (253)
HE Disposal - (220) (985) - (1,205)
FENERE Depreciation provided

(Histo) during the year (note 6) (6,392) (4,419) (15,431) (5,153) (31,395)

202212 A31 8+ At 31 December 2022,
Mk R E net of accumulated
depreciation 27,221 4,895 23,758 4,613 60,487

R2022%E12 A31H At 31 December 2022:

B AR Cost 81,420 42,897 105,726 59,923 289,966
2N E Accumulated depreciation (54,199) (38,002 (81,968) (65,310) (229,479
EEEE Net carrying amount 27,221 4,895 23,758 4,613 60,487
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14. REWEE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

ExT T et
Under
Completed construction Total

ARBETTT ARBTT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

MR2022%F 1 A1 BRI ERMEE Carrying amount at

1 January 2022
RE Additions
(L Transfer

NFEEFABFE(EIE), Net (loss)/gain from a fair value

U &% % =8 adjustment

670,300 739,900 1,410,200
— 141,421 141,421

150,334 (150,334) —

(44,534) 36,613 (7,921)

MR2022%F12H318B & Carrying amount at 31 December

20231 A1HREEME 2022 and 1 January 2023 776,100 767,600 1,543,700
NE Additions — 67,675 67,675
R Transfer 138,300 (138,300) -
NEEAEEEERFE Netloss from a fair value

adjustment (97,305) (5,270) (102,575)
R2023F 12 H31 B HY Carrying amount at 31 December
REE 2023 817,095 691,705 1,508,800

AEEMKREMEAURAFBER
o BIBBLEFES B K G ER
EBTLETFHELABZAER QT
(MPEBRTHDETHNHE X5 E
BB Y ¥ A 2023F 12 A31 B &1
A A K #1,508,800,000 7T (2022 4F :
A R #4,543,700,000 7 ) © 48 2K 1 &)
EEgHAER  XEEBRATEZEN
EEEMABEARNSBEYENINEH
B -HBRZEREMGAZ 28
BUIMERERFBEERE - RN Y
R ETHER AEEE
HEBREEGHEERE(HERMETT

B

166

The Group’s investment properties are situated in Chinese
Mainland. The Group’s investment properties were revalued on
31 December 2023 based on valuations performed by Jones
Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited
(“JLL"), an independent professionally qualified valuer,
at RMB1,508,800,000 (2022: RMB1,543,700,000). The Group
decide, after approval from the board of directors of the
Company, to appoint which external valuer to be responsible for
the external valuations of the Group’s properties. Selection
criteria includes market knowledge, reputation, independence
and whether professional standards are maintained. The Group
has discussions with the valuer on the valuation assumptions
and valuation results when the valuations are performed for
financial reporting.
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14. BEYE @) 14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
AFEER Fair value hierarchy
TEHPAEEKREWEN QAT E The following table illustrates the fair value measurement
AERER: hierarchy of the Group’s investment properties:

A2023F 12831 A A
UTERFENATE
Fair value measurement as
at 31 December 2023 using
RERBTSE EBEATERE EBEAXTTH
W R E WARE =ZWAHE
(8—FE) (=) (8=5E)
Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs #at
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ARBTRT AR%TR ARTR AR%TrR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

LA T IE B #1TH Recurring fair value

EEMNEE measurement for:
e
EEX/ES Commercial properties
[ Completed — — 817,095 817,095
T Under construction — — 691,705 691,705
@5t Total - - 1,508,800 1,508,800
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14. BEWE @) 14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
ATFEERE Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

20224 12 A 31 B f# A
NTERFTENRFE
Fair value measurement as
at 31 December 2022 using

REBME EEAABE SEATAH
0 R 1E WABE  RBEARE
(F—E) (B-) (B=E)
Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs i
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ARET T ARBTRT ARBFTRT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
LA T IE B #1TH) Recurring fair value
KEMEQTE measurement for:
T2
HEME Commercial properties
BxT Completed — — 776,100 776,100
T Under construction — — 767,600 767,600
wEt Total — — 1,543,700 1,543,700

RERN F—BEHE-_EB2HITE
AFEFEER TEEARED
F =8 (20224 : &) o

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 (2022: Nil).
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

HENMEFEE

Range or weighted average

31 December

2022 £
2022

AR #18.3-162.57T
RMB18.3-162.5

4.0%-5.5%

5%-15%

ANEBEER &) Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
LT AREYESEMENGER Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the
MEEEH ASERE - key inputs to the valuation of investment properties:
fhE R M EAFTUTEERWAYE
12A31H
Valuation Significant unobservable 2023 F
techniques inputs 2023
-
ExIBEDE W AE fhatE AR ¥18.3-106.46 T
Completed commercial Income approach (B¥HFAREAR) RMB18.3-106.46
properties Estimated rental value
(per square metre and
per month)
BERfX 4.5%-5.75%
Capitalisation rate
RHTEX 5%-15%
Long term vacancy rate
ERBEDE [ ds97 TEEIRE = 10%

Commercial properties  Comparison method
under construction

EXTRAXMENQFETERK
NEBE DA BBFALERD
XARBEHMELE R RERTT
M5 T Al e E M & U (FLE AT
MEEEHBRAELTD BE) - A
BRILBEENERCEIMIAE R -
NEEBEBRATZERLEHEM@™
BERAESHAELBHEERS -

Expected profit margin

10%

The fair value of completed commercial properties is determined
using the income approach by taking into account the rental
income of the properties derived from the existing leases and/or
achievable in the existing market with due allowance for the
reversionary income potential of the leases, which have been
then capitalised at an appropriate capitalisation rate. Where
appropriate, reference to the comparable sales transactions as
available in the relevant market has also been considered.
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14.

170

BE Y m)

DY EER (@

fhEt HEAEE MO L) 8 EHK
BEMENRFERNEBEMORD)
EHEEXRRENCEEFAIEIE
MOR D) EEHREMENRFE
Rigm D (o) o

EREREDENRTEFALBE
BT L2ZHBTWSLEAUESKH
AELHREEZREY (EA) &
BRIUATEEERSEYENAFE(R
REBERI):

s MHEZ2EEZKMERELN
et EERARG T HNEE
AR

e MEZSEERVERBEZT
ARERGE AR -

EHMNERRS ERREVER
FEBIE-

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

A significant increase (decrease) in the estimated rental value
would result in a significant increase (decrease) in the fair value
of the investment properties. A significant increase (decrease) in
the long term vacancy rate and the capitalisation rate in isolation
would result in a significant decrease (increase) in the fair value
of the investment properties.

The fair value of commercial properties under construction is
determined using the comparison method, with reference to
comparable sales evidence as available in the relevant market
to derive the fair value of the properties assuming they were
completed and, where appropriate, after deducting the following
items:

o Estimated construction cost and professional fees to be
expensed to complete the properties that would be
incurred by a market participant, and;

o Estimated profit margin that a market participant would
require to hold and develop the properties to completion.

A higher expected profit margin would result in a lower fair value
of the investment properties under construction.
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15. HtEFEE

15. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

20234 2022 F
2023 2022
AR¥BTR ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
B4 Software
REA At the beginning of the year:
DN Cost 24,044 15,120
ESIR 37 Accumulated amortisation (18,793) (8,934)
R FE Net carrying amount 5,251 6,186
FYIRHEE : Carrying amount at the beginning of
the year: 5,251 6,186
NE Additions 5,826 8,924
FREEEEH(E6) Amortisation provided during the
year (note 6) (9,879) (9,859)
FAREEE : Carrying amount at the end of the
year: 1,198 5,251
RER : At the end of the year:
B AR Cost 29,870 24,044
REH 5 Accumulated amortisation (28,672) (18,793)
R FE Net carrying amount 1,198 5,251

e
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16. HE&E 16. LEASES
REBERBAEA The Group as a lessee
AEBFEELEMANRLAE The Group has lease contracts for various items of office
XERBARENETEEZ2HES properties and office equipment used in its operations. Leases
H-HERLEWEZHB KN of office properties generally have lease terms between one and
T—Z2RF MPEARHE2HEH— six years, while office equipment generally has lease terms of 12
BI2E AU TR/ KEEBK months or less and/or is individually of low value. Generally, the
BE - —KmMs AEBXERHT Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased
ERASEBINEERDAMEE assets outside the Group.
(@ FHEEE (@) Right-of-use assets
FRNAREEFAEEEZREA The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets
BEREHAT and the movements during the year are as follows:
MAEYE
Office
properties
AR®T
RMB’000
-
7 2023F1 A1H As at 1 January 2023 40,713
NE Additions 3,304
WERX Depreciation charge (39,962)
R 2023F 12 A31H As at 31 December 2023 4,055
NS ES
Office
properties
AR®EFTT
RMB’000
R2022%1A1H As at 1 January 2022 78,991
NE Additions 6,009
&K B A R (K sE36) Disposal of subsidiaries (note 36) (366)
mERX Depreciation charge (43,921)
R2022%F 12 A31H As at 31 December 2022 40,713
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16. LEASES (Continued)

AEBERAEA @) The Group as a lessee (Continued)
b) HEEE (b) Lease liabilities
FAHECGEZEEHERED The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements
s during the year are as follows:
2023 % 2022 4
2023 2022
AR¥BTR ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
M1A1BEZEREEE Carrying amount at 1 January 45,476 82,706
MEE New leases 3,304 6,009
& BB 2 7] (51 36) Disposal of subsidiaries (note 36) - (291)
FAE RN EIE N Accretion of interest recognised
during the year 673 2,302
R Payments (45,325) (45,250)
M12A31B 2R EE Carrying amount at 31 December 4,128 45,476
DR Analysed into:
Nk Current portion 2,752 21,410
FEMBE D Non-current portion 1,376 24,066

HERBBZIHONMNYT B H
T FT 4282 57 o

e

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note
42 to the financial statements.
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16. & @) 16. LEASES (Continued)
AKEBEESABA(E) The Group as a lessee (Continued)
@@ MEEREZzHERzHE (@ The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to
U leases are as follows:
2023 F 2022 4F
2023 2022
AR®BT T ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
-
HEBEBEZME Interest on lease liabilities 673 2,302
CTRAEEEZITERX Depreciation charge of right-of-
use assets 39,962 43,921
HEHAEER cAX Expense relating to short-term
(FFATTE R X) leases (included in administrative
expenses) 19,188 5,931
HEBEEEHEAB MY  Expense relating to leases of
(BT AfTERAX) low-value assets (included in
administrative expenses) 10 33
RERBERZLBRE Total amount recognised in profit
or loss 59,833 52,187
-
b)) HEZEESRLEBRYBE R (b)  The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 35(b)
7= Bt 33 35(0) #E 5F © to the financial statements.
AEBEABHEAA The Group as a lessor
RNREFHBEEEYZE(HE14) The Group leases its investment properties (note 14) consisting
EREEKEHELTEBE TN Z=K of three commercial properties under operating lease
EEWE - HEKKX—MBKEKBR arrangements. The terms of the leases generally require the
YTRREFESGTEEEREERFORIT tenants to pay security deposits and provide for periodic rent
MR THARHE S AEEBRFER adjustments according to the then prevailing market conditions.
R AWz A ARE14,152,000 Rental income recognised by the Group during the year was
7T (20224 © A R #12,213,0007T) - RMB14,152,000 (2022: RMB12,213,000), details of which are
EEEE N B RENES - included in note 5 to the financial statements.
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LEASES (Continued)

At 31 December 2023, the undiscounted lease payments
receivable by the Group in future periods under non-cancellable
operating leases with its tenants are as follows:

20234 2022 F
2023 2022
AR®BTRE AR®TT
RMB’000 RMB’000

-,

—FE R Within one year 17,884 17,828
—FREMEN After one year but within two years 17,591 18,115
WEFZREBE=ZFN After two years but within three years 18,114 17,982
—FBRENFR After three years but within four years 17,982 17,922
MEZEBRFR After four years but within five years 17,921 17,682
hF1% After five years 134,415 149,512
Bz Total 223,907 239,041
.

NEBPEIRE 17. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES
2023 2022 F
2023 2022
AR®ET R ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
EREEFE Share of net assets 5,214,875 4,543,140

REETEELENTBHER Financial guarantees provided to

joint ventures 118,710 124,413
Bzt Total 5,333,585 4,667,553

AEBERESECERME TR
TREMERER EFBEEHLH
HI0 -EFZRR UHKERRE T
RATRER Al iSRS B (B - S H
BE/SAKRERALEEENE D F
BE -

AEBESELENEBHIARE
N RIAR M TR MM FEB9 W -

e

The Group has guaranteed certain of the bank and other
borrowings made to its joint ventures, details of which are set
out in note 30. In the opinion of the directors, the financial
guarantee services are unlikely to be compensated in the
foreseeable future and are considered as part of the Group’s
net investments in the joint ventures.

The Group’s receivables and payables with joint ventures are
disclosed in note 39 to the financial statements.
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(b)

17. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

AEBEESELEFE (a) Particulars of the Group’s material joint ventures
rEBEEMNG
o it B HEfBRA  FEEER
NEIEE FH HE Bokk FEEH
Percentage of
Nominal ownership
value of interest
Place and year registered attributable to Principal
Name of companies of registration share capital the Group activities
ARETTT
RMB’000
BMNEEBBERKN B R 10,000 30.00% ¥y ZEGE
BRRQA 20184F
Wenzhou Changzhuo Business ~ Wenzhou, PRC Property
Information Consulting Co., Ltd. 2018 development
MMEBEECEEEERRAF r B A7 M 100 24.50% YR
20194
Hangzhou Binsong Business Hangzhou, PRC Property
Management Co., Ltd. 2019 development
MINREEXFRAGF" o B A7 300,000 38.61% MR
20204F
Hangzhou Liangxin Real Estate Hangzhou, PRC Property
Co., Ltd 2020 development
* AEBESERE ZAELER * The directors of the Group are of the view that the joint venture

B E=2022F12A831H Lt FE A
BEEAEDLE  BEREE2023F
12A31BLEFERERNFEEEN

SRS

BMNEELHBEEZAERA
AI(ORMEF ) RAIMNEMEE
X¥EBBERAB([MMEME]D
R EH £2023F12HA31H It F
EWRAAESENEEZESGE D
¥ HEPRAMNEMEEE
HHMAERMEYWERBLIER I
LRERIETER

MMBEEZEER A (HM
2= 1) R E E20229F 12 A 31
HEFFERREAEBENES
EEME HEPEAMAEMW
AREBEHB AR EREE
B WiRERETER -

(b)

was the material joint ventures for the year ended 31 December
2022 but was not individually material for the year ended 31
December 2023.

Wenzhou Changzhuo Business Information Consulting
Co., Ltd. (“Wenzhou Changzhuo”), and Hangzhou Binsong
Business Management Co., Ltd. (“Hangzhou Binsong”),
which were considered a material joint venture of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2023, co-
developed property development projects with the other
joint venture partners in Chinese Mainland and were
accounted for using the equity method.

Hangzhou Liangxin Real Estate Co., Ltd. (“Hangzhou
Liangxin”), which was considered material joint ventures of
the Group during the year ended 31 December 2022, co-
developed property development projects with the other
joint venture partners in Chinese Mainland and were
accounted for using the equity method.
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17. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information in respect of Wenzhou Changzhuo and
Hangzhou Binsong, adjusted for any differences in
accounting policies and reconciled to the carrying amount

HER - in the consolidated financial statements:
BME R BN EE
Wenzhou Changzhuo Hangzhou Binsong
2023 F 20234
2023 2023
ARBFT AR TR
RMB’000 RMB’000
-
ReELRESEBEY Cash and cash equivalents 15,398 123,022
HEMmeEE Other current assets 149,722 2,027,727
MBEE Current assets 165,120 2,150,749
FERBEE Non-current assets 40 205
cREECITEEE 5K Financial liabilities,
ot fE T FRIB) excluding trade and
other payables
HRe e’ Other current liabilities (129,837) (1,771,302)
mEBE Current liabilities (129,837) (1,771,302)
BEFE Net assets 35,323 379,672
RAEENELDEYD  Reconciliation to the
R 2 R Group’s interest in the
joint venture:
REBMRA R Proportion of the Group’s
ownership 30.00% 24.50%
AEEREGEEEDE Group’s share of net
EEFE assets of the joint
venture 10,597 93,020
REREEAE Carrying amount of the
investment 10,597 93,020
WA Revenue 3,220,780 5,874,625
B Expenses (2,624,315) (5,272,210)
I8 Tax (149,116) (150,719)
FRFHE Profit for the year 447,349 451,696
FAEE K =B Total comprehensive
income for the year 447,349 451,696
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17. REEDEZRE @ 17. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)
(b) &) (b) (Continued)
TRITBEBEBMMNREEHZE The following table illustrates the summarised financial
2022F 12 A31 H It F E & 8 % information in respect of Hangzhou Liangxin for the year
ERBE AP EMgst ended 31 December 2022, adjusted for any differences in
HEZREHABLEREE accounting policies and reconciled to the carrying amount
W mREREEYR: in the consolidated financial statements:
2022
2022
AR®EF T
RMB’000
ReNMREEED Cash and cash equivalents 257,155
EMREEE Other current assets 1,652,292
MEEE Current assets 1,900,447
FEMEBEE Non-current assets 5,916
tREETEREESR Financial liabilities, excluding trade and
H b fE A 3IH) other payables
HEmrEhamE Other current liabilities (1,409,903)
mEaE Current liabilities (1,409,903)
BEFE Net assets 505,460

FAEBRESEDCEMELZ Y Reconciliation to the Group’s interest in

R - the joint venture:

REBEFFBR#EIGL Proportion of the Group’s ownership 38.6%

REBREGEESEDEEEFEME  Group’s share of net assets of the joint venture 195,158

Bt A X G AREHBRAE Adjustment for unrealised profits and losses

from related party transactions (2,767)

KEREmEE Carrying amount of the investment 192,391
WA Revenue 2,267,999
PR AR e A Cost and expenses (1,695,057)
18 Tax (216,900)
F A FE Profit for the year 356,033
FRNEEWE AT Total comprehensive income for the year 356,033
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17. REETEZBRE W 17. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)
() TRITAEEBAREE K (c) The following table illustrates the aggregate financial
EEPENEBTBHER information of the Group’s joint ventures which are not
individually material:
2023 F 2022
2023 2022
AREBTRT AR%®TET
RMB’000 RMB’000
.
FARMLMaEEEER Share of the joint ventures’ profits

EERELEEE WS AR

AEENRAELEREN
fREARE

and losses for the year 354,659 381,434
Share of the joint ventures’ total

comprehensive income 354,659 381,434
Aggregate carrying amount of the

Group’s investments in the joint

ventures 5,229,968 4,859,951

BELXEXRAEREAR-

KRB EERB R2023F
1AHEFTEL RERE
(20224 : #E) -

18. REEEDNTIMNKBE

-
The joint ventures have been accounted for using the
equity method.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that no
provision for impairment was necessary as at 31
December 2023 (2022: Nil).

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

2023 2022 £

2023 2022

ARET T AR T T

RMB’000 RMB’000

fEhEEFE Share of net assets 14,553,509 16,549,407
REFEE RN AN BER Financial guarantees provided to

associates 270,891 278,773

FEls Total 14,824,400 16,828,180

AEBERAEBREQRRIEMHE TR
TTREMERER EFBIHRH
HI0-EBEEFRR WHBERRHE D
RATBER Al R KSR #E - tHE
RN NN

SRR A D F
RE -

7N £ [ LB 2 N R B FE UK IR I B
FRIB R B 75 $R R I LSO 4K 5E

e

The Group has guaranteed certain of the bank and other
borrowings made to its associates, details of which are set out
in note 30. In the opinion of the directors, the financial guarantee
services are unlikely to be compensated in the foreseeable
future and are considered as part of the Group’s net
investments in the associates.

The Group’s receivables and payables with associates are
disclosed in note 39 to the financial statements.
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18. REtZE N AR E @) 18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)
(@) AEBEEHZEQATFE (@) Particulars of the Group’s material associates
rEBEEMNG
HMBRA FrEEER
ACIEE =t i 3t B K% 4 H{E Bolk TEFEH
Percentage of
Nominal ownership
value of interest
Place and year registered attributable to Principal
Name of companies of registration share capital the Group activities
AREF T
RMB’000
FMRIHEXRBRAA] B M 742,860 49.00% 7 % A %
20194
Changzhou Liangyue Real Estate Changzhou, PRC Property
Co., Ltd 2019 development
GIEEEEXEFRAA F B 5 A 50,000 30.22% ¥R
20204
Hefei Jufeng Real Estate Co., Ltd Hefei, PRC Property
2020 development
REFRAE™ FB 1,659 7T 24.50% ¥R
20184 USD1,659
Brilliant Friend Limited** Hong Kong Property
2018 development
AN R % & R A F)™ r B A7 M 2,400,000 15.00% ¥ %5 2%
20184
Hangzhou Zhetong Investment Hangzhou, PRC Property
Co., Ltd* 2018 development
* RIBEBRM AR IEEBR R T (7 * Pursuant to the articles of association of Hangzhou Zhetong
M REDNEZEEREZ@ME - K Investment Co., Ltd. (“Hangzhou Zhetong”), the Group has
SEENERE—REEMAEE significant influence by appointing one director in the board.
g WHHBEEAXES- Therefore, Hangzhou Zhetong was accounted for as an associate
It B =2022F 128318 I F of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022.
EomMARARIAEAEED
/NS
** AEBEZRR ZEHERT * The directors of the Group are of the view that those associates
RE £2022F12A31H It F & were the material associates for the year ended 31 December
REREE QT - BRE E2023 2022 but were not individually material for the year ended 31
F12A3BIEFERMBAIEEXR December 2023.

HHgE & N E]
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(b)

BEMBEBEEBRAA(TEM
Z2HDEREAEEEEEXEBR A
A ([&BE )R E £20234F
12A3M A EFEHRRIEREE
MEZBENA BPBE R
MEMBERNRBAREME
FM%ER  WIRER RV -

REBRRAATREE]D - M
W E & A R FE & R L 22022 F
12A3M AL FEHRBRIERAEE
MEZBEQA BPE R
MHEMBERNRBAREME
FM%EE  WIREREYER-

R 35 ER | B o

Notes to Financial Statements
2023412 A 31 H 31 December 2023

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

(b)

Changzhou Liangyue Real Estate Co., Ltd (“Changzhou
Liangyue”), and Hefei Jufeng Real Estate Co., Ltd. (“Hefei
Jufeng”), which were considered material associates of
the Group during the year ended 31 December 2023, co-
developed property development projects with the other
associates in Chinese Mainland and were accounted for
using the equity method.

Brilliant Friend Limited (“Brilliant Friend”), Hangzhou
Zhetong and Hefei Jufeng which were considered material
associates of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2022, co-developed property development
projects with the other associates in Chinese Mainland
and were accounted for using the equity method.
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18. REEE R A NERE @) 18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

(b) (&) (b) (Continued)
TR REBRE MR REE The following table illustrates the summarised financial
JE & B £2023F12A31H Lt information in respect of Changzhou Liangyue and Hefei
FEMNPBKERNBEE EfhE Jufeng for the year ended 31 December 2023, adjusted
REMEFBREEEDL R for any differences in accounting policies and reconciled
BYWE RSB HREAKREEB to the carrying amount in the consolidated financial
i statements:

EMRB  AREFEE

Changzhou Hefei
Liangyue Jufeng
2023 F 2023 F
2023 2023

ARBTT ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000

MENE E Current assets 1,683,701 1,310,745
EMBEE Non-current assets 501 4,496
mENEE Current liabilities (319,742) (523,392)
FERBEE Non-Current liabilities (205,000) (2,493)
BEFE Net assets 1,159,460 789,356

RIAEB RS AaM#Ez 2  Reconciliation to the Group’s interest

R in the associate:

REBEFFBREGL Proportion of the Group’s ownership 49.00% 30.22%

AEBEGEE AT EEFRME  Group’s share of net assets of the
associate 568,133 238,528
HERAEE Carrying amount of the investment 568,133 238,528
PN Revenue 2,698,791 2,052,459
F R A Profit for the year 435,982 384,738

FAZEMKEALE Total comprehensive income for the
year 435,982 384,738
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18. REFE R AMNKRE m) 18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

(b) (&) (b)

TRITBEBEBMINEHE R
2022F 12 A31H I FE %
ERBME EPEpEM S
BREZEEEHABIERALEZE

(Continued)

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information in respect of Hangzhou Rongyue for the year
ended 31 December 2022, adjusted for any differences in
accounting policies and reconciled to the carrying amount

W mREREEYR: in the consolidated financial statements:
R%E LM R SIEE &
Brilliant Hangzhou Hefei
Friend Zhetong Jufeng
2022 F 2022 F 2022
2022 2022 2022
ARBTT ARBTT AR®TTT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
mENE E Current assets 1,730,066 4,578,136 3,034,043
IERBEE Non-current assets 89 1,496 56,733
RBEE Current liabilities (218,374)  (1,391,582)  (2,686,157)
BEFE Net assets 1,511,781 3,188,050 404,619
A AN &= E A B4 A FIEY  Recondiliation to the Group’s
M B ER - interest in the associate:
REBFFARGE Proportion of the Group’s
ownership 24.50% 15.00% 30.22%
REBEGHE QA Group’s share of net assets
BEEFE of the associate 370,386 478,208 122,276
B TR ZARER Adjustment for unrealised
18 25 78 2 profits and losses from
related party transactions (13) (867) (5,531)
HERAEE Carrying amount of the
investment 370,373 477,841 116,745
WA Revenue 3,184,374 11,247,006 2,745,216
X F Profit for the year 796,885 985,114 471,125
FRNEHEW =B Total comprehensive income
for the year 796,885 985,114 471,125
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18. REEZE XA MNKRE @®) 18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)
() TRINTAEEBEAIIEEKRD (c) The following table illustrates the aggregate financial
HENREETEER information of the Group’s associates which are not

individually material:

20234 2022 F
2023 2022
AR®BTRE AR®TT
RMB’000 RMB’000

-,

F AR E R RFE R Share of the associates’ profits and

B8 losses for the year (7,266) (132,678)
JEMLEE S AR 2 MmUY BE  Share of the associates’ total
comprehensive income (7,266) (132,678)

$ %= I E’\H‘s‘% BERARER Aggregate carrying amount of the

H4E Group’s investments in the
associates 14,017,739 16,228,725
-
R MBI EERREBE AT The associates have been accounted for using the equity
AR AARE - method in the above financial information.
RANREERE  N2023F12 The directors of the Company are of the opinion that no
A31E M ET(EL R EREG provision for impairment was necessary as at 31
(20224 : &) o December 2023 (2022: Nil).
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19. EEB H 19. DEFERRED TAX
REANNELEHBEEERBENE The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the
g : year are as follows:

EEHEBEEE Deferred tax assets
HEHRR BREH AHER
ERBAE RRERB ol Est it
HERE THANESR B X BERE ARERHRA BEH @zt
Losses

available for  Expenses for Unrealised

offsetting offsetting revenue in

Lease  against future  against future Impairment of contract
liabilities ~ taxable profits ~ taxable profits assets liabilities  Accrued LAT Total
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

R2022F1A1HEK Gross deferred tax assets

BENEEELS at 1 January 2022 20,677 180,140 107,981 68,683 2,945,878 158,299 3,481,658
&M B AR (F5£36)  Disposal of subsidiaries (note 36) (79) - - - (44,672) - (44,745)
ER(BE)/ A Deferred tax (charged)/credited to

BRMECHE profit or loss during the year

(M3£10) (note 10) (9,235) 71,118 (51,440) (16,164) (404,431) (54,923 (465,075)

R2022%F 12 A31HE) Gross deferred tax assets
EENBEELS at 31 December 2022 11,369 251,258 56,541 52,519 2,496,775 103,376 2,971,838

R202361 A1EK Gross deferred tax assets

BENEEELS at 1 January 2023 11,369 251,258 56,541 52,519 2,496,775 103,376 2,971,838
W BB B A A Acquisition of subsidiaries - - - - 90,614 _ 90,614
HEN B AT (fizE36)  Disposal of subsidiaries (note 36) - - - - (50,034) - (50,034)
FRHKRE)/ A Deferred tax (charged)/credited to

BRMELHE profit or loss during the year

(H&E10) (note 10) (10,337) (69,555) (10,447) 92,504 (1,389,027) (18,710)  (1,395,572)

R2023%F 12 A31HE) Gross deferred tax assets
EEHBEEERS at 31 December 2023 1,032 191,703 46,094 145,023 1,148,328 84,666 1,616,846
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19. EERK EH @) 19. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)
REANNELEHBEEERBENE The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the
FHanr : (B) year are as follows: (Continued)

EEHRELEE Deferred tax liabilities
RE
NERFE
HEWNERT %%
BBEREHN LIES-E: AHER
BESY GRAEEE DATERE  LTERER Hit @t
Fair value
adjustments
arising from
Changes in investment Fair value
provision for properties and  adjustments
financial completed  arising from
guarantee  Right-of-use properties held business
contracts assets for sale combinations Others Total
ARBTT AREFRT ARBTR ARETR ARETRT ARETx
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

202241 A1EH  Gross deferred tax liabilties

EREHEEE at 1 January 2022

k) 53,978 19,747 116,523 111,889 292,802 594,939
HENBAR Disposal of subsidiaries (note 36)

(HI7£36) - 92) - - - 92)

ERMKBE/ (5t \) Deferred tax charged/(credited) to
BamMELERE profit or loss during the year
(Wizt10) (note 10) 466 0,477) (1,930 (17,996) 7,711 (21,206)

W2022F 12318  Gross deferred tax liabilities at
MEEHBEAR 31 December 2022
k) 54,444 10,178 114,593 93,893 300,513 573,621

2023451 A1EH  Gross deferred tax liabilties at

BEEHEER 1 January 2023
ok 54,444 10,178 114,593 93,893 300,513 573,621
EREABRAEE Deferred tax credited to profit or
BIE (f1510) loss during the year
(note 10) (42,308) (0,164) (25,644) (27,762) (300,513) (405,391)

W2023F 128318  Gross deferred tax liabilities at
MEEHBAR 31 December 2023
k) 12,136 1,014 88,949 66,131 - 168,230
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19. IE & % 18 @) 19. DEFERRED TAX (continued)
REVMES HETEERBEEER
BEECREEBR AR AEE-
WTARTBERENNAEEE
R IE & fR 0 AT

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and
liabilities have been offset in the consolidated statement of
financial position. The following is an analysis of the deferred tax
balances of the Group for financial reporting purposes:

2023 F 2022 fF
2023 2022
ARETRT AREBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000

-

KRB MR R AR

Net deferred tax assets recognised

EIERTE & EFE in the consolidated statement of
financial position 1,569,841 2,936,545
RER A BT ISR R A R A Net deferred tax liabilities recognised
EXERIES EFRE in the consolidated statement of
financial position (121,225) (5638,328)
BB EREERNELTIE Net deferred tax assets in respect of
BEFE continuing operations 1,448,616 2,398,217

——————————————

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the
following items:

BESLATHEERARTEHBAEE

2023 & 2022 F
2023 2022
AR®ETR AR®BTT
RMB’000 RMB’000

-

MIEEE Tax losses 2,874,041 1,625,287
B0 R = %A Deductible temporary differences 2,267,869 1,434,436
5,141,910 3,059,723

—————————————

R FHEEET —EREREES
BB QAR 2 ARERSE
Fl o AR AT KA LR BR & 7
EEAEAEE T AR IR
FTHEERREERIBEEE - 25/
HEE 5D B & 22024 F -~ 2025
T 2026 FF ~ 2027 FF N 20284 (I B
BZEFE)EM -

The above tax losses are available indefinitely for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies in which the
losses arose. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in
respect of the above items as it is not considered probable that
taxable profits will be available against which the above items
can be utilised. These tax losses will expire up to and including
years 2024, 2025, 2026, 2027 and 2028.
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19.

20.

188

iE 7E B 18 (@)

At A EEERZEERERN
S B BT B 2 R B 2008 1 A1 H B
EXREF TSIk S 49780
oo NEE R E B ERB5%K10% °

202312 4318 - & 3t &~ 2
EIDSE Y sl v ol 9]
NAEIABMIENB A KRE LR F E
HHBEBNHERECERE - A2 7
EERBE AEENESBEBES
BHAMAIERAEBMNZE At
ZEWBRARTAAMERA RE
R IRZERBAF - BRI EERE
EHREABENPRANHE QA -
AECERBERNITNRENB
MERNEZERABAREOAEAR
¥ 385,537,000 70 (2022 F : A R #&
770,740,0007T) °

SFABEZNER

19.

20.

DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in Chinese
Mainland in respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008.
The applicable rate is 5% or 10% for the Group.

At 31 December 2023, no deferred tax has been recognised for
withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted
earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the Company
and the Group’s subsidiaries established in Chinese Mainland.
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the Group’s
fund will be retained in Chinese Mainland for the expansion of
the Group’s operation, so it is not probable that these
subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable
future. The aggregate amounts of temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associates in Chinese Mainland for which deferred tax liabilities
have not been recognised totalled approximately
RMB385,537,000 (2022: RMB770,740,000).

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

HibIF EHRE  HAFE

2023 F 2022 F

2023 2022

AR%ET T ARBT T

RMB’000 RMB’000

Other unlisted investments, at fair value 37,002 34,266

HRLEARARERSFEEE &
DERBAFEFTABDENE R

EitIEEHRE ARIBTETHE
MES BREANBLRELE
BAASRAENK KL HHE
AEATEGABEOEBEE -

The above equity investments were classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss as they were held for trading.

The above unlisted investments were wealth management
products issued by banks. They were mandatorily classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as their
contractual cash flows are not solely payments of principal and
interest.
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21. EEWE 21. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT
20234 2022 F
2023 2022
AR®ET R AR®ETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
7 F ) At the beginning of the year 112,418,842 132,008,659
NE Additions 24,064,608 21,512,221
& B B A | (B 5E36) Disposal of subsidiaries (note 36) (1,793,982) (2,803,268)
EEEEELEND T I ¥ Transferred to completed properties
(Bt 3E22) held for sale (note 22) (63,650,419)  (37,405,333)
BRI EEE (M :E6) Impairment losses recognised (note 6) (2,008,965) (1,137,910)
HBEZEEREND T ILYE Imparment losses transferred to
BB 1B (M FE22) completed properties held for sale
(note 22) 253,173 244,473
INESFN At the end of the year 69,283,257 112,418,842
S
AREENEERMELHM AR E A The Group’s properties under development are situated on
HMMAE o leasehold lands in Chinese Mainland.
Ro023F12A31H A E B E@® As at 31 December 2023, certain of the Group’s properties
@{E AN AR K52342,162,000 7T under development with an aggregate carrying amount of
(20224 : A R ¥ 56,787,872,0007T) approximately RMB52,342,162,000 (2022: RMB56,787,872,000)
MEFEEYMED TEMR - LUIEA have been pledged to secure bank and other borrowings
REBEKRIT A MERER granted to the Group (note 29).
(B zE29) -
TEYENRERBEESHOT The movements in provision for impairment of properties under
development are as follows:
2023 F 2022 F
2023 2022
AR T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
I
R E A At the beginning of the year (1,628,422) (734,985)
BRI EEE (H3Ee6) Impairment losses recognised (note 6) (2,008,965) (1,137,910)
1 5 B BB S 18 Impairment losses written-off 217,831 —
EREEEHEND ETYE Imparment losses transferred to
BB E 1B (ffFE22) completed properties held for sale
(note 22) 253,173 244 473
RFER At the end of the year (3,166,383) (1,628,422)

—————————————
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21. EEWEm) 21. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT (Continued)
EFEMENEEVE]DMEBER The value of properties under development (“PUD”) was
EHRETHH - EREEEBERB assessed at the end of the reporting period. An impairment
HA @R EEE FEERE-. 7 exists when the carrying value exceeds its net realisable value.
PR FEHAEE2EREHRD The net realisable value is determined by the Group with
RTMARBEEERAREZERD reference to the prevailing market conditions and existing
AIEEERST RNTEH T TRA T prices, less applicable variable selling expenses and anticipated
B costs at completion, at the end of the reporting period.

22 BEHENEZTIWE 22. COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

2023 F 2022 4
2023 2022
ARMTRT AR%T
RMB’000 RMB’000
FYRHEE Carrying amount at the beginning
of the year 24,696,306 21,272,280
ERaEEmEFE21) Transferred from properties under
development (note 21) 63,650,419 37,405,333
ERECDEWMERAN (M3E6)  Transferred to cost of properties sold
(note 6) (61,036,997)  (33,519,437)
HHE HORE BB (M 5E6) Impairment losses written off (note 6) 398,148 434,799
EREOEEDENREEIE Impairment losses transferred from
(M 5E21) properties under development (note
21) (253,173) (244,473)
& B8 A 7] (M9 7E36) Disposal of subsidiaries (note 36) (263,672) (111,660)
B RREEE (M 5E6) Impairment losses recognised (note 6) (750,890) (540,536)
FREEMEAE Carrying amount at the end of the year 26,440,141 24,696,306

e
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22. COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

(Continued)

The movements in provision for impairment of completed

FEN T properties held for sale are as follows:
2023 2022 4%
2023 2022
AR®E T AR®ET T
RMB’000 RMB’000

.
R F ¥ At the beginning of the year (736,921) (386,711)
il 84 B9 R E B 1B Impairment losses written off 398,148 434,799
HEETERYENREBSE Impairment losses transferred from
(Pt 5F21) properties under development

(note 21) (253,173) (244,473)
BB EERE (HEe) Impairment losses recognised (note 6) (750,890) (540,536)
NG N At the end of the year (1,342,836) (736,921)

FIFEHENETIVENEEBEELR
EHRETHE - EREEBEE
AR FER AFERE- A&
BEED2EERBTHEMNEE
BMEBRANBEERX TAEE -

23. EFEWRIE

e

The value of completed properties held for sale was assessed
at the end of the reporting period. An impairment exists when
the carrying value exceeds its net realisable value. The net
realisable value is determined by reference to the selling price
based on prevailing market price less applicable selling
expenses.

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES

2023 F 2022 %

2023 2022

AR®ET R ARBT T

RMB’000 RMB’000

B 5 e siE Trade receivables 7,857 7,751
BE Impairment = —
AR M FE Net carrying amount 7,857 7,751
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23. E 5 EIWRKIE @)
EoRKREBFTEZERREELPNE
Wi E  NEBR N ERBEHE
AW B EWFRIA - BEE AT
EETHRN ERX L RAEEH
EoRWHREBEHAXETRAEFRE
7 - I%IT@EW%H TN RS
F RIS

BHRW AR EEMRETEE -

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Trade receivables mainly represent rentals receivable from
tenants. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed
regularly by management. In view of the aforementioned and
the fact that the Group’s trade receivables relate to a large
number of diversified customers, there is no significant
concentration of credit risk.

Trade receivables are unsecured and non-interest-bearing. The

EoRWRENEAEREEQNYE carrying amounts of trade receivables approximate to their fair
$H A RBERRERBERZHBHW values. An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end
EZREWHIBEBRNEREDITOT of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:
2023 F 2022 4
2023 2022
AR¥ T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
PR —F Less than 1 year 7,857 7,751
—F Over 1 year = —
Bzt Total 7,857 7,751
EEeee——
R HR A FE UG SR OB ER i HRdm B 49 2 Receivables that were not past due relate to a large number of

BHAETREFPARM-

7N £ B B R 10 05 & 3k B BR B 7S
EEAFIORMENBREEE RN
REBHE ZHEATRABESE
WREERHEHREEREE - B
AAERHEEEE B EKRNA
ERAREERRERIARRE
D ERNUAHEBERAXMNE@A
BN ARAREERREHEZ
FHEBNBEHEERRETEXR

P I ST IR B R A o
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diversified customers for whom there was no recent history of
default.

The Group applies the simplified approach to providing for
expected credit losses prescribed by IFRS 9, which permits the
use of the lifetime expected loss provision for all trade
receivables. To measure the expected credit losses, trade
receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. Based on the evaluation
on the expected loss rate and the gross carrying amount, the
directors of the Company are of the opinion that the expected
credit losses in respect of these balances are immaterial, and
therefore, there has not been a loss allowance provision.
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24, FEA{TFIE & H At FE WK IE 24. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2023 F 2022 4

2023 2022

AR®ET R ARBT T

RMB’000 RMB’000

FE B IE N H b R] Uk ] B 1A Prepaid tax and other tax recoverable 3,526,892 5,391,122
ME=HF+MEREEMBANIKZRSES  Deposits related to third parties’ land

use rights 202,858 932,809

TihHEZ S Deposits for land auction 282,293 416,340

HEfize Other deposits 4,733,359 4,408,704
U BE + i (F AR EE B X IE  Progress prepayments for acquisition

of land use rights - 63,661

R ATE RIE Prepayments for construction cost 411,751 315,542

JE s Bt /BB B FE 1R AR AR BR 5K 1A Due from non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries 25,852,465 27,311,660
H b & Y 518 Other receivables 3,301,263 2,879,628

38,310,881 41,719,466

B RE Less: Impairment 140,675 94,383
WD BEARHEENE S Less: Portion classified as current

assets 38,170,206 41,625,083
IERENFB > Non-current portion — —

e

HpEkFEAEE®. . 15+ A Other receivables are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and have
42 [ 7E 38 FHABR - no fixed terms of repayment.
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24, FEAATIE R H b FE W R IE @)

UK IR BEREEE T

24. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

The movements in provision for impairment of receivables are

as follows:
2023 2022 4%
2023 2022
ARET T AR®ET T
RMB’000 RMB’000

-,

NG At the beginning of the year 94,383 31,361
EERREEE Impairment losses recognised 46,292 63,022
RER At the end of the year 140,675 94,383

AEERBEEHEEBEEENEE
o FE UL SR T K d e 1T R E AR
ZREFHEFTAEBETBHBRE
HEAFEIOFRETHREFTEHERT -
BEHEEEEMNSENSREAH
BH - URBBULERARNE
B R E 1 R2023F 128318 -
TEH{Z B &8 B AR 140,675,000
TT(2022F 12 A31H: A B #
94,383,0007T) °
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e

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model
on other receivables and deposits, which are subject to
impairment assessment under IFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition. As at 31 December 2023, the ECLs
were RMB140,675,000 (31 December 2022: RMB94,383,000).
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25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS,

EREEHAER RESTRICTED CASH AND PLEDGED
DEPOSITS

2023 2022 FF
2023 2022
ARET T AR T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
N e MIR1TE & Cash and bank balances 10,662,500 16,585,989
B XBREIEE Less: Restricted cash 3,329,850 1,760,385
BEHER Pledged deposits 93,841 221,878
RekBeEED Cash and cash equivalents 7,238,809 14,603,726
UAREESE Denominated in RMB 7,227,805 14,598,266
LA TTETE Denominated in HK$ 10,583 3,647
AETLEE Denominated in US$ 421 1,813
st Total 7,238,809 14,603,726

BIEFRBE@ER AEENET
MERE LR ABETRERER
EREERTEFPEREREZ - X
2023F 12 A31H ZEXRH R &
B A R #2,350,641,0007T (2022 4F :
AR #725028,0007T) °

MR2023F12 A31H » A% B Bk 4
B & # A R #979,209,000 7t (2022
& AR #1,085,357,0007T) B9 & F
X HIIR & B WA RE

7202312 431 H + AR#93,841,000
JL(20224F = A R #221,878,0007T ) HY
BITHERETER (EAEXRKIB
ERSBEEEENEKFRER TR
THERBRITHRITAALZENIKES

e

Pursuant to relevant regulations in the PRC, certain property
development companies of the Group are required to place
certain amounts of cash in designated bank accounts for
specified use. As at 31 December 2023, such restricted cash
amounted to RMB2,350,641,000 (2022: RMB725,028,000).

As at 31 December 2023, certain of the Group’s restricted cash
amounted to an aggregate carrying amount of approximately
RMB979,209,000 (2022: RMB1,035,357,000) which have been
frozen by the court.

As at 31 December 2023, bank deposits of RMB93,841,000
(2022: RMB221,878,000) were pledged as security for
purchasers’ mortgage loans, or construction of projects, or
pledged to banks as collateral for issuance of bank acceptance
notes.
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25 HERRSEEY: ZRHIE
EREEAER @

ARBETAIEHABSHEMBER
A RIBEHBE A2 EEIE
RO RCEE - EERNSESER
T AN R R R AT I
Eifﬁ%z&ﬁﬁﬂ%)\ﬁﬁgi@%ﬁm

RITRERVRBEEHRITHFRN XIZ
FEFEREAE - RITHEBRER
FHERACREFEEETRENHR
T-REFASFEYHNREER
HRAFERE-

F2023F12 A31H - XRHIFE & -
EEREFERUNLRRELREEFED
BAMBEETRRRERRITIER -
AEECDHESEIRHWRE B
BEREFERALRSMREFEYHN
EE R B )0 5B AR &R E
g e ERREAEREEER
AAERE BB EHEREAEE
BRI TEK-

26. ESENRERENSEE

RBERRENBLZAHRNE SR
NRBERENEBENRESTOT

25.

26.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS,
RESTRICTED CASH AND PLEDGED
DEPOSITS (Continued)

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under Chinese Mainland’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default. The
carrying amounts of the cash and cash equivalents
approximated to their fair values.

As at 31 December 2023, the internal credit rating of restricted
cash, pledged deposits and cash and cash equivalents were
regarded as the grade of performing. The Group has assessed
that the credit risk of the restricted cash, pledged deposits and
cash and cash equivalents has not increased significantly since
initial recognition and measured the impairment based on the
12-month expected credit losses, and has assessed that the
expected credit losses are immaterial.

TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

20234 2022 F
2023 2022
ARBTR ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
-,
DR —F Less than 1 year 9,910,634 15,416,547
—F A E Over 1 year 15,703,553 5,602,499
25,614,187 21,019,046
e
BoEMNZELEMNEZE A ®KHE Trade and bills payables are unsecured, interest-free and are
PRl —WMERIBEELE - normally settled based on the progress of construction. As at31
R2023F 12318 &~ 7 KM B December 2023, commercial acceptance bills of approximately
NAAENEEALEZENDAR RMB193,166,000 (2022: RMB256,957,000) issued by the

A
[

F

#193,166,000 7T (2022 F : A
256,957,000 7T ) %1 BA K £+F o

RBEMREZRNFTBARENR
EOAFEEEAREKEEMRS
[REAREE MR AHEEE -
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Company’s subsidiaries were overdue and unpaid.

The fair values of trade and bills payables as at the end of the
reporting period approximated to their corresponding carrying
amounts due to their relatively short maturity terms.
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27. HtERREREFER 27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS
2023 F 2022 4
2023 2022
AR®TRT AR®FT
RMB’000 RMB’000
.
JE 1 B B 2 B FE 4% AR AR R SR IE Due to non-controlling shareholders
of subsidiaries 16,973,368 19,031,393
BE =W HAEEBERIR  Advances from third parties related
to land auction 55,489 156,236
BENEERERS Retention deposits related to
construction 1,398,197 1,863,631
YHEERBELZS Deposits related to sales of
properties 415,361 621,292
AT & Value added tax and surcharges 1,318,964 1,069,332
B T & KAg T Payroll and welfare payable 82,881 78,603
&~ F B Interest payable 1,372,078 533,803
i Others 1,774,175 1,161,450
Bt Total 23,390,513 24,515,740
.
H fth f& 1 I8 [ FE A B B A R JE4E Other payables and amounts due to non-controlling
BREKRELAERBRIZREKE shareholders of subsidiaries are unsecured and repayable on
o NS WMEHREAMENRIED demand. The fair values of other payables at the end of each of
AP EEEBEREEBEES the reporting periods approximated to their corresponding

carrying amounts.

28. SHEE 28. CONTRACT LIABILITIES
AEBEBRRATEHKABBNE The Group recognised the following revenue-related contract
HEE: liabilities:

2023 2022 F

2023 2022

AR®BTR ARBTT

RMB’000 RMB’000

EHMEE Contract liabilities 65,018,077 113,837,210
AREBERBEMEHES DA The Group receives payments from customers based on billing
BERREAERRAEZFRAR - IHRBEE schedules as established in the property sales contracts.
BREAHWBEEZAMKE  FKEEXE Payments are usually received in advance of the performance
REWERMENEE - under the contracts which are mainly from property

development and sales.
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29. T ERRITREMER

B Hp Current
RITER Bank loans —
— B secured
HMER Other loans —
— HEH secured
HiE R Other loans
— EIK — unsecured
RERITEFE  Current portion of
BN ER &0 7 long term bank
—BHEA loans — secured
EHEMEFE  Current portion of
BIER A6 5 long term other
— B loans — secured
REVH M EFE  Current portion of
BN ER &0 7> long term other
—ERE loans —
unsecured

4B — B Total - current

FEENHA Non-current
RITEX Bank loans —
—BHEAE secured
HEMER Other loans —
—EHA secured
HMER Other loans
—EmEA — unsecured

BET—EAH

Total = non-current

“ET Total
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29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER

BORROWINGS

2023%F12A31 H
31 December 2023

202212 A31H
31 December 2022

BRI E (%) Y AR®TRT FEFIE%) BB ARETTT
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
(%) Maturity ~ RMB’000 (%) Maturity ~ RMB’000
6.50-7.50 2023 78,000
11.00-14.50  RER/ 772,553
2023%
On demand/
2023
6.00-16.00  REk,/ 2,582,605
20235
On demand/
2023
4.60-9.00  ®EZX/ 3,814,148
20234
On demand/
2023
7.70-12.50 20234 1,876,407
2023
10.00-14.50  ®Ek,/ 2,217,340
2023%
On demand/
2023
11,341,143
410-10.50 20242025 6,070,740
2.80-15.00 20242025 2,149,200
8.00-12.00  2024-2025 672,270
8,892,210

20,233,353
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AT ERITREMER @ 29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (Continued)
2023 F 2022 F
2023 2022
ARMTRT ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
WA Analysed into:
EERRITER: Bank loans repayable:
—FRLZENK Within one year or on demand 4,705,314 3,892,148
F_F In the second year 802,309 5,158,740
F-FEFRLF In the third to fifth years, inclusive
(BREEMSF) 849,890 912,000
NEE Subtotal 6,357,513 9,962,888
EEEHMEN : Other borrowings repayable:
—FRKZENR Within one year or on demand 6,780,935 7,448,995
$_4F In the second year 1,154,604 1,912,016
F-FEFRLF In the third to fifth years, inclusive
(BREEMSF) 308,550 909,454
NE Subtotal 8,244,089 10,270,465
st Total 14,601,602 20,233,353
-
Ro023E12A31H » st BSRIT R H b As at 31 December 2023, an aggregate amount of principal of
B A% 4 5 A R #4,030,455,000 RMB4,030,455,000 for interest-bearing bank and other
THANRTETEHHEE S B borrowings had not been repaid according to their scheduled
SEHFERTLREMETARKE repayment dates, triggering certain long term interest-bearing
533,475,000 T K & Al IR ESRE & o pank and other borrowings amounted to RMB533,475,000

becoming repayable on demand.

M2023F12 A31 H & » R20234F 12 Subsequent to 31 December 2023, an aggregate amount of
B31R®HEMEt 2T R EMmER principal of RMB89,560,000 for interest-bearing bank and other
K4 4 AR 89,560,000 = & borrowings, which were overdue as at 31 December 2023,
BEo AEER o were repaid or extended.
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2. GFEBITRHEMER @ 29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (Continued)
AREEBETROTIMNEMEZBAE Certain of the Group’s bank and other borrowings are secured
T EEEERM ENBEHK by the pledges of the following assets with carrying values at
MEREERT : the end of the reporting period as follows:
2023 % 2022 F
2023 2022
M AR®WTR ARBTT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
-
TEWME Properties under development 21 52,342,162 56,787,872
-
RARAFEEBEDNGELSESERTT The management of the Company has assessed that the fair
FEMMEFH AL EHEEE@mER values of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
E ITEBERAZEZEIIIANE approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the fact
BB VE=—Z TS RBERERTT that such borrowings were made between the Group and
BRI EEL o independent third party financial institutions based on prevailing
market interest rates.
W2023FE 12 A31 H i3 AN A 7] IEF IR Certain of the bank and other borrowings of up to
BEEIERSE FHRITLEMETZ RMB2,262,381,000 were guaranteed by the Company’s non-
% B AN R %2 262,381,000 7T (2022 controlling shareholders as at 31 December 2023 (2022:
#F: AR#3,219,358,0007T) ° RMB3,219,358,000).
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30. MBERENBE 30. PROVISION FOR FINANCIAL GUARANTEE

CONTRACTS
2023 F 2022 FF
2023 2022
AR®ET R ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
k) At the beginning of the year 236,839 138,523
EHEEEEED Changes in expected credit losses 169,230 (1,867)
NE Additions 3,527 100,183
RER At the end of the year 409,596 236,839

MBRERENERAEESELE
ERBERREBERGETRITREMS
BBEOER L BEHNMEST -

BRARBRIN - ANEEIW AR RS
BHER - FMTEERBDOBAEEES
B o

FERANKBHEEESBERE
HYSHRATENRSERNECE
REBFWALEFE -BHEES
BREEBRAESRSERGSE D
EREEFAARBTELEEE
BEMNBHNRREAEEERS
BEHEAEELERBE AR K
B HEM 25 o RNEE202836F12 A
JIAEFE ERmaegtx e
AAREERTIEBEHEESER
1 A B 409,596,000 7T (2022 4F = A
R #236,839,0007T) °

e

The financial guarantee contracts represent guarantees given to
banks and other financial institutions in connection with
borrowings made to the Group’s joint ventures and associates,
details of which are set out in note 37.

The Group does not provide financial guarantees except for
limited circumstances. All guarantees are approved by the
directors of the Group.

The financial guarantee contracts are measured at the higher of
the ECL allowance and the amount initially recognised less the
cumulative amount of income recognised. The ECL allowance is
measured by estimating the cash shortfalls, which are based on
the expected payments to reimburse the holders (i.e., the
banks) for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the
Group expects to receive from the debtor (i.e., the joint ventures
and associates). During the year ended 31 December 2023, an
ECL allowance of RMB409,596,000 was provided as a result of
guarantees provided to the joint ventures and associates (2022:
RMB236,839,000).
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1. BERE 31. SENIOR NOTES

2023 F 2022 F
2023 2022
MR AR®TxR IHE ARBTR

Maturity ~ RMB’000 Maturity ~ RMB'000
I —

Ro022%E5 AEIER 8 5% B L ER Senior notes due May 2022-8.5% BREX 114,407 S 112,499
On demand On demand

7202257 B EIEIM0.50% B L 215 Senior notes due Jul 2022-9.50% REXR 89,058 BREK 87,573
On demand On demand

R2023F 4 A HM12.00%E £ 21 Senior notes due Apr 2023-12.00% RER 1,416,540  2023/4/17 1,417,154
On demand

R2023F 4 A5 B8 T5%BEEE Senior notes due Apr 2023-8.75% RER 1,588,115  2023/4/15 1,584,408
On demand

202312 A5 B #99.75% B L Z % Senior notes due Dec 2023-9.75% RER 3,356,126 2023/12/31 3,300,165
On demand

B Total 6,564,246 6,501,799

W EVERER Less: Current portion (6,564,246) (6,501,799)

eI R Non-current portion - _

202



| ZHONGLANGHOLDINGS GROUP COMPANY LIMITED ANNUALREPORTZ023
A5 R EE

Notes to Financial Statements
2023412 A 31 H 31 December 2023

31. EEEE @ 31. SENIOR NOTES (continued)

2023 F 2022 £
2023 2022
AR¥BTR ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000

AEBEEEENELERENOT

The Group’s senior notes were
repayable as follows:

AR —FRNRILZEKEE Repayable within one year or on
demand 6,564,246 6,501,799
HARE _FEE Repayable in the second year = —
6,564,246 6,501,799

A 20224 5 8 (8.5%) - 2022 57 A
(9.5%) + 202344 A (12.0%) * 2023 F
4 A (8.75%) & 2023 F 12 A (9.75%) &
HREBELEEB(HEEXERED

R2023F12 A31H » &A@l K 8E
202245 A 5| i ;98.5% 18 % 2 1%
A& K HF| B 42%816,837,000% JT
BRRENSEMH-

PR 2023F12 A31 H » &N A &) Kk &
12022F 7 A E| B 199.5% 18 5t T #&
A& K EF| B 4%813,171,000% 7T
BRENSEMH-

MR2023F 12 A31H » " AT kEEXL
1202354 A ) Bl /912.0% & £ =
B AR e & E A B 48 % 224,000,000 %
T BRENSEMH -

PR2023F12 A31H » "R Al KREEX
2023F 4 A E| 8 ;98.75% 18 %t &
BAR S & EF B 4R2%8242,046,000 %
T ERRENSEMH -

e

Senior notes due May 2022 (8.5%), July 2022 (9.5%), April
2023 (12.0%), April 2023 (8.75%) and December 2023 (9.75%)
(“Existing Senior Notes”)

As at 31 December 2023, the Company did not pay the
principal of and interest on the 8.5% senior notes due May
2022 amounting to an aggregate of US$16,837,000, which
constituted an event of default.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company did not pay the
principal of and interest on the 9.5% senior notes due July 2022
amounting to an aggregate of US$13,171,000, which
constituted an event of default.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company did not pay the
principal of and interest on the 12.0% senior notes due April
2023 amounting to an aggregate of US$224,000,000, which
constituted an event of default.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company did not pay the
principal of and interest on the 8.75% senior notes due April
2023 amounting to an aggregate of US$242,046,000, which
constituted an event of default.
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31. BEEB @

A 2022 %5 H (8.5%) - 2022 £ 7 B
(9.5%) * 2023 F 4 A (12.0%) * 2023 F
4 F (8.75%) % 2023 &£ 12 A (9.75%) &l
HNWELXAEB(HREELXEE]D (&)

R2023F12 A31H » &N A Al & ¢

F2023F 12 A E| H /99.75%1& &£ £
B AR K EF B 4 %548,539,000 %

T BRGEHEM

mm@%%ﬁm%$%@%%m
NFEWLTEKR BE I R2023F K
2022F 12 A31H » REBRFKR LK

A HEITIER ©

R2023%F7 A16H » AR A §tEFE I
BEEEMT —BEird BEELE
BRETHMBEINMER - R2024F
3A20H - BEFAFRMEA K
e EM - ZE R EREAR
A B EE - BN202493A20R - A
BEZEWEE S EEKEH
BT B ERI R - FTal AR (&
S ELEEBRC B EKRELT
WAER - FELEZERBE —H#E
AEE HERS&S AT HEEEL2024
F1A1BAL2EHEHE HE
RATETEERAEREERIFS
8l EHREEARSTENING
nEEZE2023F12A31 B % E 5t
EEBWR B B RARMTFERE
EHEH2024F1B1BTEMNH
BB ESAEESNBEINFEL
EBEeBEceE HERB BT

MFELERENG0% -

5T B 15 #E A AT 38 12 UER (E 0] B 51 /Y
FEAZEBRHAIBRRESIERAE
ZENERE BEXAAFHET
MFABRBRESFNASRBEIGE
B1A0BEEET - FELZENEH
HAB2024F1 818 #5355 A
B E2024F1 A1 B %1218 A 45 R AE
FIA 25t W H2024F1 A1HER
NREAR BEXEFHFIEBLEEX
EEASBIMN—XKAME  FF X

535% °
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31. SENIOR NOTES (Continued)

Senior notes due May 2022 (8.5%), July 2022 (9.5%), April
2023 (12.0%), April 2023 (8.75%) and December 2023 (9.75%)
(“Existing Senior Notes”) (continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the Company did not pay the
principal of and interest on the 9.75% senior notes due
December 2023 amounting to an aggregate of
US$548,539,000, which constituted an event of default.

The fair values of the early redemption options of the senior
notes were not significant and therefore were not recognised by
the Group on inception as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

On 16 July 2023, the Company announced a scheme for its
offshore debts including senior notes and certain other offshore
debts. The scheme came into effect on 20 March 2024 with all
conditions satisfied under the holistic solution. The scheme
offered that on the restructuring effective date, which is 20
March 2024, Existing Senior Notes were cancelled and all
guarantees in connection with the scheme debts were released.
New convertible bonds and new senior notes were issued and
became effective in accordance with their terms. The new
senior notes shall comprise one tranche of senior notes with an
aggregate maximum original principal amount calculated to the
reference date of 1 January 2024, which is equal to 99% of the
outstanding principal amount of the scheme debts held by all
scheme creditors as of the record time, plus all accrued and
unpaid interest on such scheme debts up to 31 December
2023, minus the principal amount of the new convertible bonds
calculated by reference to the reference date of 1 January
2024, plus the additional new senior notes amount, which is
equivalent to 6.0% of the new senior notes to be issued.

The scheme creditors may elect any proportion of the new
senior notes and the new convertible bonds to be received as
their respective scheme consideration, but the total principal
amount of the new convertible bonds to be issued by the
Company cannot exceed US$140 million. The new senior notes
have a maturity date faling 3.5 years from 1 January 2024.
Interest shall start to accrue on and from the end of 12 months
after 1 January 2024, and interest is payable semi-annually in
arrears on the outstanding principal amount of the new senior
notes at 5% per annum, commencing on the date which is 12
months after 1 January 2024.
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32. SHARE CAPITAL
;&) Shares
2023 £ 2022 4
12A31H 12 A31H
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
BT BT
HK$ HK$
BEBITERAC: Issued and fully paid:
3,581,791,500 J& 3,581,791,500
(20224 : 3,581,791,500 %) (2022: 3,581,791,500) ordinary
B EE0.0178 7T (20224 : shares of HK$0.01 each
FREEEOC.01HE L) /XL @Ak (2022: HK$0.01 each) 35,817,915 35,817,915
BERARETIT Equivalent to RMB’000 31,450 31,450

33. BRESTEIRR O HBEE

AR A—HBEREE(ZAT
g - EEARET2HEREKS
AR BVERGEE & W E) %
T2EEEARARG RKREMNEE
FEEHE N BAARARERK
MEBE - ZTEFEARRE T MR
B BE REETR2HEEILT
HEME - wE R HEF - &t &
HR2019F7 A16B A% It B % 3
KEBTHHENER GRIZTEE
REZBRERFT+TFEFR—EBER -

BEZTEEMEERTEORT
FHERESROBROEBEERS A
353,000,0000% * {5 ZBE & Bk 8 & 5%
K1 2019F 7 A 8 A B BT H
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE
INCENTIVE SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
for the purpose of providing selected participants with the
opportunity to acquire propriety interests in the Company and
to encourage selected participants to work towards enhancing
the value of the Company and its shares for the benefit of the
Company and its shareholders as a whole. The Scheme
provides the Company with a flexible means of retaining,
incentivising, rewarding, remunerating, compensating and/or
providing benefits to selected participants. The Scheme
became effective on 16 July 2019 and, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from
that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently
permitted to be granted under the Scheme is 353,000,000
shares, representing 9.9% shares in issue immediately upon
completion of the Global Offering in July and August 2019. The
exercise price of the share options under the Scheme is
HK$5.83.
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE
INCENTIVE SCHEME (Continued)

The share option vesting schedules are:

HER S K
BSESHL
Maximum percentage
of underlying shares

AEEERB 2 BHEBRENRE

Vesting date in respect of the option may be

=t vested
20217 A7 H 7 July 2021 10%
2022%7 A7 H 7 July 2022 20%
2023F7 A7H 7 July 2023 20%
20247 A7H 7 July 2024 20%
2025%7 A7H 7 July 2025 30%
TR ZeTEET TR E The following share options were outstanding under the

RITEE - Scheme during the year:
2023 F
2023
hnREF
TEE BREHE
Weighted average Number of options
exercise price
sRET T4
HK$ per share ’000
R1A1HE At 1 January 5.83 24,500
FAKE Granted during the year — —
FREM Lapsed during the year - (9,300)
m12A31H At 31 December 5.83 15,200
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE
INCENTIVE SCHEME (Continued)

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options

FEENTHEENOT outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
2023 F 2023
BREZE TEE THEH
Number of options Exercise price Exercise period
T % SRET
’000 HKS$ per share
1,520 5.83 2021 7 H7HZ2030F7H6H
7 July 2021 to 6 July 2030
3,040 5.83 2022F7H7HZE2030F7 A6 H
7 July 2022 to 6 July 2030
3,040 5.83 20237 H7HZE2030F7H6H
7 July 2023 to 6 July 2030
3,040 5.83 2024%7 B 7H Z£2030F7H6H
7 July 2024 to 6 July 2030
4,560 5.83 20257 H7HZE2030F7 A6 H
7 July 2025 to 6 July 2030

ERHOUNESEENEREQF
B 2020FE7A7H A —EXE
N EE - W E BT ENK
HEAEE TREHNTAEXNE
ABE -

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted was
estimated as at 7 July 2020 using a binomial model taking into
account the terms and conditions upon which the options were
granted. The following table lists the inputs to the model used:

1% B K 5 (%) Dividend vield (%) 9.05
8 B R 1@ (%) Expected volatility (%) 37.37
2 2 b 7 & (%) Risk-free interest rate (%) 0.43
MEFEHRE(FERBET) Weighted average share price (HK$ per share) 5.83

207



FREREERR AT 2023F FH

A I R EE

Notes to Financial Statements
2023412 A 31 H 31 December 2023

3. BRESERKROABS

(%)

BRERAFHDERTEREE
AURBRATREHAMITHERA - 18
HI R 8 S BR B 3R B R AR M R R B9 8

g TRLHKKRERER -

AEATERBYESRARLOE

A8 A ) LA R A

RBERER ARAIREZE %
24,500,000 17 (A AR 1715 B I i - 1B
BARABIERMEARARE K176
BRREEERHTEBER AR A
7 %8 91 24,500,000 f% & &8 % & ¥ 1%
% 7 A B #£ 24,500,000 7T (A 0 Bk 2%

TEM) -

RZEHBRREMEZH  AQ
A 1B 4% 3% 51 2l % A 24,500,00015% 15
RITHEBRE GARRRZAE

BT A0.7% -

1R 42 3 B =T &

KAGBEZRAE—BRG BB 8 ([
B ET &) - & EH 81 R 2021 12
ABTHEAAARBRERNEBRZEER
e BRIESITHBEHER T A
RSB E 8 B R A R0
FHREBAEIREW - AstElmAE
EME: ((RAAEERREERS
BERER (B FEHETEBFSELH
ERERAAEBRNEECERER
MR SR BB A B E - K
ABASEMNE —TERRSIITEE

BT e
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE

INCENTIVE SCHEME (Continued)

The expected life of the options is based on the benchmark of
the industry and is not necessarily indicative of the exercise
patterns that may occur. The expected volatility reflects the
assumptions management made and is indicative of future
trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into
the measurement of fair value.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had
24,500,000 share options outstanding under the Scheme. The
exercise in full of the outstanding share options would, under
the present capital structure of the Company, result in the issue
of 24,500,000 additional ordinary shares of the Company and
additional share capital of RMB 24,500,000 (before issue
expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the
Company had 24,500,000 share options outstanding under the
Scheme, which represented approximately 0.7% of the
Company’s shares in issue as at that date.

Share Incentive Scheme

The Company operates a share incentive scheme (the “Share
Incentive Scheme”) which was adopted by an ordinary
resolution of the shareholders of the Company on 31 December
2021. Unless otherwise cancelled or amended, the Share
Incentive Scheme will remain valid and effective for 10 years
from the date of adoption. The specific objectives of the scheme
are () to promote the long-term sustained growth in the
shareholder value of the Group; (i) to recognise the
contributions by certain outstanding employees and to provide
them with incentives in order to retain them for the continual
operation and development of the Group; and (i) to attract
outstanding talents in the industry for further development of the
Group.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE
INCENTIVE SCHEME (Continued)

Share Incentive Scheme (Continued)

Mr. Yang Jian (“Mr. Yang”), the executive director and
controlling shareholder of the Company, has transferred the
entire interest in Liangyi International Company Limited, which
in turn directly holds 89,121,090 shares, representing
approximately 2.49% of the total number of issued shares by
way of gift to the trustee. The Share Incentive Scheme is
operated by an independent trustee which holds the shares in
trust for the selected participants, until the shares become
vested. The shares granted will be vested in the proportions
and on the dates as set out in the relevant letters of grant
issued by the Company. Vested shares will be transferred to the
selected participants at no cost save that transaction fees and
expenses will be payable by the selected participants as
transferees.

As at 31 December 2023, the number of the Company’s shares
held under the Share Incentive Scheme account was
89,121,090. None of the shares has been awarded under the
Share Incentive Scheme.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the year ended 31 December 2023 are presented in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

(@) Share premium

The share premium represents the difference between the
par value of the shares issued and the consideration
received.

(b) Merger reserve

The merger reserve of the Group represents the issued
capital of the then holding company of the companies
now comprising the Group and the capital contributions
from the equity holders of certain subsidiaries now
comprising the Group before the completion of the
reorganisation.
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34. RESERVES (Continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Statutory surplus reserve

In accordance with the PRC Company Law and the
articles of association of the subsidiaries established in the
PRC, the Group is required to appropriate 10% of its net
profits after tax, as determined under PRC GAAP, to the
statutory surplus reserve until the reserve balance reaches
50% of its registered capital. Subject to certain restrictions
set out in the relevant PRC regulations and in the articles
of association of the Group, the statutory surplus reserve
may be used either to offset losses, or to be converted to
increase share capital provided that the balance after such
conversion is not less than 25% of the registered capital
of the Group. The reserve cannot be used for purposes
other than those for which it is created and is not
distributable as cash dividends.

Capital reserve

Capital reserve mainly represents the difference between
the cost of acquisition and the non-controlling interests
acquired in the case of acquisition of additional non-
controlling interests of subsidiaries, or the difference
between the proceeds from disposal and the non-
controlling interests disposed of in the case of disposal of
partial equity interests in subsidiaries to non-controlling
shareholders without loss of control. Details of the
movements in the capital reserve are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Exchange fluctuation reserve

The exchange fluctuation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of group entities. The reserve is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policy set out in
note 2.4.
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35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a)

Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of RMB3,304,000
(2022: RMB6,009,000) and RMB3,304,000 (2022:
RMB6,009,000), respectively, in respect of lease
arrangements for buildings and offices.

In previous years, the Company and an independent third
party established non-wholly-owned subsidiaries
respectively, in which the independent third party and the
Company held minority equity interests. During the year
ended 31 December 2023, these subsidiary companies
were deregistered, and both the Company and the
independent third party exited investments in these
entities, with mutual exemption of funds of
RMB1,225,000,000.

MEEBHEENEEEH (b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities
FRBEATR ENEYE SERRES MEZHEL
HittfE R DRKE ERE BERE HEAH EfFE waReE
Interest-
bearing bank Proceeds from Total liabilities
and other Due to related asset-backed Senior Lease Interest  from financing
borrowings companies securities notes liabilities payable activities
ARETT ARETT AREBTR ARSTn ARETT ARETT ARET:R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
R2022F1 A1R At 1 January 2022 31,681,522 18,996,008 318,641 8,181,287 82,706 171,234 59,431,398
REBEREEEM Changes from financing cash
25 flow (11,452,533) (2,174,190) (320,000) (2,166,242) (45,250) (2,152,378)  (18,310,593)
HHE New leases — — — - 6,009 — 6,009
FEEX Interest expense - - - - 2,302 1,807,885 1,810,187
R DR Increase arising from due to
HESEALE related companies classified
BeREmEM as operating cash flows - (168,069) - - - - (168,069)
HHENEATM  Decrease arising from disposal
PR of subsidiaries (120,800) - - - (291) — (121,091)
At FREEH Other non-cash movements 125,164 - 1,359 486,754 - 353,531 966,808
W2022%12A318 At 31 December 2022 20,233,353 16,653,749 - 6,501,799 45,476 180,272 43,614,649

N2023%F1 A1H At 1 January 2023 20,233,353 16,653,749 - 6,501,799 45,476 180,272 43,614,649
MEBREMEE LM Changes from financing cash

2 flow (5,053,653) (2,020,212) - - (45,325) (299,979) (7,419,169)
HHE New leases - - - - 3,304 - 3,304
FERX Interest expense - - - 425,880 673 1,011,022 1,437,575
REEMBAEM  Decrease arising from disposal

Vo of subsidiaries (607,800) - - - - - (607,800)
HtEREED Other non-cash movements 29,702 - - (363,433) - 480,763 147,032
R2023%F12A31H At 31 December 2023 14,601,602 14,633,537 = 6,564,246 4,128 1,372,078 37,175,591
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35. ZEBERERMETE @ 35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
b) MEFTBELNEEZ S (E) (b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities
(Continued)
SFABEESRERNTEERES R The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement
HERmEmT of cash flows is as follows:
2023 % 20224
2023 2022
AR¥T T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
REEEEHA Within operating activities 5,064
REEEESHRN Within financing activities 45,250
et Total 51,214
36. HEME QT 36. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
HZEZ2023FE12H31HILEE For the year ended 31 December 2023
AEERHEN FEEREER HmRE

aF 11 it B BENER BEHEZ AR¥TR
Equity interest Equity interest

held by the held by the Total
Place of Group before Group after  consideration
WEBARRE Name of subsidiary registration disposal disposal RMB’000

212



| ZHONGLANGHOLDINGS GROUP COMPANY LIMITED ANNUALREPORTZ023
R 35 ER | B o

Notes to Financial Statements
2023412 A 31 H 31 December 2023

36. HEME QT @ 36. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
BZE2022F 12831 HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2022
AEBRLER AEERLER BRE

o 11 3 2 HENER HENER ARBFT
Equity interest Equity interest

held by the held by the Total
Place of Group before Group after consideration
NN Name of subsidiary registration disposal disposal RMB’000
MBARZBEEXARANA Nantong Liangxu Real Estate & 40.00% 3 163,090
Development Co., Ltd. PRC Nil
FIERBEMERZAR  Chifeng Liangbo Real Estate w 48.33% = 48,038
NG| Development Co., Ltd. PRC Nil
BMAREMERMZEAR  Cangzhou Liangyue Real Estate 3 70.00% & 41,846
NG| Development Co., Ltd. PRC Nil
MINBREZEBRARA Hangzhou Runyue Real Estate H 48.74% ::4 49,030
Co., Ltd. PRC Nil
KEZESEMERRZAR  Tanjin Liangding Real Estate ] 70.00% i 50,910
NG Development Co., Ltd. PRC Nil
EMBRANM¥EIEAMHAR Wuhu Huliang Enterprise Management Hh 51.00% 49.00% 4
NS Consulting Co., Ltd. PRC Nil
BEMPEEX¥AMRAT  Lanxi Zhonglianglong Real Estate Co., h 20.40% " 30,600
Ltd. Co., Ltd. PRC Nil
iR B AR BEMAERZ Ningyuan Daliang Liqun Real Estate s 39.00% 1 29,078
BRAA Co., Ltd. PRC Nil
BRAREEBRAA Ningbo Lianghe Real Estate Co., Ltd. H 65.03% Eid 6,503
PRC Nil
BEBRREEBRAA Weihai Liangding Real Estate Co., Ltd. th 100% 51% 78,400
(TEBRES]) (1) (“Weihai Liangding”) (Note 1) PRC
M RIBBSRSNEBERMA BB Note 1: Pursuant to the articles of association of Weihai Liangding, all
PRENFAAEARTAZRALETRR shareholders’ resolutions of Weihai Liangding shall be resolved by both
—HER ERZBETE BHEREA shareholders on a unanimous basis. In light of this requirement, Weihai
RIVAEAEBENEGENE BEAE Liangding is accounted for as a joint venture of the Group
B E51%MKE - notwithstanding that the Group held a 51% equity interest.
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36. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

The carrying values of the assets and liabilities on the dates of

disposal were as follows:

2023 F 2022 fF
2023 2022
ARETRT AREBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000

HETIEBENEEFE:

Y% - RS MR (M E13)

Net assets disposed of:

Property, plant and equipment

-

(note 13) 100 253
EERIEE E (M 5E19) Deferred tax assets (note 19) 50,034 44,745
FRAEEE (KE16) Right of use assets (note 16) = 366
EEwE (M sE21) Properties under development
(note 21) 1,793,982 2,803,268
HEXEND T IYWE (MsF22) Completed properties held for sale
(note 22) 263,672 111,660
Ay W Bl 74 18 Tax recoverable 83,978 93,866
RekREEFEEY Cash and cash equivalents 228,263 263,469
2R HIIR & Restricted cash - 404,394
T8 45 5RO K H At R W ZOE Prepayments and other receivables 833,490 2,308,811
REZBLENKRE Investments in joint ventures — 58,133
g S ENRIERENZEE Trade and bills payables (291,961) (276,921)
ERNEaE Contract liabilities (1,166,785) (2,120,397)
FFERITRAEMER Interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings (607,800) (120,800)
& S 77 18 Tax payable (52,551) (51,059)
HESE(MFE16) Lease liability (note 16) — (291)
EERIBBE(HFE19) Deferred tax liabilities (note 19) - 92)
HEMEMNRIERETER Other payables and accruals (781,897) (3,018,929)
FE 2 AR #E 2 Non-controlling interests (116,458) (222,427)
NEE Subtotal 236,067 278,049
HRERBEIBRRBE R Transferred to interests held and
e FERER classified as associates and joint
ventures 14,138 (61,118)
HEWB AR (BB s (Loss)/gain on disposal of
subsidiaries (123,680) 280,564
wRE Total consideration 126,525 497,495
A5 75 K E R Satisfied by
it Cash 126,525 446,585
H b JE W 5K IE Other receivables - 50,910
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DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

An analysis of the net (outflow)/inflow of cash and cash
equivalents in respect of the disposal of the subsidiaries is as
follows:

2023 2022

2023 2022

AR®ET R AR®ET T

RMB’000 RMB’000

HeERE Cash consideration 126,525 446,585

HECIHSRIBSZEY Cash and cash equivalents disposed of (228,263) (263,469)
REEMBRARRE R Net (outflow)/inflow of cash and cash

HeEBWORLE), 7 AEE  equivalents in respect of the disposal
of subsidiaries (101,738) 183,116

ARREBEEZRRLEMELENN
BABYAEEMEABEKX
=il e /NI D n e == = OR (]
MBEMALRKE -

37. ¥BERRIAER

RBEMR - BBEERET

37.

e

The directors of the Company consider that not all subsidiaries
disposed of were significant to the Group and thus the individual
financial information of some subsidiaries on the disposal date
was not disclosed.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

At the end of the reporting period, financial guarantees were as
follows:

2023 F 2022 F
2023 2022
k=4 AR T ARETFTT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
-
FIF T ALEEY ¥ B XA [ Guarantees given to banks in
BEmRITRHEMER connection with facilities
granted to purchasers of
the Group’s properties (1) 17,391,952 32,608,409
IR T AL E NE 2 Q7 Guarantees given to banks in
b E MR TTIRMLAIE(R  connection with facilities
granted to joint ventures
and associates 2 6,352,211 7,152,062

e
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37. WBERREIAEE @)
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(1)

AEBEGRETRITOAEERE
EMEERRONKRIBHME
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FoMBERERRBEMAR K
SEAERZFRTEREEN
BEXMBRNREREEAS
B[R A A A B R TR o

RELAZY HENED K
HYZERTIE/RIBERN
@ Wz FERIERKES
B ZEZRTAREEEH
EEFER IS BBAFM
BHREMYE -

AEENERPHERDERR
BEFHHEEERERYE
REHELREZLIL BH
FR-RENERXZXEREY
ERWFFERFARG -

RER REBEIL RHAAE
BRIFHENEZIMEER
BRhmRBmERH"EREL
FAEREX - ARABEER
AMEBEZONR HEYE
W R IR FE R AEEKRE
B R I1BE FOE R E A & A
B R B AR B SR AR ET IR
T

37. FINANCIAL GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES (Continued)

1

The Group provided guarantees in respect of mortgage
facilities granted by certain banks to the purchasers of the
Group’s properties under development. Pursuant to the
terms of the guarantee arrangements, in the case of
default on mortgage payments by the purchasers, the
Group is responsible for repaying the outstanding
mortgage principals together with any accrued interest
and penalties owed by the defaulted purchasers to those
banks.

Under the above arrangement, the related properties were
pledged to the banks as collateral for the mortgage loans,
upon default on mortgage repayments by these
purchasers, the banks are entitled to take over the legal
titles and will realise the pledged properties through open
auction.

The Group’s guarantee period starts from the dates of
grant of the relevant mortgage loans and ends upon the
issuance and registration of property ownership
certificates to the purchasers, which will generally be
available within half a year to two years after the
purchasers take possession of the relevant properties.

The Group did not incur any material losses during the
year in respect of the guarantees provided for mortgage
facilities granted to purchasers of the Group’s completed
properties held for sale. The directors of the Company
considered that in the case of default on payments, the
net realisable value of the related properties would be
sufficient to repay the outstanding mortgage loans
together with any accrued interest and penalty, and
therefore no provision has been made in connection with
the guarantees.
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37. FINANCIAL GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES (Continued)

@

The Group provided guarantees to banks and other
institutions in connection with borrowings made to joint
ventures and associates. As of 31 December 2023, an
allowance of RMB409,596,000 (2022: RMB236,839,000)
was provided for as a result of the guarantees provided to
the related companies.

In addition to the litigations commenced by banks and
other financial institutions against subsidiaries of the
Group as disclosed in note 29, there were outstanding
litigations commenced by several constructors against
certain subsidiaries of the Group claiming construction
fees. Based on the advice of the Group’s in-house legal
counsel, the directors of the Company have estimated
that the Group will likely be liable to pay the construction,
which had been provided and included in “trade and bill
payables” as at 31 December 2023 and 2022. In the
opinion of the Company’s directors, no further provision
for litigation was required to be made for the years ended
31 December 2023 and 2022.

Except as disclosed above, during the year and up to 31
December 2023, the Group was not involved in any other
material litigation, arbitration or administrative proceedings,
claims or disputes. As far as the Company’s directors
were aware, the Group had no other material litigation or
claim which was pending or threatened against the Group.
As at 31 December 2023, the Group was the defendant
of certain non-material litigations, and also a party to
certain litigations arising from the ordinary course of
business of the Group. The likely outcome of these
contingent liabilities, litigations or other legal proceedings
cannot be ascertained with reasonable certainty at
present, but the Company’s directors believes that any
possible legal liability which may be incurred from the
aforesaid cases will not have any material impact on the
financial position or results of the Group.
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38. &I

RBERAR AEEEBUATAD

38. COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following contractual commitments at the

HE end of the reporting period:
2023 F 2022 F
2023 2022
ARET T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000

BRI AE i AR - Contracted, but not provided for:

MEREED Property development activities 17,091,775 24,422,191
U B% + b {55 FH 4 Acquisition of land use rights 1,215,155 1,515,284
st Total 18,306,930 25,937,475

AN AEERAEREREHRAT
EEREASEEAEMBALELE
HFE L e EYE) B A LR

e

In addition, the Group had the following commitments provided
to joint ventures (including the Group’s share of commitments
made jointly with other joint venturers), which are not included in

i the above:
2023 % 2022 4F
2023 2022
AR®ET R AREF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
A& Capital contributions 1,055,741 1,218,699
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3. EBEBARS 39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
1) EXEBLIRS (1) Significant related party transactions
BRI EVBEREBITHLAHT In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these
S0 RERAEEHEBE A financial statements, the Group had the following
EITATRS : transactions with related parties during the year:
2023 2022 F
2023 2022
ARBET R ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
Bl NS T Advances to related companies:
AETEREEZERA Joint ventures and associates 2,168,521 8,184,912
RERERRRIZES D Companies controlled by the
ultimate controlling shareholders 5,250 21,194
BEERBE AT Repayment of advances to related
companies:
S E R E AT Joint ventures and associates 4,328,033 7,301,630
2B WA IR AR B AT I Y A A Companies controlled by the
ultimate controlling shareholders 4,519 1,910
DYELCENGIE-E /O Advances from related companies:
BEDEREERA Joint ventures and associates 1,648,982 5,229,839
R EER R R A Companies controlled by the
ultimate controlling shareholders 20,991 51,240
EBENRE BB ARER Repayment of advances from related
companies:
BEDLERBEERA Joint ventures and associates 3,684,664 7,211,588
REREERBRREZEGHQ Companies controlled by the
ultimate controlling shareholders 5,521 203,829
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39.

220

BEAERS @ 39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
1) EXBEBEIRSE @& (1) Significant related party transactions (Continued)
2023 F 2022 FF
2023 2022
AR®ET R ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AL ENBE NATIRMEEIE  Management consulting services to
5 3 AR 7% (BT 5%) joint ventures and associates (Note) - 90,597
RIS IR R P A Y N AR Property management services from
W) %5 1 AR 7% (B FE) companies controlled by the
ultimate controlling shareholders*
(Note) - 45,414
SEREPEIRR RGN A R Sales agency services and other
HE NIRRT &AM Al E RG> ancillary services from companies
(B ) controlled by the ultimate
controlling shareholders* (Note) - 6,770
.
M ZEXSNHREEABITIOFEEHE Note: These transactions were carried out in accordance with the terms and

(2

B 6 TR I IR HETT

MBI ERNEERS
UHEHERF(EER EMMHEAE
14AE) ©

HEBINEMERS
M2023F12A31H K £

EEARTHAE X KB
BERAMNeBEREZARARE
6,352,211,000 7t (2022 F£ 12 A
31H : AR#7,152,062,0007T)
M HE T IRIT RE A IR M
BiR -

conditions mutually agreed by the parties incurred.

* The related party transactions above also constitute connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

2

Other transactions with related parties

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has guaranteed
certain of the bank and other borrowings made to its joint
ventures and associates up to RMB6,352,211,000 (31
December 2022: RMB7,152,062,000).
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39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(3) EERE A M RBHELER (3) Outstanding balances with related parties
2023 F 2022 F
2023 2022
AR®BTR ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
& 1‘JL F'%ﬂ /NCIE O Due to related companies:
RS A E/N]| Joint ventures and associates 14,592,137 16,627,819
B 2 158 AR AR SR 4% il B9 A B Companies controlled by the
ultimate controlling shareholders 41,400 25,930
48 =t Total 14,633,537 16,653,749
JRE Lt 8 B N B R Due from related companies:
aEhHE &H“ /NG| Joint ventures and associates 11,219,740 13,691,102
B AT Hxﬁx%% sG] Companies controlled by the
ultimate controlling shareholders 65,815 65,084
B ORE Less: Impairment 585,210 412,051
h Total 10,700,385 13,344,135
.
FE W AR RIBR R EREE The movements in provision for impairment of due from
ERMAT ¢ related companies are as follows:
2023 F 2022 4
2023 2022
ARBTRT AREBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
.
NG At the beginning of the year 412,051 —
DR EE S Impairment losses recognised 485,009 412,051
il 8 7Y R E B 1R Impairment losses written off (311,850) —
INGE N At the end of the year 585,210 412,051

B b BT A A B R AR . R
HERRERMEE -

AEEETEEHNEBEEXELERR
B EERI2EABEHEEEENS
AR EEEERBEERRBI R
8 WS HR2023F12 531 B HY
TEHE EEE A A R 585,210,000
JC (20224 + AR¥412,051,0007T) °

e

Balances with the above related parties were unsecured,
non-interest-bearing and repayable on demand.

The Group has evaluated the expected loss rate and
gross carrying amount, measured the impairment based
on the 12-month ECLs or lifetime ECLs according to the
credit risk, and assessed that the expected credit losses
were RMB585,210,000 as at 31 December 2023 (2022:
RMB412,051,000).
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30. BBEA RS @) 39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
4 FAEBTEEEAEHH (4) Compensation of key management personnel of the
Group
2023 F 2022 4
2023 2022
AR®ETR ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
.
EEEBRET Short-term employee benefits 12,447 14,382
B S Performance-related bonuses 1,899 —
BELEIHI Pension scheme contributions 339 336
DESEENERER Equity-settled share option expense 467 336

MEIEEBAEINOFIMEE  Total compensation paid to key
management personnel 15,152 15,054

e

EREENeNE—PHBHNY Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in note 8
TEERERMFES o to the financial statements.
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40. RERETHNEMIA 40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
RBEEHREEemTANEEE The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
N instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
2023F12H31H 31 December 2023
tREE Financial assets

8 E BAYE
BAFIRN FTARZE®N

SREE StRMEE BEt
Financial
assets at Financial
amortised assets at
cost FVTPL Total
ARBTRT AR%®TrT AR%®Tx
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

HAFEMZEREEAM  Financial assets included in
JEWRIEM S BLEE  prepayments and other

(M 5E24) receivables (note 24) 33,887,087 - 33,887,087
AT EFAEZEAR  Financial assets at fair value

2@t & E (M 5E20) through profit or loss (note 20) - 37,002 37,002
JE L2 78 Bk 2 B R IB Due from related companies

(Pt $£39) (note 39) 11,285,555 — 11,285,555
2 5 e sk 1E (ftix23) Trade receivables (note 23) 7,857 = 7,857
e RIRITHE % Cash and bank balances

(Pt 5E25) (note 25) 10,662,500 — 10,662,500
@t Total 55,842,999 37,002 55,880,001
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40. HZEHE SN ERM TR @ 40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(Continued)

2023128310 (&) 31 December 2023 (Continued)
ctHmEE Financial liabilities
R
A5 BR WY
cRAE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
AR®ETF T
RMB’000
-
EAEER (MsE31) Senior notes (note 31) 6,564,246
HMEBE(HE16) Lease liabilities (note 16) 4,128
Z G EMREREMNZE (H7E26)  Trade and bills payables (note 26) 25,614,187
FAEMEMARERESERD Financial liabilities included in other payables and
S @A & E27) accruals (note 27) 19,826,524
FE 1< B B /) 308 (BT 5E39) Due to related companies (note 39) 14,633,537
s BERIT RCH 8 3K (M9 5k 29) Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
(note 29) 14,601,602
B E IR & #0 B (B 5E30) Provision for financial guarantee contracts (note 30) 409,596
st Total 81,653,820
-
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40. HZEHE SN ERM TR @ 40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(Continued)

RBEPRRSBEeRIANEERE
wm (&)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows

2022 12A31H

(Continued):

31 December 2022

SHMEE Financial assets
12 5 fi2a/NS T[]
X R 51 BR 89 FFAE IR
TRIEE TREE @Et
Financial
assets at Financial
amortised assets at
cost FVTPL Total
AR T T ARET T AR®ET T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
SHAFEMFIERAEM  Financial assets included in
JEWHIEBH SR EZE  prepayments and other
(Mf3E24) receivables (note 24) 34,599,992 — 34,599,992
BAFEGFABRD Financial assets at fair value
© B & 2 (ft5E20) through profit or loss (note 20) — 34,266 34,266
JiE Lt /8 B B 3RIE Due from related companies
(BF3E39) (note 39) 13,756,186 — 13,756,186
2 5 fE W 718 (M 5T 23) Trade receivables (note 23) 7,751 — 7,751
IR NIRRT Cash and bank balances
(Mf3E25) (note 25) 16,585,989 — 16,585,989
HEt Total 64,949,918 34,266 64,984,184
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40. RERE ST A @ 40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(Continued)
2022128318 (&) 31 December 2022 (Continued)
cHmEE Financial liabilities
B 7R 51| B &)
tHERE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
AR®EF T
RMB’000
BEERE (M 5E31) Senior notes (note 31) 6,501,799
HE&aE(HE16) Lease liabilities (note 16) 45,476
B 5N RIE R ENZE (M 526)  Trade and bills payables (note 26) 21,019,046
FFAEMENRIBERESERD Financial liabilities included in other payables and
& /A & (M 5E27) accruals (note 27) 22,590,277
FE 1< B B ®) 38 (B 5E39) Due to related companies (note 39) 16,653,749
5T B R 1T K H 8 5K (B35 29) Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
(note 29) 20,233,353
B S PR & # B 8 (B 5E30) Provision for financial guarantee contracts (note 30) 236,839
BET Total 87,280,539
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TR IEMNMAFERZL2F{E 41. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
[E & OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
MREmEEAFEAEAENE® The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial
TEW AREBsHITEMERE instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that
EAFENT : reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:
MREE ATE
Carrying amounts Fair values
2023 F 20224 20234 20224
2023 2022 2023 2022
ARBTRT AREBFTT AR®TR AREBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
EMEE Financial assets
AT (EE AIBEE Financial assets at FVTPL
M & REE 37,002 34,266 37,002 34,266
LHWas Financial liabilities
BHREERE (H5E31) Senior notes (note 31) 6,564,246 6,501,799 566,659 2,530,612
SHERITREM  Interest-bearing bank and
& 7 (Bt 5E29) other borrowings
(note 29) 14,601,602 20,233,353 14,610,254 20,229,999
BT TS 2R A& #Y BB Provision for financial
(Bt ¥ 30) guarantee contracts
(note 30) 409,596 236,839 409,596 236,839
st Total 21,575,444 26,971,991 15,586,509 22,997,450

N

EEECHEReNESFED
EERER ZRFIBRE  BKH
6N R IR - FE AR RIE KA A
FUFENEREE BHEMNK
AN N R G AR AR KR
REFERN TR A E & E R
NAEFRIEN R FEEE R ®EEA
H T EARZEFIANIHHAR
L P -

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, pledged deposits, restricted cash, amounts
due from related companies, financial assets included in
prepayments and other receivables, trade and bills payables,
financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals and
amounts due to related companies approximate to their carrying
amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these
instruments.
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41.
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BREFRERETRR® -

TREENMBENAFEEZARA
W zRARFETRH (REHFR
HERXZHRINFEEXZSFTANS

AR -

S8R AT K A fe R 2 A R B
B ERA KRR E ERE S
BRECRBERENTARAR
A R 3 R B R 51 59 A
MIANBEHERBBAKAD R
BRTHE - ARFARBBLEED
SHEHF L AEERESFBR

B RFE-

HRBAFEFAEGENEREE
MAFE EEECDEBEMBA
ARRAERBLUGRK  EERR
RADMENTANEREHAS
AKREREETHT - RAFE
AABENEREENAFEE

DRERFEELANE=E- .

HUREMEREENATE BE
BECBBEREBEENRY DR
KB RKR S REAEFHE
BEREMNREALER -2BEE
MAFEFEIDEEAFERBRD

B = f=
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EIEoNSIE = JE N S=:E e BB
TR AAREBEEERIARY
BAENBREERF - R6IREE
BGEERNEEMBAERESTSIE
H-NERSHEH 2FHEEHK
PTEMTAEENESLIRTEE
AREENETEGARE - HEMH
SEMBREERRRLE- BFEH
FHRFEMEREREETS LM

41. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The Group’s corporate finance team headed by the Group’s is
responsible for determining the policies and procedures for the
fair value measurement of financial instruments. The corporate
finance team reports directly to the Group’s and the board of
directors. At each reporting date, the corporate finance team
analyses the movements in the values of financial instruments
and determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. The
valuation is reviewed and approved by the Group. The valuation
process and results are discussed with the board of directors
twice a year for interim and annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between wiling parties, other than in a
forced or liquidation sale.

The fair values of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
and provision for financial guarantee contracts and proceeds
from asset-backed securities have been calculated by
discounting the expected future cash flows using rates currently
available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and
remaining maturities. The fair value of proceeds from asset-
backed securities has been calculated by referring to the
quoted market price.

For the fair values of the financial assets at FVTPL, management
has estimated by discounting the expected future cash flows
using rates currently available for instruments with similar terms,
credit risk and remaining maturities. The fair value measurement
of the financial assets at FVTPL is categorised within level 3 of
the fair value hierarchy.

For the fair values of other financial liabilities, management has
estimated by discounting the expected future cash flows using
expected return rates for the underlying assets in order to
estimate the cash outflow amounts to settle the liabilities. The
fair value measurement of the financial liabilities is categorised
within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
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M. TRMIENAFERLXFE 41. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

E &% @) OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
ATEEER Fair value hierarchy

TERHPAEEEH T AN AFE The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement
FFEREAR hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:
RATEFENEE: Assets measured at fair value:

R2023F 12531 H As at 31 December 2023

ERUATERFENATE

Fair value measurement using

WER EATEHERE EXTATEE
TmIEHHRE WAE W ABIE

(5—-8) (B=8) (=8 Bt
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ARBTRT AR®BTR AR®BTR AR®BTxR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

WA TEE AE M Financial assets at FVTPL
CRMEE 37,002 - - 37,002

R2022% 12831 H As at 31 December 2022

ERUTERSRHATE
Fair value measurement using

RER EXTBE EATTERE

M5 RE AR WA BIR

(F—B) (B=@) (B=E) mEr

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable  unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ARBTT ARETT AR¥EFTT ARETR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

B AFEF ABREHE Financial assets at FVTPL

CREE 34,266 - - 34,266
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M. EMIENAFERKRZA2FE 41. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
& &% (@) OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
ANFEERE) Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

RAFEFRENERE: Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed:
R2023F 12531 H As at 31 December 2023
ERAUTERFENATE
Fair value measurement using
RNERB EBEATERE BEAFTATEE
miENHRE LN ¢ AR
(B—E) (5=8) (25=8) ot
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ARBTRT AR®BTR AR¥TR AR¥TxR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
' _____________| ]
BEERE Senior notes 566,659 - - 566,659
SHERITREME TR Interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings — 1,469,091 — 1,469,091
B ERE QB  Provision for financial
guarantee contracts — — 409,596 409,596
@t Total 566,659 1,469,091 409,596 2,445,346
. ______| ]
R2022F 12531 H As at 31 December 2022
FERATERFENRTFE
Fair value measurement using
RER BAABE EXITAHE
M5 R (E W A B R AR ‘
(F—FE) (F=F) (F=FE) T
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ARBTFT ARBTT ARBTT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
BEERE Senior notes 2,689,701 — — 2,689,701
SHERITREME R Interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings — 20,249,941 — 20,249,941
B EIRE Q%  Provision for financial
guarantee contracts — — 236,839 236,839
“act Total 2,689,701 20,249,941 236,839 23,176,481
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M. TRMIENAFERLXFE 41. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

& A& (@) OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
AFEER(E) Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
RAFERERENEREE) Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed (Continued):
LA B R 20234 k2022412 A31 H Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the
HeMmITAEFBECERTAEREH valuation of financial instruments together with a quantitative
ABEBRZERTEHRE DN sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2023 and 2022:
fEE R i EXATARERAEE BRE ATEHBAUEZHBE
Valuation Significant
technique unobservable input Range Sensitivity of fair value to the input
BRATEFABRE  WHE BEFE 20234 : 0.1667-01711  EEFEEN/ W% HBEDTFEL N/
TREE B AR#S70,0167L,/ AR #370,016 7T
Financial assets at FVTPL  Market approach Net asset value 2023: 0.1667-0.1711 1% increase/decrease in net asset value would result
in an increase/decrease in fair value by
RMB370,016/RMB370,016

2022%F : 0.1553-0.1584  EEFEBM/ MO 1%ERE R TEE N HD
AR H#342,6607T,/ AR 342,660

2022: 0.1553-0.1584 1% increase/decrease in net asset value would result
in an increase/decrease in fair value by
RMB342,660/RMB342,660

BBERENBE BHEEFBAEL WEx 20237 : 34.50%-40.00% MBI EEN/ 1% EHEATERD EMA
R#2184707T/ AR % 218,4707T
Provision for financial Expected credit loss ~ Recovery rate 2023: 34.50%-40.00% 1% increase/decrease in recovery rate would result in
guarantee contracts model a decrease/increase in fair value by RMB218,470/
RMB218,470

2022% + 34.50%-40.00% U E KA, H 1% I BUE A FER D,/ EIA
R #261,8827T,/ AR #261,88271

2022: 34.50%-40.00% 1% increase/decrease in recovery rate would result in
a decrease/increase in fair value by RMB261,882/
RMB261,882

BB % 2023% 1 145%-291%  BRREHM/ WA 1%EHE D FERD/EIA
R#11,6087L/ AR#11,681 7T

Discount rate 2023: 1.45%-2.91% 1% increase/decrease in discount rate would result in
a decrease/increase in fair value by RMB11,693/
RMB11,681

2020% 1 1.05%-332%  FAREMM/ WA 1% HE A FERD/ A
R #14,001 7/ AR #14,0837

2022: 1.06%-3.32% 1% increase/decrease in discount rate would result in
a decrease/increase in fair value by RMB14,091/
RMB14,083
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s financial instruments mainly include cash and bank
equivalents, restricted cash, pledged deposits, trade
receivables, other receivables, trade and bills payables and
other payables, which arise directly from its operations. The
Group has other financial assets and liabilities such as interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings, senior notes, financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, other financial
liabilities, amounts due to related companies and amounts due
from related companies. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, credit risk, foreign currency risk and
liquidity risk. Generally, the Group introduces conservative
strategies on its risk management. To keep the Group’s
exposure to these risks to a minimum, the Group has not used
any derivatives and other instruments for hedging purposes.
The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial
instruments for trading purposes. The board of directors
reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks
and they are summarised below:

(@) Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to risk for changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings set out in note 29. The
Group does not use derivative financial instruments to
hedge interest rate risk. The Group manages its interest
cost using variable rate bank borrowings and other
borrowings.

As at 31 December 2023, if the interest rate of bank and
other borrowings had increased/decreased by 1% and all
other variables held constant, the profit before tax of the
Group, through the impact on floating rate borrowings,
would have decreased/increased by approximately
RMB18,941,000 (2022: RMB17,563,000).
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(b)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures arise from transactions by operating units in
currencies other than the units’ functional currencies.

In addition, the Group has currency exposures from its
cash and cash equivalents, interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings and senior notes.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in
the US$, HK$ and RMB exchange rates, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (due
to changes in the fair values of monetary assets and
liabilities).

E = A1 A8
EHCTE)  EWOGRD)
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease)
(decrease) in profit
in rate before tax
% ARBFT
% RMB’000
2023 F 2023
MARBRETRE If the RMB weakens against the US$ -5% (423,146)
MARB S ETHE If the RMB strengthens against the US$ +5% 423,146
WMARELBTLERE If the RMB weakens against the HK$ -5% 529
MARE S BITLHE If the RMB strengthens against the HK$ +5% (529)
-
20224 2022
WMARBHETLRE If the RMB weakens against the US$ -5% (343,593)
MARBHETLHE If the RMB strengthens against the US$ +5% 343,593
i AR EE 5B Ty E If the RMB weakens against the HK$ -5% 182
i AR EE BB T HE If the RMB strengthens against the HK$ +5% (182)
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(c)

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances
are monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s
exposure to bad debts is not significant. For transactions
that are not denominated in the functional currency of the
relevant operating unit, the Group does not offer credit
terms without the specific approval of the Head of Credit
Control.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s
credit policy, which is mainly based on past due
information unless other information is available without
undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification
as at 31 December. The amounts presented are gross
carrying amounts for financial assets and the exposure to
credit risk for the financial guarantee contracts.



42,

MBEREREBERBEE@®

MR RMIGE
Notes to Financial Statements
2023412 A 31 H 31 December 2023

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

EERR (&) (c) Credit risk (Continued)
BRXEBEFLDRGE Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)
R2023%12 531 H As at 31 December 2023
1218 A
BHEERE 2HAENRGEERR
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
E1RER FOMEL FIRE a1t 5 % @zt
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
ARETn AR®BTn AR%®TR AR®TR AR%Tn
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

B 5 R IE Trade receivables*
SPARMREREM Financial assets included in

EhZENSREE prepayments and other

receivables

—EE™ — Normal*™*

—fEg — Doubtful**
& W B B 1 B BOE Due from related companies

— kR~ — Normal**

— R — Doulbtful*
XBRERE Restricted cash

— HARAH — Not yet past due
BEAER Pledged deposits

— mARE S — Not yet past due
RekReZFED Cash and cash equivalents

— HAREH — Not yet past due
RETHEAAR Financial guarantees

AEPENMBER provided to associates

and joint ventures

— HABH — Not yet past due

Fohy Total
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(c) FERR @) (c) Credit risk (Continued)
BREREFELKDRE Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)
R2022F12H31 H As at 31 December 2022
1218 3
EHEEER FHBEHEEBR
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
F1RE F2ME B ERYEEE KRz Bt
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
ARBFTT ARETT ARBTR ARETT AR®TR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 NI Trade receivables* - - - 7,751 7,751
AABEMNRERE M Financial assets included in
ERZENEREE prepayments and other
receivables
—EE™ — Normal™ 34,599,992 - - — 34,599,992
JiE Uk B Bt B 2B Due from related companies
—E®" — Normal** 13,444,336 - - — 13,444,336
— TR — Doubtful™ — - 311,850 — 311,850
XREIEE Restricted cash
— AR — Not yet past due 1,760,385 - - — 1,760,385
[REAERER Pledged deposits
— EARE — Not yet past due 221,878 - - - 221,878
ReRkReEED Cash and cash equivalents
— EAREH — Not yet past due 14,603,726 - - — 14,603,726
RETHERAAR Financial guarantees
BEPENUBER provided to associates
and joint ventures
— iH A&7 Hf — Not yet past due 7,152,062 - - - 7,152,062
@t Total 71,782,379 - 311,850 7,751 72,101,980
* EBEZESrERZE(KREBRY HERRS * For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified approach

e S TS S T
AR BRI 2 - (SRR B
FAES

for impairment, information based on the expected credit losses is
disclosed in note 23. There is no significant concentration of credit risk.

o B EWBEEE A R FRE RET A B 5OR -
N E b FE R B & B A E X A
rUTEEHNBRAELREEB YR
ERARBREERBRAEEN EE
BEEZEBRRIER]-BA 2REEMN
EERBEESIFER] -

The credit quality of amounts due from related companies and the
financial assets included in prepayments and other receivables is
considered to be “normal” when they are not past due and there is no
information indicating that the financial assets had a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the
financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”.
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(d) Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, proceeds
from asset-backed securities and senior notes. Cash flows
are closely monitored on an ongoing basis.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at

the end of the reporting period based on contractual
undiscounted payments, is as follows:

REX  SR3EA

Less than

3 months

32128 A
3to
12 months

1L
Over
1 year

#t
On demand Total

ARRTR ARBTR ARETR AR®TR ARETR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

202312 A 318

31 December 2023

BEEE Senior notes 6,564,246 — - - 6,564,246
ZHRENFTER Trade and bills payables
ENEE 25,614,187 = — —  25614,187
STAEMEMZKEAR  Financial liabilties
EEtBRH included in other
SREE payables and accruals - 19,826,524 = — 19,826,524
FER AR A Due to related
companies 14,633,537 - - - 14,633,537
HBERED Financial guarantee
contracts - 142,654 2,739,695 3,469,862 6,352,211
BT REMER  Interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings 4,563,930 366,064 7,161,577 3,335,446 15,427,017
HEBE Lease liabilities - 1,390 1,832 900 4,122
Bt Total 51,375,900 20,336,632 9,903,104 6,806,208 88,421,844
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42. IR REEEEREE @ 42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
(d REESER (d) Liquidity risk (Continued)
mER  LWREA  3F12MEA 1FUE @t
Less than 3to Over
On demand 3 months 12 months 1 year Total
ARETTL ARBTT ARETT ARBETT ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
2022412 318 31 December 2022
BERER Senior notes® 200,072 - 6,722,309 - 6,922,381
BHENHE Trade and bills payables
ENRE 21,019,046 - - — 21,019,046
STAEMEMNZIER  Financial liabiities
FEFTER included in other
2RAE payables and accruals — 22,590,277 - — 22,590,277
F& 1 BB 2 R 3R Due to related
companies 16,653,749 - — - 16,653,749
FHEREY Financial guarantee
contracts - 223,282 2,516,936 4,411,844 7,152,062
FEBAREMMER  Interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings 3,190,066 1,497,334 8,945,792 9,463,968 23,097,160
HEBE Lease liabilities - 4,037 20,183 25,018 49,238
o Total 41,062,933 24,314,930 18,205,220 13,900,830 97,483,913
MEEELCEZENIRERESZ If the demands of early repayment for the senior notes are
Esk - SEOMEAREXR received, the amounts categorised under “on demand”
[Bz12@ A WM& EEY & and “3 to 12 months” would become RMB6,454,791 and
BAREG 4547 TR ARE RMB467,590 respectively.
467,5907T °©
() EXERE (e) Capital management
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The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

AEEEIRE LB E L The Group manages its capital structure and makes
EENABREERERE . B4 adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
B HEEREE  KEBK conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the

G HIRN TR B EAF L
B RERREARKEITHR

Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares.
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(e)

Capital management (Continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
net debt divided by total capital plus net debt. Net debt
includes trade and bills payables, financial liabilities
included in other payables and accruals, amounts due to
related companies, provision for financial guarantee
contracts, other financial liabilities, interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings (other than convertible bonds), lease
liabilities and senior note, less cash and cash equivalents.
Capital represents equity attributable to owners of the
parent. The gearing ratio as at the end of the reporting

period was as follows:

2023 % 2022 F
12H31H 12A31H
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
ARBTR AREFTTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
.
BoRNFEREMNEE Trade and bills payables 25,614,187 21,019,046
STAHMBEMNZIELESERLS  Financial liabilities included in other
TEBAE payables and accruals 19,826,524 22,590,277
J& 1< BA Bt A B 5UIE Due to related companies 14,633,537 16,653,749
MBERG BB Provision for financial guarantee
contracts 409,596 236,839
FERITREMER Interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings 14,601,602 31,681,522
BERE Senior notes 6,564,246 6,501,799
HMERR Lease liabilities 4,128 45,476
WEERIREZEY Less: Cash and cash equivalents (7,238,809) (14,603,726)
B FE Net debt 74,415,011 84,124,982
NEEEAELES Equity attributable to owners of
the parent 6,889,458 11,111,824
ERREBFEE Capital and net debt 81,304,469 95,236,806
BRBELE Gearing ratio 91.53% 88.33%

e
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43.
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43. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Schemes for offshore debts holistic solution came into effect on
20 March 2024 with all conditions satisfied under the holistic
solution, as a result, all outstanding scheme debts including the
Company’s default senior notes with an aggregate amount of
principal and interest of RMB7,398,541,000 and other default
offshore debts with an aggregate amount of principal and
interest of RMB2,260,557,000 were cancelled. For more details,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 20
March 2024.

The winding up petition against the Company, which was filed
on 21 November 2022 by a trustee of senior notes due May
2022, was dismissed by the High Court at the hearing on 25
March 2024. For more details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 25 March 2024.
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44, 7N B B MR R &R 44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

RBEMRARBHBRRKNE

Information about the statement of financial position of the

BT Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:
2023 F 2022
2023 2022
AR®ET R AREF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
ERBEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS
YE - BB MR E Property, plant and equipment 8 15
g gl NG Investment in subsidiaries 200,523 200,523
IRBEERE Total non-current assets 200,531 200,538
RBEE CURRENT ASSETS
HaMREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 56 198
JE W B B A & 5K IR Due from subsidiaries 16,090,262 15,998,970
mEEELE Total current assets 16,090,318 15,999,168
REBAE CURRENT LIABILITIES
HEm@EMNZEREFER  Other payables and accruals 1,306,471 475,345
SERITREMER Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 1,781,299 1,751,597
JE 151 B /BB 1 &) 3B Due to subsidiaries 4,392,215 4,341,776
BhREE Senior notes 6,564,246 6,519,210
REBEEARE Total current liabilities 14,044,231 13,087,928
REBEEFE NET CURRENT ASSETS 2,046,087 2,911,240
EERERABEE TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES 2,246,618 3,111,778
BEFE Net assets 2,246,618 3,111,778
& EQUITY
AR A (P 5E32) Share capital (note 32) 31,450 31,450
& (M 5E34) Reserves (note 34) 2,215,168 3,080,328
T B R Total equity 2,246,618 3,111,778

e

241



R 5 R RO o

Notes to Financial Statements
2023412 A 31 H 31 December 2023

44, RN 7] B AR R & o\

. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (Continued)

Bt 5 Note:
RARWRBEREZNT A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:
[ B4R E BRARE BRERE RE F Fohay
Share
Share Share Capital option Retained
capital premium reserve reserve profits Total
ARETT ARETI ARBTT AR®TT ARETT ARETR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
R2022F 1 A1 B M Balance at 1 January 2022 31,450 2,672,435 200,523 22,029 814,391 3,740,828
FRNEABELBE Total comprehensive loss
for the year - - - - (1,176,643)  (1,176,643)
% B N2k Dividends and distributions - - - - 551,595 551,595
EmAEEMBREL S Equity-settled share option
arrangements - - - (4,002 - (4,002

R2022F 12 A31 8B &

Balance at 31 December 2022

2023F 1 A1 B and 1 January 2023 31,450 2,672,435 200,523 18,027 189,343 3,111,778
FRE2MERARE Total comprehensive loss
for the year - - - —  (860,494)  (860,494)
NS EENERELZE  Equity-settled share option
arrangements - - - (4,666) - (4,666)
H2023F12 A31 B 456k Balance at 31 December 2023 31,450 2,672,435 200,523 13,361 (671,151) 2,246,618

45, #t B 7 3Rk

B % = Ty N 20243 A28 A EE
Eo O R IR E T -
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45. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2024.
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BZ12A31BLEE
Year ended 31 December
2023 F 2022 fF 20214 20204 20194
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
AR¥TR ARETIT ARETE ARETT AR®TR
RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB’000

-
A Revenue 66,615,080 39,329,414 76,114,160 65,940,566 56,639,596
& AR Cost of sales (63,430,455) (35,827,719) (63,081,654) (52,087,655) (43,457,345)
E7 Gross profit 3,184,625 3,501,695 13,032,506 13,852,911 13,182,251
H b WA e W Other income and gains 95,503 362,883 959,088 918,050 233,873
HERDHEAL Selling and distribution
expenses (896,566) (1,642,922) (2,894,162) (2,254,253) (2,030,081)
THHAX Administrative expenses (1,252,796) (1,597,314) (3,534,244) (2,848,025) (2,549,711)
SHEEMEBE  Imparment losses on financial
assets (422,772) (475,073 (5,081) (5,562) (9,870)
Hth 5 &2 Other expenses (890,817)  (927,340)  (153,387)  (186,371)  (255,162)
BREWMERTE Fair value (loss)/gains on
(B#B) W= investment properties (102,575) (7,921) 96,809 88,365 49,855
B ATFEF AIEZEHR  Fair value losses on financial
tREELTE assets at fair value through
E1B profit or loss 2,736 (165,403)  (372,238) (30,929) (6,880)
B A W Finance income 69,100 246,820 371,529 408,100 515,645
EEENB N Finance costs (310,492)  (397,178)  (B47,461)  (542,494)  (466,533)
JE 4G )8 K & 18 Share of profits and losses of:
R Joint ventures 599,529 518,863 448,700 467,861 979,353
R WNE] Associates 322,625 348,130 322,062 497,169 255,371
BiATRIE,(EH])  Profit/(loss) before tax 398,100  (234,760) 7,624,121 10,364,822 9,898,111
T8 HiF X Income tax expense (3,316,886) (1,386,479) (2,868,033) (3,798,407) (3,642,203)
FE(BR)/FMB  (Loss)/profit for the year (2,918,786) (1,621,239) 4,756,088 6,566,415 6,255,908
AT AT Attributable to:
N/NGIE PN Owners of the Company (4,245,658) (1,346,384) 2,702,567 3,743,429 3,833,699
FEERR S Non-controlling interests 1,326,872 (274,855) 2,053,521 2,822,986 2,422,209

(2,918,786) (1,621,239) 4,756,088 6,566,415 6,255,908
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Five-Year Financial Summary

M12A31H
As at 31 December
2023 F 20224 2021 4 20204 20194
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
ARBTR ARBTIL ARBTI AR®TrT ARETR
RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB’000

-
BE ASSETS
FERBEE Non-current assets 23,276,188 26,082,429 28,759,218 24,082,399 14,389,227
TEEE Current assets 157,491,817 211,736,450 238,418,788 246,750,891 210,130,756
EEAE Total assets 180,768,005 237,818,879 267,178,006 270,833,290 224,519,983
EEkAE EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
e R Total equity 26,398,990 31,374,138 35,482,862 30,182,150 20,871,555
ERBAE Non-current liabilities 3,237,954 9,454,604 21,223,986 31,014,863 19,629,976
AR Current liabilities 151,131,061 196,990,137 210,471,158 209,636,277 184,018,452
BERE Total liabilities 154,369,015 206,444,741 231,695,144 240,651,140 203,648,428
EERAELEE Total equity and liabilities 180,768,005 237,818,879 267,178,006 270,833,290 224,519,983
-
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